
 
 
 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 

Constitution  
 

 
 

1 PART 1 - INTRODUCTION  1 - 10 

2 PART 2 - POWERS AND FUNCTIONS OF THE 
AUTHORITY:  

11 - 32 

3 PART 3 - BODIES OF THE COMBINED AUTHORITY 
AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS:  

33 - 34 

a THE COMBINED AUTHORITY:  35 - 42 

b STAKEHOLDER SUB-COMMITTEE:  43 - 46 

c THE METRO MAYOR:  47 - 54 

d OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  55 - 60 

e AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE:  61 - 68 

f APPOINTMENTS AND DISCIPLINARY 
COMMITTEE:  

69 - 72 

g TRANSPORT COMMITTEE:  73 - 76 

h STANDING DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS:  77 - 86 

i STRATEGIC INVESTMENT FUND (SIF):  87 - 90 

j PARTNERS AND COMPANIES:  91 - 94 

k ANNEX A - SUMMARY VOTING GUIDE:  95 - 100 

l ANNEX B - METRO MAYOR DECISION MAKING 
PRO FORMA:  

101 - 102 

m ANNEX C - STAFFING STRUCTURE:  103 - 104 

4 STANDING ORDERS AND PROCEDURES:  105 - 106 

a MEETING STANDING ORDERS:  107 - 120 

b ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE 
RULES:  

121 - 128 



c OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS:  129 - 142 

5 FINANCIAL STANDING ORDERS:  143 - 144 

a FUNDING AND BUDGET PROCEDURE RULES:  145 - 150 

b FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES:  151 - 162 

c PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT 
PROCEDURE RULES:  

163 - 182 

d LAND PROCEDURE RULES:  183 - 186 

6 CODES AND PROTOCOLS:  187 - 188 

a MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT:  189 - 208 

b OFFICERS' CODE OF CONDUCT:  209 - 220 

c MEMBERS' CODE ON PLANNING MATTERS:  221 - 230 

d PROTOCOL ON MEMBERS AND OFFICER 
RELATIONS:  

231 - 238 

e CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:  239 - 270 

f CHIEF OFFICER DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE 
AND GUIDANCE:  

271 - 274 

7 METRO MAYOR'S ALLOWANCE SCHEME:  275 - 276 
A version of the Constitution containing the changes from 2016 onwards will be 

kept in the Modern.Gov Library for reference purposes.   

 

Version  Date of update 

  

 

1 26 May 2017 – Original version Item 3 

2 20 October 2017 Item 10 

3   31 May 2018  Item 3 

4  24 May 2019 Item 5 

5 4 October 2019 Item 5 

6 1 November 2019 Item 4 

7 28 February 2020 Item 6 

8  20 March 2020 Urgent Item  

9 5 June 2020 Item 4 

10  4 June 2021 Item 3 

11 23 July 2021 Item 17 

12 24 September 2021 Item 18 

13 26 November 2021 Item 19  

14 21 January 2022 Item 17 

15 4 March 2022 Item 17 

16 29 April 2022 Items 5 and 6 

17 10 June 2022 Item 4 

18 14 October 2022 Item 6 

19 16 December 2022 Item 9 



 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 1 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This Constitution sets out how the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority operates, what powers and functions it holds, what bodies make up 
the Combined Authority and are part of it, how decisions are made and the 
procedures that are followed to ensure that it operates efficiently, effectively 
and is both transparent and accountable. 

 
1.2 The diagrams annexed to this introduction shows who the Members are and 

what bodies make up the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. 
 
1.3 The Combined Authority’s area is that covered by the Local Government areas 

of the Principal Councils of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St. Helens and 
Wirral. 

 
1.4 The Combined Authority is a local authority in its own right. It has eight 

Members, being:- 
 

- A directly elected Mayor (known as the Metro Mayor); 
- a councillor (elected Member) appointed by each of the ‘Constituent 

Councils’, being the Principal Councils for Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, 
Sefton, St. Helens and Wirral; and 

- a Member, who is non-voting, appointed by the Local Enterprise 
Partnership. 

 
1.5 The Combined Authority is subject to overview and scrutiny and also audit by 

statutory committees made up of councillors from the Constituent Councils and 
others. This means that these Councillors are not Members of the Combined 
Authority, they are referred to as non-statutory Members.  

 
1.6 The Combined Authority will also appoint Officers, to whom delegated authority 

is granted to help fulfil the Combined Authority’s functions. A small number of 
the Combined Authority’ Officers are required to be appointed by law to fulfil 
certain governance or statutory functions in relation to the Combined Authority.  

 
1.7 Merseytravel, as the Passenger Transport Executive, is a body corporate that 

holds the status of an Officer of the Combined Authority when fulfilling its 
delegated functions. 

 
2.1 Part 2 of this Constitution sets out the powers and functions that have been 

granted to the Combined Authority thus far. These are contained in the primary 
legislation, Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009, and in Orders made under that legislation.  

 
2.2 Some of the Orders made under that legislation are specific to the Liverpool 

City Region Combined Authority, setting out exactly what functions, powers 

Page 1

Item 1



and duties the Combined Authority is to hold. The Orders made in 2014 and in 
2017 are the key sources of what the Combined Authority may or, by omission, 
may not do. Other Orders are more generic and apply to all combined 
authorities, such as the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 and the 
Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 2017. 

 
2.3 The table in Part 2 lists and describes these functions. Against each there is 

also a key that explains the conditions, qualifications and provisions of note that 
apply to any particular function. For example, a function might be subject to one 
or more of the following, in that the function is: 

 held by the Combined Authority in respect of the Liverpool City Region area, 
but are also retained to be exercisable concurrently by another public body, 
such as the Constituent Councils or a Government Agency;  

 what is known as general functions only exercisable by the Metro Mayor; 
and  

 subject to a two-thirds or unanimous vote of the Constituent Councils before 
it can be implemented. See separate Voting Table in Part 3, Annex A, which 
sets out the type of voting required on a range of functions and 
responsibilities.  

 
3.1 Part 3 explains what the bodies of the Combined Authority are, how they are 

made up and how they may go about undertaking their business. Like Part 2 in 
relation to the functions themselves, this is a cornerstone document about how 
decision are made from which the following documents of the Constitution flow. 

 
3.2 Each Section explains how that body of the Combined Authority is constituted, 

what functions the body may fulfil and how the body may go about making 
decisions in exercise of responsibility for those functions.  

 
3.3 These are:- 
 

- The Combined Authority (as a meeting) 
- The Metro Mayor 
- The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
- The Audit Committee and Governance Committee  

 
3.4 This includes provisions about how these bodies may then delegate 

responsibility for their functions to others. It sets out, for example, that the 
Combined Authority may establish committees to fulfil certain functions.  

 
3.5 Schemes of Delegation are set out under Part 3  
 
3.6 The Officers of the Combined Authority are the principal recipients of delegated 

authority from the Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor. Some of these 
delegations will be transitory, contained in published decisions for a particular 
purpose at a particular time. Most, however, will be standing delegations for the 
delivery of administrative functions and will be listed here, including that of 
Merseytravel. 

 

Page 2



3.7 Certain Officers are required to be appointed and fulfil their particular statutory 
and general functions of the Combined Authority. These are: 

 
Head of Paid Service The Officer who is responsible for overall corporate 

management and operational responsibility for the 
Combined Authority, including overall management 
responsibility for all Officers. 

 
Treasurer  The Officer who is responsible for the administration 

of the Combined Authority’s financial affairs and holds 
a personal duty to report any item of unlawful 
expenditure or an unbalanced budget 

 
Monitoring Officer The Officer who is responsible for the legal affairs of 

the Combined Authority, including access to 
information and holds a personal duty for ensuring 
lawfulness and fairness of decision making. .  

 
Scrutiny Officer An Officer charged with the functions to promote the 

role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, provide 
support and guidance to its Members and support and 
guidance to the Combined Authority and Metro Mayor 
in relation to these functions. 

 
Merseytravel The Passenger Transport Executive, which is the 

executive body of the Combined Authority in relation 
to its transport functions, established for the purposes 
of Part 5 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and Part 6 of 
the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009. As a body corporate, 
Merseytravel is to be treated by the Combined 
Authority in arrangements for the discharge of 
functions as if it were an Officer of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
4.1 Part 4 is the set of Standing Orders that flow from Part 3 and govern the means 

by which the Combined Authority governs itself and makes decisions. 
 
4.2 Part 4A are the meeting Standing Orders. These are the rules outlining the law 

and practice that governs meetings of the Combined Authority, its committees 
and the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny and Audit and Governance 
Committees. This includes provisions for voting and provisions for public 
engagement in public meetings. 

 
4.3 Part 4B are rules concerning access to information and decision making. This 

Section sets out the law and rules concerning information that must be 
published before and after decisions are made by the Combined Authority. 

 
4.4 Part 4C sets out the Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Arrangements. These arrangements explain how the Combined Authority and 

Page 3



the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will ensure that the Committee has 
power: 

 
(a)  to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 

connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility 
of the Combined Authority or of the Metro Mayor when exercising 
responsibility for any general functions of the Combined Authority: 
(i) in all circumstances; and 
(ii) in respect of a decision made but not implemented (referred to as 

‘call-in’) to include the power: 
(1) to direct that a decision is not to be implemented while it is 

under review or scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; and 

(2) to recommend that the decision be reconsidered; 
 
(b)  to make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or to 

the Metro Mayor with respect to the discharge of any functions that are 
the responsibility of the Combined Authority or of the Metro Mayor when 
exercising responsibility for any general functions of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
(c)  to make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or to 

the Metro Mayor on matters that affects the Combined Authority's area or 
the inhabitants of the area. 

 
5.1 Part 5 sets out the financial rules for the Combined Authority. 
 
5.2 Part 5A sets out the legal rules concerning how the Combined Authority is 

funded, including the levy placed on the Constituent Councils and the precept 
to fund certain of the general functions exercisable by the Metro Mayor. This 
Section also sets out how the Metro Mayor’s budget is to be determined. 

 
5.3 Part 5B sets out the general financial procedure rules by which the financial 

administration of the Combined Authority is accounted for. 
 
5.4 Part 5C and Part 5D concern themselves respectively with how the Combined 

Authority deals with contracts with outside bodies and the buying and selling of 
property. 

 
6.1 Part 6 includes the various documents that set out how the Combined 

Authority, including the individual Members and Officers individually, will 
behave in relation to conducting their duties and responsibilities in respect of 
the Combined Authority. 

 
6.2 Part 6A sets out the Code of Conduct for Members, including Members of 

ordinary committees and of the Overview and Scrutiny and Audit and 
Governance Committees. Part of the Code refers to the Members’ responsibility 
to disclose certain interests on their register of interests, which can be found on 
the Combined Authority’s website, and the rest concerns the behaviours 
expected of a Member of the Combined Authority. Failure to abide by their 

Page 4



responsibilities in relation to ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’ can be a criminal 
offence, otherwise a breach of the Code is subject to investigation by the 
Monitoring Officer on a complaint and may be subject to a hearing before the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
6.3 Part 6B sets out the Officers’ Code of Conduct. This is similar to the Members 

Code, this sets out the behaviours expected of an Officer, but unlike the 
Members Code, it forms part of an Officer’s contract of employment and any 
breach is to be dealt with under those procedures and a failure to disclose 
certain statutory interests is likewise a criminal offence. 

 
6.4 Part 6C sets out guidance in relation to planning matters. 

 
6.5 Part 6D sets out guidance to both Members and Officers in governing how 

each relates to the other in day-to-day affairs. 
 
6.6 Part 6E is the Combined Authority’s Code of Corporate Governance, including 

its Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, setting out in greater detail how 
the Combined Authority intends to direct and control the mechanisms, 
processes and relations at its disposal in exercising responsibility for its powers 
and duties. 

 
7.1 Part 7 sets out how the allowances for the Metro Mayor are established and 

set.  
 
7.2 The Metro Mayor may be paid an allowance for his or her duties and 

responsibilities as Metro Mayor, but that is subject to a report produced by an 
Independent Remuneration Panel and, in any event, the Combined Authority is 
not permitted to pay an allowance in excess of the amount recommended by 
the Panel.  

 
7.3 Beyond reimbursement for travel and subsistence in accordance with the 

Combined Authority’s scheme, other Members of the Combined Authority may 
not receive any form of allowance from the Combined Authority. Instead, a 
Member might receive a special responsibility allowance under their own 
council’s scheme of allowances in respect of their duties and responsibilities 
undertaken as a Member of the Combined Authority, but that is a matter for the 
Constituent Council concerned. 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 7

http://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/Home.aspx


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Combined Authority Members 
 

Chaired by the LCR Metro Mayor 

6 other voting Members (and a substitute), one from each 
Council, and each with a portfolio of responsibility assigned 
by the Metro Mayor 

1 other Member from the Local Enterprise Partnership (and 
a substitute), who is non-voting.  

Committees of the Combined Authority 

To deliver functions of the Authority (not reserved to the Metro 

Mayor) 

May be made up of Combined Authority Members, Members 
who are members of the Councils and Non-voting members 
Co-opted for their expertise and advice 

The Metro Mayor 

To chair and lead the Combined Authority 

To deliver certain functions that are reserved to him/her 

May delegate responsibility for those functions to one another 
Combined Authority Member to carry out. 

Officers, including Merseytravel 
Holding delegated powers to deliver the 
functions and advise the Members 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
Audit and  
Governance 
Committee 

Appointments 
and 

Disciplinary 
Committee 

Transport  
Committee 

P
age 9



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport Committee  
 
Made up of Members of Constituent Councils, unconnected 
with the delivery of the Combined Authority’s functions.  
 
The Transport Committee’s role is to undertake transport 
and travel policy functions on behalf of the Combined 
Authority, together with certain delegated functions in 
relation to transport and travel, the development of funding 
proposals and oversight of Merseytravel as the Passenger 
Transport Executive and Executive Body for the Combined 
Authority  

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  
Made up of members of Constituent Councils 
unconnected with the delivery of the 
Combined Authority’s functions 
  
  
The Committee’s role is to achieve greater 
public accountability over decisions made and 
services delivered to the whole Liverpool City 
Region  

The Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Made up of: 
- members of the Combined Authority 
- members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
- appointed persons to provide external      
independence. 
 
The Committee’s role is to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by Combined Authority 
Members, including dealing with complaints about 
behaviour. 
 
The Committee’s role is to provide assurance of the 
adequacy of the Combined Authority’s risk 
management framework and control environment.  

Appointment and Disciplinary Committee 
 
Made up of Members of the Combined Authority, 
the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee 
deals with staff terms and conditions, including the 
process and procedures for the appointment and 
dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Directors 
and the Monitoring Officer and determining pay and 
grading.  
 

P
age 10



 

PART 2 
 

Powers and Functions conferred on the Combined Authority 
 

Contents 

A. Transport Functions of the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority              (Art. 6, 7 & 12, 2014 Order) 

B. Delegated Transport Functions of the Constituent Councils         (Art. 8 & 9, 2014 Order) 

C. Passenger Transport Executive             (Art. 10, 2014 Order) 

D. Other Transport functions              (Art. 11, 2014 Order) 

E. Economic Development and Regeneration Functions          (Art. 13, 2014 Order) 

F. Spatial Development Strategy             (Art. 3, 2017 Order) 

G. Planning applications of potential strategic importance          (Art. 5, 2017 Order) 

H. Housing and Regeneration functions corresponding to those of the Homes and Communities Agency   (Art. 6, 2017 Order) 

I. Housing and Regeneration Functions – Acquisition and Appropriation of Land for Planning and Public Purposes (Art. 7, 2017 Order) 

J. Housing and Regeneration Functions – Metro Mayoral Development Areas and MDC     (Art. 10, 2017 Order) 

K. Power to pay grant               (Art. 14, 2017 Order) 

L. Transport Functions – Agreements between authorities and improvement of highways     (Art. 15, 2017 Order) 

M. Transport Functions – Road Safety             (Art. 16, 2017 Order) 

N. Transport Functions – Traffic Regulation            (Art. 17, 2017 Order) 

O. General power of competence          (Art. 13, schedule 2, para 1 2014 Order) 

P. Incidental functions conferred on the Combined Authority         (Art. 14, 2014 Order) 

Q. Functions conferred on the Combined Authority by Local Government legislation 

R. Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Access to Information and Audit and Governance Committee 
S Adult Education Budget Functions          Article 3, 2018 Order  

 

P
age 11

Item
 2



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

A Transport Functions of the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority (ITA)   
 
An integrated transport authority (ITA) was the body that administers the passenger 
transport executive (PTE) and was a Combined Authority established by the Local 
Government Act 1985 whose role was amended by the Local Transport Act 2008. An 
ITA is responsible for funding the PTE and making the policies that the PTEs carry out 
on their behalf.  
 
The role and function of the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority (ITA) is now 
subsumed into the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, by way of the ITA being 
abolished and its functions (including ongoing rights and liabilities) transferred to the 
Combined Authority.  
 
The Combined Authority is now responsible for the exercise of all of the integrated 
transport authority functions, which includes: 

- Making appointments to the Board of the Passenger Transport Executive; 
- Formulating general policies with respect to the description of public passenger 

services; 
- Developing policies for the promotion and encouragement of safe, efficient and 

economic transport facilities and services to, from and within its area; 

- Instructing the Passenger Transport Executive to secure the provision of such 
public passenger transport services as it considers appropriate to secure public 
transport requirements within the area in accordance with the Combined Authority‘s 
policies; 

- Reviewing from time to time the organisation of the Passenger Transport 
Executive‘s undertaking; 

- A duty to produce Local Transport Plans; 
- The production of a Bus Strategy as part of the Local Transport Plan; 
- Having regard to the Local Transport Plan, consider the making of a Quality 

Partnership Scheme, a Quality Contracts Scheme, a Ticketing Scheme and 
establishing Travel Concession Schemes; 

- Determine what local bus information should be made available and the way it 
should be made available; 

- The delegation of any of its duties and responsibilities as appropriate and, 
conversely, the Combined Authority can undertake the duties of its committees. 

- Agreeing the annual levy on the Constituent Authorities 

 The discharge of all duties and 
responsibilities of the Integrated 
Transport Authority, which are 
provided for within the Transport Acts 
1968, 1983, 1985 and 2000, the 
Local Government Act 1972, the 
Transport & Works Act 1992 and the 
Local Transport Act 2008, together 
with: 

 

 

Articles 6, 7 
and 12, 
2014 Order 

P
age 12



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

 - Powers and duties concerning the tunnel, including the toll and related finance 
provisions, regulation, communications and works. 

 
 

 The County of Merseyside Act 1980 
(as transferred to the ITA under 
Mersey Tunnels Order 1986) and the 
Mersey Tunnels Act 2004 

 

 Section 108 and 109 impose a duty to formulate transport policies and publish 
them as a local transport plan. The policies must promote ‗safe, integrated, efficient 
and economic transport‘ and must have regard in particular to the needs of the 
elderly and people with mobility problems. Section 112 requires regard to be had to 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 

3, 

4. 

The Metro Mayor‘s general functions 
in relation to the Transport Act 2000 
Act: sections  

(a) 108 (local transport plans); 

(b) 109 (further provision about plans: 
England); and 

(c) 112 (plans and strategies: 
supplementary). 

 

 

B Delegated Transport Functions of the Constituent Councils 
 
The Combined Authority has had transferred to it, in respect of Halton Council, those 
same functions in relation to local transport plans and of local passenger transport 
services and related financial provisions (save matters relating to road user charging 
and specified bridges). 
 

 The functions of Halton Council under 
the following enactments— 

(a) Parts iv and v of the Transport 
Act 1985; and 

(b) Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000. 

Articles 8, 9 
and 12, 
2014 Order 

C Passenger Transport Executive 
 
The passenger transport executive (PTE) is made an executive body of the Combined 
Authority, in its role as the successor to the integrated transport authority and as a 
Combined Authority more generally and is to be referred to as ―Merseytravel‖. 
 
 

1. The provisions of  

(a) Part 5 of the Local Transport 
Act 2008 (Integrated Transport 
Authorities etc.); and  

(b) Part 6 of the Local Democracy, 
Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009 
(Economic Prosperity Boards and 
Combined Authorities)  

are applied to the Passenger 
Transport Executive and the 
Combined Authority 

 

Article 10, 
2014 Order 

P
age 13



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

D Other Transport functions 

 

The Combined Authority is under a duty, as traffic authority, to make reports assessing 
the levels of local road traffic and forecasting their growth. 

This function is required to be delegated to the Combined Authority by the Constituent 
Councils. In so doing, these functions are to be treated as if they were functions of the 
Combined Authority and are no longer to be exercisable by the Constituent Councils, 
either concurrently or instead of the Combined Authority, except as insofar as the 
Combined Authority sub-delegates any such functions back to a Constituent Council.). 

 

 

 

 

 

The following provisions are applied to 
the Combined Authority: 

 

(a) section 2 of the Road Traffic 
Reduction Act 1997 (duty of 
Principal Councils to make 
reports) as functions of the 
Constituent Councils delegated to 
the Combined Authority; 

Article 11, 
2014 Order 

 The Combined Authority may issue fixed penalty notices in respect of offences in 
breach of the Mersey Tunnels Byelaws (and any subsequent revision of them made 
under section 237A of the Local Government Act 1972). 

 (b) sections 237A to 237E of the 
Local Government Act 1972 
(fixed penalty notices) so far as 
those provisions relate to the 
Mersey Tunnel Byelaws 2003; 

 

 

 The Combined Authority may enter into individual agreements with local highway 
authorities. 

 

(NB It has been previously agreed that, in the event that these powers are exercised, 
the Combined Authority will, prior to such exercise, approve a Protocol regarding its 
use.) 

 

2. (c) - section 8 of the Highways Act 
1980;  

- the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984; and  

- section 49 of the New Roads and 
Street Works Act 1991  

as if the Combined Authority were 
a highway authority, a traffic 
authority and a street authority 
respectively 

 

E Economic Development and Regeneration Functions 

 

 The following provisions are applied to 
the Combined Authority:- 

Article 13, 
2014 Order 

 The Combined Authority may (either alone or jointly with any other person or body) 
encourage persons, by advertisement or otherwise, to visit their area for recreation, for 
health purposes, or to hold conferences, trade fairs and exhibitions in their area; and 
may also provide, or encourage any other person or body to provide, facilities for 

2. (a) section 144 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (power to 
encourage visitors and provide 
conference and other facilities); 

 

P
age 14



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

conferences, trade fairs and exhibitions or improve, or encourage any other person or 
body to improve, any existing facilities for those purposes. 
 

 The local authorities must ―secure that enough suitable education and training is 
provided to meet the reasonable needs‖ of persons over compulsory school age but 
under 19 and persons subject to learning difficulty assessment aged 19 or over but 
under 25, which may include provision outside the area. In fulfilling this duty the 
authorities must, amongst others, act with a view to (i) encouraging diversity in the 
education and training that is available and (ii) increasing opportunities for people to 
exercise choice. The authorities must co-operate with other authorities in performing 
the duty. The authorities must have regard to guidance on these matters issued by the 
Secretary of State. 

This includes a duty to encourage participation in education and training by persons in 
the relevant Group, and to encourage employers to participate in education or training 
provision for such persons. 

The authorities have a power to secure the provision of work experience for any person 
in their area in the relevant Group and a duty to encourage both participation in it by 
such persons and employers‘ provision of it. The authorities may also secure the 
provision of boarding accommodation (either within or outside their area) in connection 
with education or training provided by any provider, for any person who is (i) aged over 
compulsory school age, (ii) aged under 25, and (iii) subject to a learning difficulty 
assessment. 

 

2. (b) sections 15ZA, 15ZB, 15ZC, 17A 
and 18A(1)(b) and sections 514A 
and 560A of the Education Act 
1996 (duties and powers related to 
the provision of education and 
training for persons over 
compulsory school age); 

 

 The Combined Authority must prepare, and may revise, an assessment of the 
economic conditions of its area. It must consult such persons as it considers 
appropriate, including consultation with and participation of the Constituent Councils 
and to have regard to any material produced by them. It must also have regard to 
guidance from the Secretary of State as to the content and timing of assessments. 

 

2. (c) section 69 of the Local 
Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction 
Act 2009 (duty to prepare an 
assessment of economic 
conditions) 

 

 The Combined Authority shall consider housing conditions in the area and the needs of 
the area with respect to the provision of further housing accommodation 

2. (d) section 8(1) of the Housing Act 
1985 (periodical review of housing 
needs) 

(e)  

 

 

P
age 15



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

F Spatial development strategy  

 
The Combined Authority must prepare and publish a ―spatial development strategy‖. 
This must include a statement formulating the Combined Authority‘s strategy for spatial 
development in Liverpool City Region, including general policies in respect of the 
development and use of land in Liverpool City Region. It must also include statements 
dealing with the general spatial development aspects of other strategies for which the 
Combined Authority is responsible and such other policies or proposals as involve such 
considerations, whether or not they relate to the development or use of land. 
 
The strategy must deal only with matters of strategic importance to Liverpool City 
Region (whether or not they affect the whole area). It must contain such matter as is 
prescribed by regulations made under s.343 and may make different provision for 
different cases or for different parts of Liverpool City Region. Detailed provision is 
made as to public participation, involving preparation and publication of a draft, 
proposed strategy and the consideration of responses. The Combined Authority must, 
unless the Secretary of State otherwise directs, cause an examination in public to be 
held. The Combined Authority may then publish a final version, which must be in the 
form of the proposed strategy either as originally prepared or as modified to take 
account of representations made in accordance with regulations, any direction given by 
the Secretary of State under s.337(7), any report of an examination in public, or any 
other material considerations. 
 
The Combined Authority must monitor the implementation of the spatial development 
strategy, monitor the local development documents of each of the Constituent Councils 
and monitor and collect information about matters relevant to the preparation, review, 
alteration, replacement or implementation of the strategy. The ―functional bodies‖ must 
have regard to the strategy in exercising any function. The Combined Authority must 
inform the Constituent Councils, any body on which those authorities are represented 
or any other bodies which it considers should be informed of its views concerning 
matters of common interest relating to the planning or development of the Liverpool 
City Region. It may also inform them, or any of them, of its views concerning any other 
matters relating to the planning or development of those areas. The Combined 
Authority must from time to time consult the Constituent Councils about the exercise of 
these functions. 
 

 

 

3, 

5.  

The following provisions of the 
Greater London Authority Act 1999 
as modified to correspond to the 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority and the Combined Authority 
area: 

(a) section 334 (the spatial 
development strategy);  

(b) section 335 (public participation);  

(c) section 336 (withdrawal);  

(d) section 337 (publication);  

(e) section 338 (examination in 
public);  

(f) section 339 (review of matters 
affecting the strategy);  

(g) section 340 (reviews of the 
strategy);  

(h) section 341 (alteration or 
replacement);  

(i) section 342 (matters to which the 
Metro Mayor is to have regard);  

(j) section 346 (monitoring and data 
collection); and  

(k) section 348 (Metro Mayor‘s 
functions as to planning around 
Greater London).  

Article 3, 
2017 Order 

P
age 16



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

G Planning applications of potential strategic importance 

 
Where an application for planning permission relating to land in Liverpool City Region 
is of potential strategic importance, the Combined Authority may direct that it is to be 
the local planning authority for the purpose of that application rather than the 
Constituent Council. The circumstances under which such a direction may be made 
are prescribed in Schedule 2 (Planning applications of potential strategic importance) 
of The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (Functions and Amendment) Order 
2017, as is the meaning of ―application of potential strategic importance‖. 
 
In deciding whether to make a s.2A direction, the Combined Authority must have 
regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State.  
 
Where the Combined Authority grants outline planning permission, matters can be 
reserved for subsequent approval by the local planning authority.  
 
Where the Combined Authority gives a s.2A direction, the function of agreeing a 
planning obligation under s.106 of the 1990 Act falls to the Combined Authority, after 
consulting the local planning authority.  
 
Before determining an application under these provisions, the Combined Authority 
must give the applicant and the local planning authority the opportunity to make oral 
representations at a ―representation hearing‖.  
 

 

 

3, 

6. 

The following provisions of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
modified to correspond to the 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority and the Combined Authority 
area: 

(a) section 2A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (the 
Metro Mayor of London: 
applications of potential strategic 
importance);  

(b) section 2B of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
(section 2A: supplementary 
provisions);  

(c) section 2C of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
(matters reserved for subsequent 
approval);  

(d) section 2E of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
(section 2A and planning 
obligations under section 106);  

(e) section 2F of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
(representation hearings);  

(f) section 74 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
(directions etc. as to method of 
dealing with applications) 

 

Article 5, 
2017 Order 

 Constituent Council‘s local development documents must be ―in general conformity 

with‖ the spatial development plan and, accordingly, these provisions require that the 

3, 

6. 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Metro Mayor of London) Order 
2008 as modified to correspond to the 

 

P
age 17



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

Combined Authority must be notified by the Constituent Councils as the local planning 

authority of any applications of potential strategic importance.  

 

The Combined Authority may direct refusal of planning permission if it considers that to 

grant it would be contrary to the spatial development strategy or prejudicial to its 

implementation, or otherwise contrary to good strategic planning in the Liverpool City 

Region area. The Secretary of State may give a contrary direction. 

  

Combined Authority and Combined 
Authority area 

H Housing and Regeneration functions corresponding to those of the Homes and 
Communities Agency (HCA)   
 
Subject to the limitation on the exercise of the functions to the purposes of, or for 
purposes incidental to, the objects listed in the Order*: 
 
The Combined Authority may: 
- provide housing or other land and facilitate the provision of housing or other land 
- regenerate or develop land 
- provide infrastructure and to facilitate the provision of infrastructure 
-  
The Combined Authority will therefore be able to acquire, hold, improve, manage, 
reclaim, repair or dispose of housing or other land or property, or facilitate these 
activities. It will also be able to carry out building and other operations, including the 
demolition or conversion of buildings, or facilitate such operations. 
 
The acquisition of land by the Combined Authority may be by agreement or 
compulsorily if the Secretary of State authorises it to do so. Compulsory acquisition 
may include the extinguishment of private rights of way or rights in relation to 
apparatus and for apparatus to vest in the Combined Authority. 
 
Where compulsory acquisition of land and new rights over land is intended, the 
procedure contained in The Acquisition of Land Act 1981 is required to be followed.  
In summary: 

- the 1981 Act contains requirements as to publicity and notification, to enable any 
person to submit an objection to the Secretary of State within the specified period; 

- a statutory objector is a ―qualifying person‖ on whom section 12 of the 1981 Act 

 

 

3, 

7, 

8, 

9. 

The following provisions of the 
Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 as modified to correspond to the 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority and the Combined Authority 
area: 

(a) section 5 (powers to provide 
housing or other land);  

(b) section 6 (powers for regeneration, 
development or effective use of 
land);  

(c) section 7 (powers in relation to 
infrastructure);  

(d) section 8 (powers to deal with land 
etc);  

(e) section 9 (acquisition of land);  

(f) section 10 (restrictions on disposal 
of land);  

(g) section 11 (main powers in relation 
to acquired land);  

(h) section 12 (powers in relation to, 
and for, statutory undertakers);  

(i) paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 
3 (powers in relation to burial 
grounds and consecrated land 

Article 6, 
2017 Order 

P
age 18



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

requires notice to be served and includes owners, leaseholders, tenants and 
occupiers of any land in the compulsory purchase order, and any other person 
having a right to claim compensation for interference with rights they enjoy over 
land, or who are likely to be entitled to make a claim for compensation for ―injurious 
affection‖ (decrease in value of retained land as a result of the acquisition and 
proposed use of the land which is being acquired); 

- if a relevant objection is made by a person with a statutory interest in the land, a 
public local inquiry will generally be held. It is also open to the statutory objectors to 
agree to their objections being considered through the written representations 
procedure; 

- an inspector will prepare a report and the Secretary of State will then consider the 
findings of the report and the inspector's recommendation when deciding whether or 
not to confirm a compulsory purchase order; 

- where an order is confirmed, the usual compensation regime will apply, which is 
linked to the value of the land being acquired and may also include compensation 
for disturbance and other losses and, for example, legal costs in preparing a 
compensation claim. 

The legislation likewise ensures that following a compulsory acquisition the usual 
regime for compensation applies. 
 
The Combined Authority is not permitted to dispose of land for less than the best 
consideration it can reasonably obtain, unless the Secretary of State consents. The 
restriction to dispose of land for less than best consideration does not apply where the 
Combined Authority proposes to dispose of land by granting or assigning a short 
tenancy (a term of seven years or less). Unless the Secretary of State consents, the 
Combined Authority is not permitted to dispose of land that it has acquired by way of 
compulsory purchase. Such a disposal would also be subject to the restrictions on 
disposal at less than best consideration. Aside from this, the Combined Authority may 
dispose of land held by it in any way it considers appropriate. 
 
Any burial ground which has been used for the burial of the dead may not be used by 
the Combined Authority until prescribed requirements about the removal and re- 
interment of human remains, and the disposal of monuments, have been complied 
with. The Combined Authority may use consecrated land (other than burial grounds) 
provided that such use complies with requirements in regulations (which may be made 
by the Secretary of State under this Schedule) about the disposal of monuments and 
any provisions prohibiting or restricting use of the land while any church or other 

etc.); and  

(j) paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 10 and 20 
of Schedule 4 (extinguishment or 
removal powers for the HCA).  

 

 

P
age 19



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

building (including any part of) used, or formerly used, for religious worship is on the 
land. 
 

I Housing and Regeneration Functions – Acquisition and Appropriation of Land 
for Planning and Public Purposes 
 
Appropriation 

These provisions empower the Combined Authority to acquire compulsorily, or by 
agreement, any land in their areas:  
(a)  if the Combined Authority thinks that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out 

of development, re-development or improvement on or in relation to the land; or 
(b)  which is required for a purpose which it is necessary to achieve in the interests 

of the proper planning of an area in which the land is situated.  
 
The 1990 Act thus gives very wide powers to such an authority to acquire land for 
development by itself or to acquire and assemble it for disposal to private developers. 
The power under (a) must not, however, be exercised unless the authority thinks that 
the development, etc. is likely to contribute to the achievement of the promotion or 
achievement of any one or more of the economic, social or environmental well-being of 
its area. It is immaterial by whom the authority proposes that any activity or purpose 
mentioned should be undertaken or achieved, and it need not propose to undertake the 
activity or achieve the purpose itself.  
 
As in the power listed above, the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 sets out a uniform 
procedural code for the authorisation of compulsory purchase. 
On completion of a compulsory acquisition of land under s.226, all private rights of way 
and rights in respect of apparatus are extinguished and the apparatus vests in the 
acquiring authority; this does not apply to the rights of statutory undertakers; 
compensation is payable for any loss.  
 
Disposal 

Similarly, any land has been acquired or appropriated for planning purposes, the 
authority may dispose of the land to such person, in such manner and subject to such 
conditions as appear to them to be expedient in order— 
(a)  to secure the best use of that or other land and any buildings or works which 

have been, or are to be, erected, constructed or carried out on it (whether by 

 

 

 

2, 

3, 

6, 

10. 

The following provisions of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 are 
exercisable by the Combined 
Authority in relation to the area of the 
Combined Authority:  

(a) section 226 (compulsory 
acquisition of land for development 
and other planning purposes);  

(b) section 227 (acquisition of land by 
agreement);  

(c) section 229 (appropriation of land 
forming part of common, etc);  

(d) section 230(1)(a) (acquisition of 
land for purposes of exchange);  

(e) section 232 (appropriation of land 
held for planning purposes);  

(f) section 233 (disposal by local 
authorities of land held for planning 
purposes);  

(g) section 235 (development of land 
held for planning purposes);  

(h) section 236 (extinguishment of 
rights over land compulsorily 
acquired);  

(i) section 238 (use and development 
of consecrated land);  

(j) section 239 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (use 
and development of burial 
grounds); and  

Article 7, 
2017 Order 

P
age 20



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

themselves or by any other person), or 
(b)  to secure the erection, construction or carrying out on it of any buildings or works 

appearing to them to be needed for the proper planning of the area of the 
authority. 

As elsewhere, the consent of the Secretary of State is also required where the disposal 
(other than for a short lease) is to be for a consideration less than the best that can 
reasonably be obtained.  
 
Development 

Section 235 enables an authority to construct any building or carry out any work on 
land acquired or appropriated for planning purposes—this power may not, however, be 
relied on for carrying out work or building for which express statutory power already 
exists under some other enactment. 
 

(k)  section 241 (use and development 
of open spaces).  

 

 

J Housing and Regeneration Functions – Designation of Metro Mayoral 
Development Areas and Metro Mayoral Development Corporations 
 
The Combined Authority (as proposed by the Metro Mayor) may designate any area of 
land in the Liverpool City Region area, including separate parcels of land, as a Metro 
Mayoral development area if:  
(a) the Combined Authority considers that designation of the area is expedient for 

furthering economic development and regeneration in the area of the Combined 
Authority; and  

(b) the individuals and bodies specified have been consulted and the Combined 
Authority had regard to those consultations,  

 
The Secretary of State may, at any time, make a scheme transferring (to a Metro 
Mayoral development corporation) property, rights and liabilities of the persons 
specified in the Act, once the Secretary of State has consulted with the persons 
concerned and the Combined Authority. The Combined Authority may make a scheme 
transferring property, rights and liabilities of the Combined Authority or a functional 
body, other than the Metro Mayoral development corporation, to a Metro Mayoral 
development corporation. 
 
A Metro Mayoral development corporation‘s object is to secure the regeneration of its 
area and it may only do anything it considers appropriate for that purpose or incidental 

 

 

3, 

11, 

12, 

13. 

The following provisions of the 
Localism Act 2011 as modified to 
correspond to the Combined Authority 
and the Combined Authority area: 

(a)  section 197 (designation of Metro 
Mayoral development areas);  

(b) section 199 (exclusion of land from 
Metro Mayoral development 
areas);  

(c) section 200 (transfers of property 
etc to a Metro Mayoral 
development corporation);  

(d) section 202 (functions in relation to 
Town and Country Planning);  

(e) section 204 (removal or restriction 
of planning functions);  

(f) section 214 (powers in relation to 
discretionary relief from non-
domestic rates);  

(g) section 215 (reviews);  

Articles 10-
13, 
2017 Order 

P
age 21



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

purposes. A Metro Mayoral development corporation can also have specific powers, 
which must be exercised for that purpose or incidental purposes. Once established, the 
Combined Authority is obliged to review, from time to time, the continuing existence of 
a Metro Mayoral development corporation. 
 
A Metro Mayoral development corporation can become the local planning authority for 
the purposes, separately or collectively, of plan-making, development control and 
neighbourhood planning. Once made, these planning functions may be removed or 
restricted by the Combined Authority. 
 
Subject to prior consultation, the power to grant discretionary relief from business rates 
may be transferred from the relevant local authorities to a Metro Mayoral development 
corporation. 
 
The Combined Authority may transfer any Metro Mayoral development corporation 
property, rights or liabilities and also require the Secretary of State to revoke the order 
that established a Metro Mayoral development corporation, provided the Metro Mayoral 
development corporation has no property, rights or liabilities. 
 
The Combined Authority may, following consultation, issue guidance or revoke or vary 
previous guidance to Metro Mayoral development corporations, which the Metro 
Mayoral development corporation must have regard to 
 
Provisions are laid out for Membership, Terms of appointment of Members, Staff, 
Remuneration etc: Members and staff, Committees and Proceedings and meetings of 
a Metro Mayoral development corporation, together with application of Local 
Government provisions concerning political restriction of Officers, role of the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer. 
 

(h) section 216 (transfers of property, 
rights and liabilities);  

(i) section 217 (dissolution: final 
steps);  

(j) section 219 (guidance by the Metro 
Mayor);  

(k) section 221 (consents);  

(l) paragraph 1 of Schedule 21 
(membership);  

(m) paragraph 2 of Schedule 21 (terms 
of appointment of Members);  

(n) paragraph 3 of Schedule 21(staff);  

(o) paragraph 4 of Schedule 21 
(remuneration etc: Members and 
staff);  

(p) paragraph 6 of Schedule 21 
(committees); and  

(q) paragraph 8 of Schedule 21 
(proceedings and meetings).  

K Power to pay grant 
 
The Combined Authority is enabled through this power to make a grant for any 
purpose, capital or revenue, to any local authority in the Liverpool City Region towards 
expenditure incurred or to be incurred by it. 
 
If the grant is intended to be paid to a Constituent Council in relation to the exercise of 

 

3, 

14, 

15. 

The following provisions of the Local 
Government Act 2003, as modified to 
correspond to the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority and the 
Combined Authority area: 

- section 31 (power to pay grant). 

Article 14, 
2017 Order 

P
age 22



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

its highway functions, the Combined Authority must, in determining the amount of 
grant, 

- have regard to the desirability of ensuring that the Constituent Council has 
sufficient funds to facilitate the effective discharge of those functions; and 

- - in doing so, take into account any other sources of funding available to the 
Constituent Council for expenditure incurred or to be incurred in relation to the 
exercise of its highway functions. 

 
The Combined Authority may place conditions on the payment of the grant, which may, 
in particular, include provision as to the use of the grant by the individual local authority 
and provision as to circumstances in which the whole or part of the grant must be 
repaid. 
 

 

L Transport Functions – Agreements between authorities and improvement of 
highways 
 
The Combined Authority may enter into an agency agreement with the Secretary of 
State, whereby the Secretary of State may delegate to the Combined Authority all or 
any of his functions (including functions under a local or private Act) in relation to the 
Liverpool City Region area with respect to the maintenance and improvement of, and 
other dealing with, any trunk road or any land which does not form part of a trunk road 
but which has been acquired in connection with a trunk road. 
 
The Combined Authority may also enter into an agency agreement with local highway 
authorities and strategic highways companies in relation to the Liverpool City Region 
area in respect of the construction, improvement or maintenance etc of a highway for 
which any party to the agreement is the highway authority. 

 

 

2. 

 

The following provisions of the 
Highways Act 1980 are exercisable 
by the Combined Authority in relation 
to the area of the Combined Authority:  

(a) section 6 (powers to enter into 
agreements with the Minister or 
strategic highways companies 
relating to the exercise of 
functions with respect to trunk 
roads etc); 

(b) section 8 (power to enter into 
agreements with local highway 
authorities and strategic 
highways companies for the 
doing of certain works) 

 

Article 15, 
2017 Order 

M Transport Functions – Road Safety 
 
The Combined Authority may prepare and carry out a programme of measures 
designed to promote road safety and may contribute towards the cost of measures for 
promoting road safety taken by other authorities or bodies. 
 

 

2. 

The following provisions of the Road 
Traffic Act 1988 are exercisable by 
the Combined Authority in relation to 
the area of the Combined Authority:  

- Sections 39(2) and 39(3) (duties 
of local authorities to prepare and 

Article 16, 
2017 Order 

P
age 23



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

The Combined Authority may carry out studies into accidents arising out of the use of 
vehicles on roads or parts of roads, (other than roads for which the Secretary of State 
is the highway) within the area, and in the light of those studies: 

 
- take such measures, as appear to the Combined Authority to be appropriate to 

prevent such accidents, and  

- take such measures in constructing new roads as appear to the Combined 
Authority to be appropriate to reduce the possibilities of such accidents when the 
roads come into use. 

carry out a programme of 
measures designed to promote 
road safety, and carry out studies 
into accidents arising out of the 
use of vehicles on certain roads 
within their areas). 

 

 

N Transport Functions – Traffic Regulation 
 
The Combined Authority may exercise the functions of a traffic authority in the 
Combined Authority area in relation to the making of traffic regulation orders, where it 
appears to the authority making the order that it is expedient to make it— 
(a)  for avoiding danger, or the likelihood of danger, to persons or other road traffic; 
(b)  for preventing damage to the road or to any building; 
(c)  for facilitating the passage of any class of traffic (including pedestrians); 
(d)  for preventing the use of the road by unsuitable vehicular traffic; 
(e)  (without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (d) above) for preserving the 

character of the road in a case where it is specially suitable for use by persons on 
horseback or on foot; 

(f)  for preserving or improving the amenities of the area; or 
(g)  for any of the purposes specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection (1) of 

section 87 of the Environment Act 1995 (air quality). 
 
A permanent traffic regulation order made by the Combined Authority is restricted to 
including only provisions —  
(a)  specifying through routes for heavy commercial vehicles, or 
(b)  prohibiting or restricting the use of heavy commercial vehicles (except in such 

cases, if any, as may be specified in the order) in such zones or on such roads as 
may be so specified, as the Combined Authority considers expedient for 
preserving or improving the amenities of their area or of some part or parts of their 
area. 

 
The Combined Authority may also make an experimental traffic order in the area, 
which may prohibit, restrict or regulate the use of a road by vehicular traffic or 

 

2. 

The following provisions of the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 are 
exercisable by the Combined 
Authority in relation to the area of the 
Combined Authority:  

(a) section 1 (traffic regulation orders 
outside Greater London);  

(b) section 2(4) (what a traffic 
regulation order may provide); 
and  

(c) section 9 (experimental traffic 
schemes) 

 

 

Article 17, 
2017 Order 

P
age 24



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

pedestrians or vehicular traffic or pedestrians of a specified class but may not continue 
in force for longer than 18 months. 
 

O General power of competence 
 
The general power of competence gives the Combined Authority the same power to 
act that an individual generally has. This expressly includes the power to do things that 
are unlike anything that any other public body has done before, or may currently do.  
 
There are several boundaries to any exercise, the general power, including the 
definition of ‗an individual‘. Other statutory limitations or restrictions include: 
(a) those that apply to existing powers that are overlapped by the general power;  
(b) any express prohibitions, restrictions and limitations within primary or secondary 

legislation, to the use of the general power (but restrictions in post-
commencement legislation will only apply to the general power where they are 
expressed to do so); 

(c) that the general power does not give local authorities power to delegate or 
contract out of their functions, nor to alter governance arrangements; and 

(d) the limits on doing things for commercial purpose in exercise of the general 
power. 

 

 Such functions of the constituent 
authorities as are exercisable for the 
purpose of economic development 
and regeneration in reliance on the 
general power of competence under 
section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 

 

Article 13 
and 
Schedule 2, 
paragraph 1 
to the 2014 
Order 

P Incidental functions conferred on the Combined Authority 
 
 
The Combined Authority may arrange for the publication within their area of information 
relating to the functions of the Combined Authority, including displays, lectures, films 
and so forth, which the Combined Authority may do so itself or by joining others or 
contributing to the cost  

 The following provisions are 
exercisable by the Combined 
Authority:- 

 
(a) Section 142(2) of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (the 
power to arrange for 
publication of information etc. 
relating to the functions of the 
authority); 

 

Article 14, 
2014 Order 

 Where the Combined Authority considers it expedient for the promotion or protection of 
the interests of the inhabitants of their area it may:  

- prosecute or defend or appear in any legal proceedings and, in the case of civil 
proceedings, may institute them in their own name; and 

 (b) Section 222 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (the 
power to prosecute and 
defend legal proceedings); 

 

P
age 25



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

- in their own name, make representations in the interests of the inhabitants at 
any public inquiry. 
 

and 

 The Combined Authority may conduct the function of carrying out, or assisting in 
carrying out, investigations into, and the collection of information relating to, any 
matters concerning that area or any part of it and may make arrangements for the 
information and the results of any such investigation to be made available to any other 
local authority in the area, any Government department or the public. This is the case 
regardless of there being a scheme is in place as referred to in the legislation. 

 

 (c) subsection 1(a) and (b) of 
section 88 of the Local 
Government Act 1985 
(research and collection of 
information) 

 

Article 15, 
2014 Order 

 General power a Combined Authority and boundaries to use of that power 

This gives powers to an authority to do (a) anything it considers appropriate to its 
functions, (b) anything incidental to those functions, (c) anything indirectly incidental 
(however indirectly incidental that might be) and (d) anything it considers to be 
connected with its functions or anything it may do under (a), (b) or (c). It also confirms 
in paragraph (e) that anything that it now has the power to do for a non-commercial 
purpose, it may also do for a commercial purpose. 

 

 (d) S113A and s113B of the 
Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and 
Construction Act 2009 

 

Q Functions conferred on the Combined Authority by Local Government legislation 
 
The Combined Authority is defined as a ―local authority‖, and the duties and powers of 
a local authority accordingly apply, in respect of specified provisions of the legislation. 
 
Notwithstanding the number and range of provisions applied, the duties and 
powers in relation to the governance of the Combined Authority include those 
concerning the:- 

(i) holding and conduct of local authority meetings now include the Combined 
Authority (as defined under section 99 and Schedule 12 of the Local 
Government Act 1972) 

(ii) access to meetings and documents of certain authorities, committees and 
Sub-Committees (as per section 100J of the Local Government Act 1972) 

(iii) means by which functions may be discharged (as per section 101(13) of the 
Local Government Act 1972), 

(iv) the power to prosecute or defend legal proceedings (as per section 222(2) of 

 Section 119 and Sched 6 of the Local Democracy, 
Economic Development and Construction Act 
2009 (amendments relating to EPBs and combined 
authorities) applies a number of Local Government 
and transport law provisions to the Combined 
Authority through amendments made to the following: 
- 

(a) Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 
(b) Trustee Investments Act 1961 
(c) Local Government (Records) Act 1962  
(d) Local Government Act 1966 
(e) Leasehold Reform Act 1967 
(f) Transport Act 1968 
(g) Local Government Grants (Social Need) Act 

1969  
(h) Employers' Liability (Compulsory Insurance) 

Act 1969  

P
age 26



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

the Local Government Act 1972), 

(v) Local Government Ombudsman investigations and complaints (as per section 
25(1) of the Local Government Act 1974) 

(vi) political restriction of Officers and staff (Part 1: section 21(1)(jb) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989)  

(vii) statutory Chief Officers of head of paid service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer ((Part 1: section 21(1)(jb) of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 and section 111 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988) 

(viii) political balance on committees (Part 1: section 21(1)(jb) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989) 

(ix) duty to consider crime and disorder (as per section 17(2) of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998)  

(x) best value authority status of the Combined Authority (as per section 1(1) of 
the Local Government Act 1999) 

(xi) freedom of information (as per Schedule 1 to the Freedom of Information Act 
2000) 

(xii) recipient of grants by the Sec State for the purpose of enabling the authority to 
carry out any of their functions (as per section 157 Transport Act 2000) 

(xiii) capital finance and accounts provisions (as per section 23 Local Government 
Act 2003) 

 

(i) Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 
1970 

(j) Local Government Act 1972 
(k) Employment Agencies Act 1973  
(l) Local Government Act 1974  
(m) Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974  
(n) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act 1976  
(o) Race Relations Act 1976  
(p) Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976 
(q) Rent Act 1977  
(r) Protection from Eviction Act 1977  
(s) Local Government, Planning and Land Act 

1980 
(t) Public Passenger Vehicles Act 1981 
(u) Acquisition of Land Act 1981 
(v) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act 1982 
(w) Stock Transfer Act 1982 
(x) County Courts Act 1984 
(y) Local Government Act 1985 
(z) Transport Act 1985  
(aa) Housing Act 1985 
(bb) Housing Associations Act 1985 
(cc) Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
(dd) Local Government Act 1986 
(ee) Landlord and Tenant Act 1987  
(ff) Local Government Act 1988  
(gg) Local Government Finance Act 1988  
(hh) Housing Act 1988  
(ii) Road Traffic Act 1988  
(jj) Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
(kk) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(ll) Local Government (Overseas Assistance) Act 

1993  
(mm) Railways Act 1993 
(nn) Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994  

P
age 27



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

(oo) Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 

(pp) Audit Commission Act 1998 
(qq) Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
(rr) Local Government Act 1999  
(ss) Greater London Authority Act 1999   
(tt) Local Government Act 2000 
(uu) Freedom of Information Act 2000 
(vv) Transport Act 2000 
(ww) Police Reform Act 2002 
(xx) Local Government Act 2003  
(yy) Courts Act 2003  
(zz) Railways Act 2005  
(aaa) Concessionary Bus Travel Act 2007 
(bbb) Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007  
(ccc) Local Transport Act 2008  

 
 

R Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit and 
Governance Committees 
 
In addition to or in place of, the general Local Government provisions above, specific 
powers and duties are established for combined authorities in respect of : 

- Overview and Scrutiny Committee(s); 
- Key decisions; and 
- Audit and Governance Committee(s) 

 

 The Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, Access to Information and Audit  
Committees) Order 2017  

S  Adult Education Budget  

(1) Transfer of functions from the Secretary of State to the Combined Authority in 
relation to the Area 

The functions of the Secretary of State set out in parts of the Apprenticeships, Skills 
Children and Learning Act 2009 are exercisable by the Combined Authority in relation 
to the Liverpool City Region:- 

 

 The Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning 
Act 2009 

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (Adult 
Education Functions) Order 2018/1142 

P
age 28



 

Ref Description of Functions NB Principal Legislative Provisions Application 

(a) section 86 (education and training for persons aged 19 or over and others 
subject to adult detention)(1) 

(b) section 87 (learning aims for persons aged 19 or over: provision of 
facilities)(2); and  

(c) section 88 (learning aims for persons aged 19 or over: payment of tuition 
fees)(3) 

 

(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph do not include:- 

 

(a) any functions relating to apprenticeship training. 

(b) any functions relating to persons subject to adult detention; or  

(c) any power to make regulations or orders.  

 

T Local Nature Recovery Strategies 

The Combined Authority also has a responsibility to take on the role as the 
‗Responsible Authority,‘ to prepare and publish a local nature recovery strategy for ―the 
strategy area,‖ the Liverpool City Region.  

 The following provisions of the Environment Act 
2021 are exercisable by the Combined Authority in 
relation to the area of the Combined Authority:- 

 

(a) section 104 (local nature recovery strategies 
for England); 

(b) section 105 (preparation of local nature 
recovery strategies); 

(c) section 106 (content of local nature recovery 
strategies); 

(d) section 107 (information to be provided by 
the Secretary of State); and  

(e) section 108 (interpretation).  

 

 
  

P
age 29



 

NB   Conditions, Qualifications and Provisions of Note in Exercise of the Functions 
 
1 In the application of section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 (arrangements for the discharge of functions) to the Combined Authority the PTE, 

Merseytravel, is to be treated as if it were an Officer of the Combined Authority. 
 
2 The Combined Authority holds these powers and duties concurrently with the Constituent Councils. (Where relevant, any requirement in any of the 

provisions for a Constituent Council to exercise such a function may be fulfilled by the exercise of that function by the Combined Authority) 
 
3 These powers and duties are a general function of the Combined Authority exercisable only by the Metro Mayor (who will exercise the function and 

may delegate authority in accordance with Part 3, Section B). 
 
4 The Metro Mayor may only exercise these functions if:- 

(a)  the Metro Mayor has laid before the Combined Authority, in accordance with Standing Orders of the Combined Authority— 

(i)  a draft of the local transport plan, 

(ii)  a draft of the local transport plan with any alterations, or 

(iii)  a replacement of the local transport plan, 

stating that the Metro Mayor is proposing to exercise the Metro Mayor‘s functions under sections 108 or 109 of the 2008 Act; and 

(b)  the consideration period for the document has expired without the Combined Authority having rejected the proposal, for which purposes:  

(i)  the ―consideration period‖ for a document is the 21 days beginning with the day the document is laid before the Combined Authority in 
accordance with Standing Orders of the Combined Authority, and  

(ii)  the Combined Authority rejects a proposal if it resolves to do so on a motion—  

(1)  considered at a meeting of the Combined Authority, and  

(2)  agreed to by at least two thirds of the Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils or the Substitute 
Members acting in place of that Member, present and voting.  

 
5 The exercise of the functions in section 334 (the spatial development strategy), 335 (public participation), 336 (withdrawal), 337 (publication) and 341 

(alteration or replacement) of the 1999 Act by the Metro Mayor requires a unanimous vote in favour by all Members of the Combined Authority 
appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members acting in place of those Members, to be carried at a meeting of the Combined Authority. 

 
6 The exercise of these functions by the Metro Mayor requires the consent of the Member of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent 

Council to whom the application for planning permission was made, or the Substitute Member acting in place of that Member, to be provided at a 
meeting of the Combined Authority. 

 
7 The Combined Authority is limited in its exercise of these functions to doing so only for the purposes of, or for purposes incidental to, the following 

objects—  

P
age 30



 

1) to improve the supply and quality of housing in the Area,  
2) to secure the regeneration or development of land or infrastructure in the Area,  
3) to support in other ways the creation, regeneration or development of communities in the Area or their continued well-being, and  
4) to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and good design in the Area, with a view to meeting the needs of people living in 

the Area. 
 
8 These functions are exercisable concurrently with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). 
 
9 The exercise of the functions in section 9 of the 2008 Act by the Metro Mayor requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed 

by the Constituent Councils whose council area contains any part of the land subject to the proposed compulsory acquisition or Substitute Members 
acting in place of those Members. 

 
10. The exercise of the functions in section 226 of the 1990 Act by the Metro Mayor requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority 

appointed by the Constituent Councils whose council area contains any part of the land subject to the proposed compulsory acquisition or Substitute 
Members acting in place of those Members. 

 
11. The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions specified in section 197 (designation of Metro Mayoral development 

areas) of the 2011 Act requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members 
acting in place of those Members, whose Local Government area contains any part of the area to be designated as a Metro Mayoral development area. 

 
12.  The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions specified in section 199 (exclusion of land from Metro Mayoral 

development areas) of the 2011 Act in respect of any Metro Mayoral development area requires the consent of each Member of the Combined 
Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members acting in place of those Members, whose Local Government area contains any 
part of the area to be excluded from a Metro Mayoral development area. 

 
13. The exercise by the Combined Authority of the functions corresponding to the functions specified in section 202(2) to (4) of the 2011 Act (functions in 

relation to Town and Country Planning) in respect of any Metro Mayoral development area requires the consent of all Members of the Combined 
Authority appointed by a Constituent Council, or a Substitute Member acting in place of that Member, whose Local Government area contains the 
whole or any part of the area in respect of which the Combined Authority proposes to exercise the functions. 

 
14. The functions are exercisable by the Combined Authority concurrently with a Minister of the Crown.  
 
15. The Metro Mayor may only exercise these functions if— 

(a)  the Metro Mayor has laid before the Combined Authority, in accordance with Standing Orders of the Combined Authority, a document stating that 
the Metro Mayor is proposing to pay a grant to one or more of the Constituent Councils towards expenditure incurred or to be incurred by it in 
relation to the exercise of its highway functions, and 

(b)  the consideration period for the document has expired without the Combined Authority having rejected the proposal, for which purposes:  

P
age 31



 

(i)  the ―consideration period‖ for a document is the 21 days beginning with the day the document is laid before the Combined Authority in 
accordance with Standing Orders of the Combined Authority, and  

(ii)  the Combined Authority rejects a proposal if it resolves to do so on a motion—  

(1)  considered at a meeting of the Combined Authority, and  

(2)  agreed to by at least two thirds of the Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils or the Substitute 
Members acting in place of that Member, present and voting.  

 

P
age 32



PART 3 
 

BODIES OF THE COMBINED AUTHORITY AND 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 

 

Sections 

A – The Combined Authority 

B –  Stakeholder Sub-Committee   

C – The Metro Mayor  

D – Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

E – Audit and Governance Committee  

F - Appointments and Disciplinary Committee 

G - Transport Committee  

H – Standing delegations to Officers 

I  -  Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) 

J  -  Partners and Companies 

Annex A – Summary Voting Guide 

Annex B – Metro Mayor Decision Making Pro Forma 

Annex C – Staffing Structure 

Page 33

Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 3 – SECTION A 
 

THE COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. Section 
1. Overview  

2. Membership 

3.  Meetings and Procedure  

4. Committees and Advisory Bodies 

5. Delegation  

6. Functions 

 

  

Page 35

Item 3a



A THE COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
1.  Overview 
 
1.1 Meetings of the Combined Authority are of the body corporate, whose role it is 

to oversee and undertake responsibility for the exercise of those functions 
granted to the Combined Authority through the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009 and the 2014 and the 2017 Orders 
made under it and any subsequent enactments.  

 
2.  Membership  
 
2.1 Membership of the Combined Authority shall consist of:- 
 

(a) the directly elected Combined Authority Metro Mayor (‘the Metro Mayor’); 
 

(b) six Constituent Council Members, whereby each of the Constituent 
Councils shall appoint:- 
(i) one of its Elected Members (including any directly elected Mayor) as a 

Member of the Combined Authority; and 
(ii) another elected Member (including any directly elected Mayor) as a 

Substitute Member of the Combined Authority to act in the absence of 
the Member appointed under (i) above, 
one of whom shall be appointed by the Metro Mayor as Deputy Mayor; 
and 
 

(c) the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Member, whereby the LEP shall 
nominate:-  
(i) one of its Member’s to be a Member of the Combined Authority; and 
(ii) another of its Member’s as a Substitute Member of the Combined 

Authority to act in the absence of the Member appointed under (i) 
above, who shall be a non-voting Member of the Combined Authority. 

 
Where a Substitute Member attends any meeting of the Combined Authority in the 
place of a Member, they shall be treated as if they were the Member and will hold 
and be able to exercise all the same rights, powers, responsibilities and obligations 
accordingly.  
 
The proceedings of the Combined Authority are not invalidated by any vacancy 
among its Members’ or Substitute Members or by any defect in the appointment or 
qualification of any Member or Substitute Member.  
 
2.2 Term of Membership 
 

(a) The term of office of the Metro Mayor returned at an election for the return 
of a Metro Mayor for the area:- 
(i)  begins with the fourth day after the day of the poll at the election for 

the return of a Metro Mayor for the area, and 

Page 36



(ii)  ends with the third day after the day of the poll at the next election for 
the return of a Metro Mayor for the area. 

 
(b) Other Members or Substitute Members cease to be a Member, or 

Substitute Member of the Combined Authority if they cease to be— 
(i) a Member of the Constituent Council that appointed them; or 
(ii) a Member of the LEP that nominated them. 
 

(c) A person may resign as a Member or Substitute Member of the Combined 
Authority by written notice served on the Monitoring Officer of the 
Constituent Council or the Chair or Vice-man of the LEP (as the case may 
be) of:- 

 
(i) the Constituent Council that appointed them; or 
(ii) the LEP that nominated them, and the resignation shall take effect 

on receipt of the notice by the Monitoring Officer of the council or 
chairman or vice-chairman of the Local Enterprise Partnership (as 
the case may be). 

 
(d) Where a Member or Substitute Member's appointment ceases by virtue of 

sub-paragraph (b) or (c)— 
(i) the Constituent Council that made the appointment must, as soon as 

practicable, give written notice of that fact to the Combined Authority 
and appoint another of its elected Members in that person's place; 

(ii) the LEP must, as soon as practicable, give written notice of that fact 
to the Combined Authority and nominate another of its Members in 
that person's place and, on receipt of that notice, the Combined 
Authority shall appoint the nominee as the LEP at the next ordinary 
meeting of the Combined Authority. 

 
(e) A Constituent Council may at any time terminate the appointment of a 

Member, or Substitute Member appointed by it to the Combined Authority 
and appoint another of its Elected Members in that person's place. Notice 
should be given to the Monitoring Officer.  

 
(f) Where a Constituent Council exercises its power under sub-paragraph 

(e), it must give written notice of the new appointment and the termination 
of the previous appointment to the Combined Authority and the new 
appointment shall take effect and the previous appointment terminate at 
the end of one week from the date on which the notice is given or such 
longer period not exceeding one month as is specified in the notice. 

 
(g) The LEP may at any time terminate the appointment of a Member, or 

Substitute Member nominated by it to the Combined Authority and 
nominate another of its Members in that person's place. 

 
(h) Where the LEP exercises its power under sub-paragraph (g), it must give 

written notice of the new nomination together with the termination of the 
previous appointment to the Combined Authority and, on receipt of that 
notice, the Combined Authority shall appoint the nominee as the LEP 

Page 37



Member and the new appointment shall take effect and the previous 
appointment terminate at the end of one week from the date on which the 
notice is given or such longer period not exceeding one month as is 
specified in the notice. 

 
2.3 Chair.  
 
 The Metro Mayor or, in his/her absence, the Deputy Metro Mayor shall Chair all 

meetings of the Combined Authority when present. In the absence of both the 
Metro Mayor or the Deputy Metro Mayor, a Chair for the meeting will be called 
for from those present at the meeting.  

 
2.4 Quorum.  

 
No business of the Combined Authority shall be transacted unless at least four 
Constituent Council Members or Substitute Members appointed are present. 

 
3.  Meetings and Procedure 
 
3.1 Voting 
 

(a) **Subject to those matters at paragraphs (d) and (e) below, any matters 
that are to be decided by the Combined Authority are to be decided by a 
majority of the Members present and voting on that matter, at a meeting of 
the Combined Authority, such majority to include the Metro Mayor, if the 
Metro Mayor is in post, or the Deputy Mayor acting in place of the Metro 
Mayor, if the Deputy Metro Mayor is in post, and Substitute Members, 
acting in place of Members. 
 

(b) **Each Member appointed according to the provisions in paragraph (a) 
above, or a Substitute Member acting in that Member’s place, and the 
Chair, or the Vice-Chair acting in his/her place, is to have one vote and no 
Member or Substitute Member is to have a casting vote. 

 
(c) If a vote is tied on any matter, it shall be deemed not to have been carried. 

 
(d) Whenever a vote is taken at meetings, it shall be by a show of hands or 

by means of any electronic voting system provided for the purpose, or if 
there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. On the requisition of 
any Member, supported by one other Member, who signifies their support 
by rising in their place, and before the vote is taken, the voting on any 
question shall be recorded so as to show whether each Member present 
gave their vote for or against that question or abstained from the meeting.  
 

(e) **A Member, or Substitute Member acting in that Member’s place will 
have the right to require his/her individual vote to be recorded. Where any 
Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be 
so recorded in the minutes of the meeting to show whether they voted for 
or against the motion or abstained from voting.   

 

Page 38



(f) **Decisions that are made by the Combined Authority, relating to the 
following matters (that are not general functions of the Metro Mayor), 
require a unanimous vote in favour by all Members of the Combined 
Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members, 
acting in place of those Members, present and voting:- 

 
(i) the determination and review of any transitional arrangements on 

transport; 
(ii) all matters relating to the Constitution of the Combined Authority; 
(iii) amendments to the Constitution and Standing Orders of the 

Combined Authority;  
(iv) all matters relating to the management, maintenance and the funding 

of the Key Route Network of local roads, which are to be maintained 
by the Combined Authority; and  

(v) such matters as may be determined by the Combined Authority and 
set out in the Standing Orders within this Constitution, which are 
currently:- 

 
(a) the co-option of additional voting and non voting Members onto 
the Combined Authority and as may otherwise be set out in Part 3 of 
this Constitution. 

 
(g) **Decisions that are to be made by the Combined Authority, relating to the 

following matters, are to be decided by a two thirds majority in favour by 
all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent 
Councils, or the Substitute Members acting in place of those Members, 
present and voting. Those decisions being where the Mayor has laid 
before a previous meeting of the Combined Authority:- 

 
(i) the proposals contained in the Metro Mayor’s draft budget (or 

revised draft budget) as set out at Part 5 - Section A(B) of this 
Constitution; 
 

(ii) a proposal setting out:- 
 
(a) a draft of the Local Transport Plan; 
(b) a draft of the Local Transport Plan, with any alterations, or 
(c) a replacement of the Local Transport Plan, stating that the 

Metro Mayor is proposing to exercise the Metro Mayor’s 
functions under sections 108 or 109 of the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008; or  

 
(iii) a proposal in a document stating that the Metro Mayor is proposing 

to pay a grant to one or more of the Constituent Councils, towards 
expenditure incurred, or to be incurred by it, in relation to the 
exercise of its highway functions, and, following the expiration of the 
consideration period required in respect of the document concerned, 
the Combined Authority is to reject, veto, or amend the Metro 
Mayor’s proposal. 

 

Page 39



For the purposes of paragraphs (ii) and (iii) above, the ‘consideration 
period,’ for a document is the 21 days beginning with the day that the 
document is laid before the Combined Authority, in accordance with the 
Standing Orders of the Combined Authority.  

 
(h) **The Member of the Combined Authority representing the LEP (or their 
  Substitute), shall not be entitled to vote.  
(i) The proceedings of the Combined Authority are not invalidated by any 

vacancy among its Members or Substitute Members or by any defect in 
the appointment or qualifications of any Member or Substitute Member.  

 
See the Summary Voting Guide Part 3 Annex A, which sets out the type of 
voting required on a range of functions and responsibilities.  
 

3.2 Procedure 
 

(a) The Combined Authority will conduct business in accordance with the 
meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules and other Standing 
Orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
(b) The proceedings of the Combined Authority are not invalidated by any 

vacancy among its Members or Substitute Members or by any defect in 
the appointment or qualifications of any member or Substitute Member. 

 
4. Committees and advisory bodies 
 
4.1 The Combined Authority will establish an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

and an Audit and Governance Committee in accordance with legislative 
requirements and as described in Sections C to E below. 

 
4.2 The Combined Authority:- 
 

(a) will establish the following standing Committees of the Combined 
Authority: 
(i) Appointments and Disciplinary Committee; and  
(ii) Transport Committee  
as described in Section F and G below; 

 
(b) may establish such other Committees or Sub-Committees of the 

Combined Authority, which may include the co-option of any Member of a 
Constituent Council or of any non-voting Members, as it sees fit; and 

 
(c) may establish such Advisory Panels and Ad-Hoc Task and Finish Groups 

as it considers may be expedient to assist it. 
 

5. Delegation 
 
5.1 The Combined Authority shall maintain and publish a scheme setting out where 

responsibility for the exercise of Combined Authority functions is delegated to: 
  

Page 40



(a) a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Combined Authority; 
(b) an Officer of the Combined Authority (including Merseytravel) or  
(c) by joint arrangements with another authority. 
 

5.2 The Combined Authority or specified nominated Members will need from time 
to time to act as a shareholder and/or guarantor for companies and/or joint 
ventures that it holds a legal interest in. When the Combined Authority owns or 
jointly owns such an entity, it will generally appoint Members of the Combined 
Authority to represent the shareholders interest and/or to be a guarantor. The 
Combined Authority will also generally appoint one or more Combined Authority 
Officer(s) to act as Directors of the legal entity. To manage those types of legal 
interests, the following arrangements and/or delegations are/or may be 
required: 

 
 (a) to establish a Sub Committee of the Combined Authority to manage 

those interests. Membership, Terms of Reference, frequency of meetings, to be 
determined at the point of establishment and to be incorporated into the 
Constitution as necessary. 

 
The purpose of such arrangements can be found in Part 3 – Section B, which covers 
the terms reference for the Stakeholder Sub-Committee.  
 
6. Functions 
 
6.1 All functions available to the Combined Authority aside from those functions 

allocated by legislation to other bodies of the Combined Authority and those 
delegated and set out in Part 2. 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 3 – SECTION B 
 

STAKEHOLDER SUB-COMMITTEE 

CONTENTS 

No. Section  

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

Overview 

Membership and Arrangements 

Meetings and Procedure  

Functions  

 

 
 
 
  

Page 43

Item 3b



B STAKEHOLDER SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

1. Overview 
 

1.1 The Combined Authority appoints a Sub-Committee, known as the 
Stakeholder Sub-Committee. 
 

1.2 The purpose of the Stakeholder Sub-Committee is to take decisions on 
behalf of the Combined Authority, to represent the interests of the 
Combined Authority as shareholder and to ensure the satisfactory 
performance of any Company (as defined in 1.3 below) to protect the 
Combined Authority’s interests as shareholders.  
 

1.3 Any reference in these terms of reference to “Company/Companies” 
covers the activities of the Combined Authority’s subsidiary companies 
(being any companies or other bodies corporate in which the Combined 
Authority has a controlling interest) & Merseytravel. 

 
2. Membership and Arrangements 
 
2.1 Composition  

 
The Stakeholder Sub-Committee will be composed of 8 Members drawn 
from the Combined Authority and will be as follows: 
 
(a) The Directly Elected Combined Authority Metro Mayor;  

 
(b) 6 Constituent Council Members; and 

 
(c) The Local Enterprise Partnership Member. 

 
2.2 Chair  

 
The Metro Mayor or, in his or her absence, the Deputy Mayor/Chair shall 
Chair all meetings of the Stakeholder Sub-Committee when present.  
 

2.3 Quorum  
 
No business of the Stakeholder Sub-Committee shall be transacted 
unless at least three Constituent Council Members or substitute 
Members appointed are present.  

 
3. Meetings and Procedure 

 
3.1 The Stakeholder Sub-Committee will conduct business in accordance 

with the overview and scrutiny rules, meeting standing orders, access to 
information rules and other standing orders, codes and protocols set out 
in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
3.2 The Chief Executive, the Executive Director of Corporate Services, and 

Page 44



the Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer will be advisors to the Stakeholder 
Sub-Committee, in order to provide open and strong advice. The 
Stakeholder Sub-Committee and/or those Officers may invite additional 
advisors to attend the meetings as required. An Officer will not act as an 
advisor to the Stakeholder Sub-Committee in relation to a Company if 
they are one of its Directors, and an appropriate alternative advisor will 
be identified.  

 
3.3 Non-Executive Members may also be appointed on an ad hoc subject 

specific basis or be a Standing Member of the Stakeholder Sub-
Committee, to assist with providing expert help, oversight and ensure 
delivery.  

 
3.4 It is anticipated that the Directors from any of the Companies will be 

invited to attend the meetings to present information and to seek advice.  
 

4. Functions 

 

4.1 The Stakeholder Sub-Committee will be responsible for the following 
functions: 
 
(a) Monitor the performance of a Company in relation to its Business 

Plan and, in particular, the Company’s performance:  
(i) on financial matters; 
(ii) against the social goals of the Company as set out in the 

Company’s Objects, Business Case or Business Plan; and  
(iii) against the values of the Combined Authority.  

 
(b) Evaluate and monitor:  

(i) the financial and social returns on investment (be that 
shareholding, loans or direct investment); and  

(ii) risks and opportunities including those arising from joint 
ventures or new opportunities.  

 
(c) Consider matters reserved to the Combined Authority for 

shareholder approval, such as:  
(i) varying Articles of Association; 
(ii) varying the nature of the Company’s business; 
(iii) varying ownership and structure (including setting up a 

subsidiary); 
(iv) variations to shares; 
(v) entering arrangements, contracts or transactions that: 

 have a material effect on the business of the Combined 
Authority (including other Companies within the group); 
and 

 are outside of the business plan or do not relate to the 
business of the Company. 

(vi) any acquisition or disposal of a property interest or substantial 
part of the Company’s assets other than in accordance with 
the business plan; 

Page 45



(vii) material legal proceedings outside of ordinary business; 
(viii) adopting and amending business plans each year and 

strategic plans (3 years); 
(ix) appointment, removal and the remuneration of Directors 

(Members of the Company Board); 
(x) selection of the Chair; 
(xi) appointment of Auditors; 
(xii) issue of dividends or distribution of any surplus 
as more particularly set out in a Company’s Articles of Association 
or Shareholder Agreement.  

 
(d) Monitor the performance of any Companies or other corporate 

entities in which the Combined Authority has a minority or other non-
controlling interest and make formal recommendations as to how any 
voting rights or other powers which the Combined Authority holds 
should be exercised. 
 

(e) Report and make formal recommendations to the Combined 
Authority, directly meeting as it sees fit. 

 
(f) Make reports to and consult other Committees of the Combined 

Authority, in relation to the Stakeholder Sub-Committee’s particular 
functions.  

 
4.2 The Stakeholder Sub-Committee will not have operational control over 

the Companies. All decisions regarding the day to day operation of each 
Company, its business developments and commercial opportunities, staff 
terms and conditions and the development and implementation of its 
internal procedures, rest with the Directors of each Company.  

 

Page 46



PART 3 – SECTION C 
 

THE METRO MAYOR 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. Overview  

2. Procedure for decision making by the Metro Mayor  

3.  Qualified Decision Making 

4. Delegation  

5. Deputy Portfolio Holders 

6. Functions 

7. Metro Mayor‘s Political Adviser 

 

  

Page 47

Item 3c



C. THE METRO MAYOR 
 
1. Overview 
 
1.1 The Metro Mayor is the directly elected executive leader of the Combined 

Authority. As well as being the Chair of meetings of the Combined Authority, 
some functions are conferred solely on the Metro Mayor. These functions are to 
be exercised as set out below. 

 
2. Procedure for decision making by the Metro Mayor 
 
2.1 Subject to decisions made under paragraph 2.2 below, the Metro Mayor (or the 

Deputy Metro Mayor or other Combined Authority Member acting under 
delegated authority) will make decisions only in the presence of a convened 
meeting of the Combined Authority. 
 

2.2 The Metro Mayor (or Deputy Metro Mayor) or other Combined Authority 
Member acting under delegated authority) may take a Metro Mayoral decision 
other than at a meeting of the of the Combined Authority convened and 
conducted in accordance with Part 4 of this Constitution only in the following 
circumstances: 

 
(a) that the decision will not be a key decision (as defined in paragraph 11 of 

the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out at Part 4B of this 
Constitution); 
 

(b) that the subject of the decision will not be directly related to transport or 
spatial planning matters; 

 
(c) that the decision will be made following consideration by the Metro Mayor 

of a full report by the relevant Officer(s) containing all relevant information, 
options and recommendations in the same format as would be required if 
the decision were a key decision; 
 

(d) that the provisions of the Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements (set out in 
part 4C) in relation to call-in, including the rules regarding urgent 
decisions, shall apply; 
 

(e) that the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules shall 
apply; and 

 
(f) that the decision shall not be made until the Metro Mayor has confirmed 

his/her agreement by signing a Metro Mayoral Decision Pro forma which 
is set out in Part 3, Annex B 

 
2.3 All Metro Mayoral decisions shall: 

 
(a) record the considerations, options, recommendation and reasons for 

making the decision; 

Page 48



(b) be in a log held by the Monitoring Officer and available for public 
inspection; and 
 

(c) be published on the Combined Authority‘s website; 
 
save that no information which is ‗exempt‘ or ‗confidential‘ as defined in the 
Combined Authority‘s Access to Information Procedure Rules shall be 
published, included in the decision notice or available for public inspection. 

   
3. Qualified decision making 
 
3.1 This means decisions that require the Metro Mayor to have: 
 

(a) first undertaken steps of consultation;  
 

(b) obtained the consent of a relevant Member of the Combined Authority; or  
 

(c) obtained the unanimous consent of the Members of the Combined 
Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, 

 
as set out at paragraph 5 below, may only be made at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority convened and conducted in accordance with Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 
 
Please see the Voting Table Summary in Part 3 Annex A of the Constitution 

 
4. Delegation 
 
4.1 The Metro Mayor will 

 
(a) appoint one of the Members of the Combined Authority as Deputy Metro 

Mayor;  
 
(b) allocate a clear portfolio of lead responsibilities to each of the Members of 

the Combined Authority, who will act as a supporting and advisory 
function on their respective policy areas on behalf of the Metro Mayor and 
the Combined Authority. These will be referred to as Portfolio 
Holders/Members. 
 

(c) maintain and publish a scheme setting out where responsibility for the 
exercise of particular Metro Mayoral functions, if any, are delegated to the 
Deputy Metro Mayor, an individual Member (in which circumstances the 
procedural provisions above shall apply) or Officer of the Combined 
Authority or by joint arrangements with another Authority. 

 
5 Deputy Portfolio Holders:  
 
5.1 For each of the Portfolio‘ agreed by the Combined Authority, the Portfolio 

Holder will have the benefit and support of a Deputy Portfolio Holder. 
 

Page 49



5.2 Appointment to the position of Deputy Portfolio Holder will be in accordance 
with a process agreed between the Metro Mayor and the Portfolio Holders 

 
5.3 The person appointed to be a Deputy Portfolio Holder should where possible 

be of a different gender to the Portfolio Holder for a particular Portfolio 
 
5.4 A Portfolio Holder/Deputy Portfolio Holder must not serve in any capacity, on 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and by virtue of this statement it is to 
be noted that a Portfolio Holder/Deputy Portfolio Holder cannot serve on the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
5.5 Deputy Portfolio Holders will have a standing invitation to attend all meetings 

of the Combined Authority.  At such meetings they will be entitled to speak but 
not vote.    

 
5.6 Unless stated otherwise, in a Combined Authority meeting, it is assumed that 

Deputy Portfolio Holders will be able to receive exempt papers and remain 
when exempt papers are being considered as part of a Combined Authority 
meeting. 

 
6. Functions 
 
6.1 Subject to the conditions set out in paragraphs 6.2 - 6.11 below, the following 

functions are general functions of the Combined Authority exercisable only by 
the Metro Mayor: 
 
(a)  the functions of the Combined Authority as listed in Part 2 of this 

Constitution, being: 
 

(i) Section H: Housing and Regeneration - functions corresponding to 
functions that the Homes England has in relation to the area of the 
Combined Authority; 

 
(ii) Section K: Transport - Power to pay grant; 
 
(iii) Section B: Transport Functions of the Constituent Councils 

delegated to the Authority, insofar as it relates to the functions set 
out in sections 108 (local transport plans), 109 (further provision 
about plans: England) and 112 (plans and strategies: 
supplementary) of the Transport Act 2000; 

 
(b)  the functions of the Combined Authority corresponding to the functions of 

other public bodies as listed in Part 2 of this Constitution, being: 
 

(i) Sections  
(1) G: Planning – planning applications of potential strategic 

importance and  
(2) I: Housing and Regeneration - Acquisition and appropriation of 

land for planning and public purposes; 
 

Page 50



(ii)  Section F: Planning - Spatial development strategy (with the 
exception of (k));  

 
(iii)  Section J: Metro Mayoral development areas - Designation of Metro 

Mayoral development areas. 
 
6.2 The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions mentioned in paragraph 

6.1(b)(i), more particularly referred to in Part 2, G, requires the consent of the 
Member of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Council to 
whom the application for planning permission was made, or the Substitute 
Member acting in place of that Member, to be provided at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority.  

 
6.3 In respect of the functions mentioned in paragraph 6.1(b)(ii), those in exercise 

of section 334 (the spatial development strategy), 335 (public participation), 
336 (withdrawal), 337 (publication) and 341 (alteration or replacement) of the 
1999 Act, more particularly referred to in Part 2, F(a), (b), (c), (d), and (h) by 
the Metro Mayor requires a unanimous vote in favour by all Members of the 
Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute 
Members acting in place of those Members, to be carried at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority.  

 
 See the Summary Voting Table, Part 3 Annex A, which sets out the type of 

voting required on a range of functions and responsibilities.  
 
6.4 The Metro Mayor may only exercise functions mentioned in paragraph 

6.1(a)(iii), more particularly referred to in part 2, B, if:-  
 

(a) the Metro Mayor has laid before the Combined Authority, in accordance 
with Standing Orders of the Combined Authority—  

(i) a draft of the local transport plan,   
(ii) a draft of the local transport plan with any alterations, or  
(iii) a replacement of the local transport plan,  

 
stating that the Metro Mayor is proposing to exercise the Metro Mayor‘s 
functions under sections 108 or 109 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008, and  

 
(b) the consideration period for the document has expired without the 

Combined Authority having rejected the proposal.  
 

6.5 The Metro Mayor may only exercise functions mentioned in paragraph 
6.1(a)(ii), more particularly referred to in Part 2, K if:-  
 
(a) the Metro Mayor has laid before the Combined Authority, in accordance 

with Standing Orders of the Combined Authority, a document stating that 
the Metro Mayor is proposing to pay a grant to one or more of the 
Constituent Councils towards expenditure incurred or to be incurred by it 
in relation to the exercise of its highway functions, and  

 

Page 51



(b) the consideration period for the document has expired without the 
Combined Authority having rejected the proposal.  

 
6.6 The exercise of the functions by the Metro Mayor in respect of: 

 
(a)  section 9 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (acquisition of land), 

within those functions mentioned in paragraph 6.1(a)(i) and more 
particularly referred to in part 2, H (e); and  

 
(b) section 226 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (compulsory acquisition 

of land for development and other planning purposes), within those 
functions mentioned in paragraph 6.1(b)(i) and more particularly referred 
to in Part 2, I(a); 

 
requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by 
the Constituent Councils whose council area contains any part of the land 
subject to the proposed compulsory acquisition or Substitute Members acting 
in place of those Members, to be provided at a meeting of the Combined 
Authority.  

 
6.7 The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions corresponding to the 

functions specified in section 197 (designation of Metro Mayoral development 
areas) of the Localism Act 2011, within those functions mentioned in at 
paragraph 6.1(b)(iii), more particularly referred to in Part 2 J (a) requires the 
consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the 
Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members acting in place of those Members, 
whose Local Government area contains any part of the area to be designated 
as a Metro Mayoral development area, to be provided at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority.  

 
6.8  The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions corresponding to the 

functions specified in section  199 (exclusion of land from Metro Mayoral 
development areas) of the Localism Act 2011, within those functions 
mentioned in paragraph 6.1(b)(iii) and more particularly referred to in Part 2, J 
(b), in respect of any Mayoral development area requires the consent of all 
Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or 
Substitute Members acting in place of those Members, whose Local 
Government area contains any part of the area to be excluded from a Metro 
Mayoral development area to be provided at a meeting of the Combined 
Authority.  

 
6.9 The exercise by the Combined Authority of the functions corresponding to the 

functions specified in section 202(2) to (4) of the Localism Act 2011 (functions 
in relation to Town and Country Planning), within those functions mentioned in 
paragraph 6.1(b)(iii) and referred to in Part 2, J (d)  in respect of any Metro 
Mayoral development area requires the consent of all Members of the 
Combined Authority appointed by a Constituent Council, or a Substitute 
Member acting in place of that Member, whose Local Government area 
contains the whole or any part of the area in respect of which  the Combined 

Page 52



Authority proposes to exercise the functions, to be provided at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority.  

 
6.10 Members and Officers of the Combined Authority may assist the Metro Mayor 

in the exercise of the functions mentioned in paragraph 6.1 above.  
 
6.11 For the purposes of paragraphs 6.4(b) and 6.5(b) above,  

 
(a) the ―consideration period‖ for a document is  21 days beginning with the 

day the document is laid before the Combined Authority in accordance 
with the Standing Orders of the Combined Authority, and  

 
(b) the Combined Authority rejects a proposal if it resolves to do so on a 

motion—  
(i) considered at a meeting of the Combined Authority, and  
(ii) agreed to by at least two thirds of the Members of the Combined 

Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils or the Substitute 
Members acting in place of that Member, present and voting.  

 
6.12 For the purposes of the exercise of the general functions mentioned in 

paragraph 6.1, the Metro Mayor may do anything that the Combined Authority 
may do under section 113A of the 2009 Act (general power of Economic 
Prosperity Board or Combined Authority) as referred to in Part 2, P (d).  

 
6.13 Finance and budgeting functions that are exercisable by the Metro Mayor are 

as set out at Part 5 Sections A and B of this Constitution. 
 
6.14 Anything which, immediately before 8th May 2017, is in the process of being 

done by or in relation to the Combined Authority or by or in relation to a 
Constituent Council for the purposes of or in connection with the functions 
mentioned in paragraph 6.1, is to be treated as having been done by or in 
relation to the Metro Mayor.  

 
7 Metro Mayor’s Political Adviser 
 
7.1 The Metro Mayor may appoint one person as the Metro Mayor‘s Political 

Adviser.  
 
7.2 Any appointment under paragraph 7.1 is an appointment as an employee of 

the Combined Authority.  
 
7.3 No appointment under paragraph 7.1 shall extend beyond:-  

(a) the term of office for which the Metro Mayor who made the appointment 
was elected; or  

(b) where the Metro Mayor who appointed the political adviser ceases to be 
the Metro Mayor before the end of the term of office for which the Metro 
Mayor was elected, the date on which the Metro Mayor ceases to hold 
that office.  

 

Page 53



7.4 A person appointed under paragraph 7.1 is to be regarded for the purposes of 
Part 1 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989  (political restriction of 
Officers and staff) as holding a politically restricted post under a local authority.  

 
7.5 Subject to paragraph 7.6, section 9(1), (8), (9) and (11) of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 (assistants for Political Groups), shall apply 
in relation to an appointment under paragraph 6.1 as if—  
(a) any appointment to that post were the appointment of a person in 

pursuance of that section; and  
(b) the Combined Authority were a relevant authority for the purposes of that 

section.  
 

7.6 Subsection (3) of section 9 of the Local  Government and Housing Act 1989 
shall apply in relation to an appointment under paragraph 6.1 as if the words 
―and that the appointment terminates‖ to the end of that subsection were 
omitted.  

 

Page 54



PART 3 – SECTION D 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. Section 
1. Overview 

2. Membership 

3.  Meetings and Procedure 

4. Delegation  

5. Functions  

 
  

Page 55

Item 3d



D.  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
1.  Overview 
 
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee exists to achieve greater public 

accountability over decisions made and services delivered to the whole of the 
Liverpool City Region in respect of those functions under the remit of the 
Elected Metro Mayor and Combined Authority. The Committee publishes a plan 
each year, indicating how it will exercise its powers, and it will have the power 
to suspend decisions of the Combined Authority whilst it reviews them. 

 
2.  Membership 
 
2.1 Appointment.  
 

(a) At the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority the Combined Authority 
shall appoint such a number of Members of each of the Constituent 
Councils to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, so that the Members of 
the committee taken as a whole reflect so far as reasonably practicable 
the balance of political parties for the time being prevailing among 
Members of the Constituent Councils when taken together. 
 

(b) An Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee may not include 
a Member of the Combined Authority or Sub-Committee (including the 
Metro Mayor) or a voting Member of a Committee whose terms of 
reference include responsibility for the exercise of functions of the 
Combined Authority (other than functions relating to overview and scrutiny 
or audit and governance. 

 
(c) Non-voting Members may be Co-opted from other organisations in such 

manner and at such times as the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
decide. 

 
(d) Voting Members (i.e. not necessarily Members drawn from the 

Constituent Councils_ may be Co-opted by resolution of the Combined 
Authority, subject to maintaining that the majority of Members of the 
Committee or any Sub-Committee must be Members of Constituent 
Councils. 

 
2.2 Chair. The Chair and Vice-Chair(s) of the Committee shall be appointed 

annually from amongst the voting Members of that Committee at its first 
meeting following the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority and before 
proceeding to other business, subject to the following:- 

 
(a) where the Metro Mayor is a Member of a registered political party, a 

person may not be appointed as Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee if that person is a member of the same registered political 
party; or 

 

Page 56



(b) where the Metro Mayor is not a Member of a registered political party, a 
person may not be appointed as Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee if that person is:- 

 
(i) a Member of the registered political party which has the most 

representatives among the Members of the Constituent Councils on 
the Combined Authority, or  

(ii) where two or more parties have the same number of 
representatives, a Member of any of those parties. 

 
2.3 Quorum. No business of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be 

transacted, unless at least two-thirds of the voting Members are present, of 
whom at least 6 must be Constituent Council Members and from at least 4 of 
the Constituent Councils. 

 
3.  Meetings and Procedure 
 
3.1 Any matters that are to be decided by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or, 

as the case may be, a Sub-Committee of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
are to be decided:- 

 
(a) by a simple majority of the Members present; 

 
(b) whereby each Member, acting in that Member’s place, is to have one vote 

and no Member or is to have a casting vote; and 
 
(c) whereby if a vote is tied on any matter it shall be deemed not to have 

been carried. 
 
3.2 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the overview and 

scrutiny arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules 
and other Standing Orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
3.3 Public Questions and Scrutiny Referral 
 
(a)     Public Question Time for this Committee will differ to that of the Combined 

Authority and the Transport Committee. One of the main roles of this 
Committee is to hold the Combined Authority to account. As such a traditional 
public question format may prove frustrating for members of the public and 
the Committee, as the questions submitted maybe more appropriate for the 
Combined Authority to respond too.  

 
(b)     Questions can only be submitted which relate to a Task and Finish Group or a 

specific piece of scrutiny activity. The agenda for each meeting would be 
marked accordingly, to facilitate the scrutiny question time. It will also need to 
comply with the current criteria for the public question time for the Combined 
Authority and the Transport Committee.  

 

Page 57



(c) This process provides a broader engagement opportunity for residents with 
the aim of the referral process being to provide residents and Elected 
Members with an opportunity to submit a topic for review by the Committee. 
The scrutiny referral process will be available throughout the course of the 
municipal year.  

 
(d) When a scrutiny referral form is submitted it will be assessed by the Statutory 

Scrutiny Officer to determine whether the request is appropriate. If the request 
is deemed appropriate it will be presented to the next available Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting for Members’ consideration. Should the request 
not be appropriate, then the individual who submitted the referral and the 
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee will be provided with an explanation.  

  

Page 58



 

 
Appendix A 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Referral Form  

 
This form is to be used to refer a matter to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Please 
provide a concise summary of the matter which you feel requires further scrutiny.   
 
Please submit the completed form to democraticservices@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk. In 
the first instance your referral will be considered by the Statutory Scrutiny Officer to ensure it 
complies with the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. If the referral reflects the 
remit of the Committee, it will be referred for their consideration. 
 
Please ensure you fully complete the contact details in section 2 so feedback can be 
provided.  Thank you. 
 

Name  

Address  

Telephone Number  

Email   

 

Please indicate if you live, work or are being 
educated in the City Region. 

 

 

Please set out your suggested topic in the box below.   
Topics should relate to a service, event or issue which the Combined Authority has 
responsibility for. Information on the background and reason for suggesting the review 
should also be included here. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

For office use only 

Date referral received: Click or tap to enter a date. 
Date reviewed by OSC: Click or tap to enter a date. 
Placed on Work Programme? Yes/No 

Page 59



4. Delegation 
 
4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may establish such Sub-Committees, 

Panels and Ad-Hoc Task and Finish Groups as it considers expedient to assist 
it and will do so where possible at the first meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in furtherance of the Committee’s work-plan for the 
forthcoming year. 

 
5. Functions 
 
5.1 The Committee exists in order to achieve greater public accountability over 

decisions made and services delivered to the whole Liverpool City Region 
under the remit of the Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor, in respect of 
which the Committee has powers: 

 
(a)  to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 

connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility 
of the Combined Authority or of the Metro Mayor when exercising 
responsibility for any general functions of the Combined Authority; 

 
(b)  to make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or to 

the Metro Mayor with respect to the discharge of any functions that are 
the responsibility of the Combined Authority or of the Metro Mayor when 
exercising responsibility for any general functions of the Combined 
Authority; and 

 
(c)  to make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or to 

the Metro Mayor on matters that affects the Combined Authority's area or 
the inhabitants of the area. 

 
 

Page 60



PART 3 – SECTION E 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. Membership  

2. Chairing the Committee 

3.  Appointment 

4. Quorum 

5. Meeting and Procedures 

6. Delegation 

7. Statement of Purpose 

 
  

Page 61

Item 3e



E.  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
1.  Membership  
 
1.1 The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as 

follows:- 
 

(a) 6 elected Members from the voting Members of the Combined 
Authority and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  

(b) 1 Independent Member.  
 
2 Chair of the Committee  
 
2.1 The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership 

of the Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting of the 
Combined Authority and before proceeding to other business.   

 
3 Appointment.  
 
3.1 The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at 

the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of:- 
 

(a) Members appointed from the voting Members of:- 

(i) Combined Authority; and 

(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with  

(iii) another elected voting Member as a Substitute Member of the 
Audit and Governance Committee to act in the absence of the 
Member appointed above, in such a manner that the Members of 
the Audit and Governance Committee taken as a whole, will 
reflect, so far as reasonably practicable, the balance of political 
parties for the time being prevailing among Members of the 
Constituent Councils when taken together. 

 
(b) at least one Independent Person, to be appointed through the prescribed 

procedure and who:- 
 

(i) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined 
Authority;  

(ii) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council 
for which the Combined Authority is the Principal Authority;  

(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph 
(i) or (ii); and  

(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an 
appointment:- 

  
(1) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined 

Authority; or  

Page 62



(2) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council 
for which the Combined Authority is the Principal Authority; 
and 

 
(c) such non-voting Members may be Co-opted from other organisations in 

such manner and at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee 
may decide. 

 
4 Quorum.  
 
4.1 No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted 

unless at least two-thirds of the voting Members are present. 
 
5  Meetings and Procedure 
 
5.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the Overview and 

Scrutiny Arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules 
and other Standing Orders, Codes and Protocols as set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
6 Delegation 
 
6.1 The Committee may establish such Sub-Committees, Panels and Ad-Hoc 

Task and Finish Groups as it considers expedient to assist it. 
 
7 Statement of Purpose 
 
7.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 

Authority‟s Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to:- 
 

 provide an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance 
and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 
financial standards; 

 provide independent assurance to the Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel of the adequacy of governance, risk management, 
internal control and financial management. It provides an independent 
review of the Combined Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s governance, 
risk management and internal control and oversees internal audit and 
external audit, helping to ensure that efficient and effective assurance 
arrangements are in place; and 

 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined 
Authority Members.  
 

8 Functions 
 
8.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance 

Committee, the following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority and 
Merseytravel. 

 
  

Page 63



Governance, risk and control 
 
(a) to review the Combined Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s corporate governance 

arrangements against the good governance framework, including the ethical 
framework and to consider the local code of governance; 

 
(b) to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s Annual 

Governance Statement properly reflects the governance environment and any 
actions required to improve it, taking into account, the Head of Internal Audit‟s 
opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s 
and Merseytravel‟s framework of governance, risk and internal control, and 
demonstrates how governance supports the achievements of the Combined 
Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s objectives; 

 
(c)    to consider the Combined Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s arrangements to 

secure value for money and review assurances and assessments on the 
effectiveness of these arrangements; 
 

(d)    to consider the Combined Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s framework of 
assurance and ensure that it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of 
the Combined Authority and Merseytravel; 
 

(e)    to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
Combined Authority and Merseytravel; 
 

(f)     to monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the 
Committee; 

 
(g)    to consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 

implementation of agreed actions; 
 
(h)    to review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Combined 

Authority and Merseytravel from fraud and corruption; 
 
(i)     to monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources; and 

 
(j)     to review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 

partnerships or collaborations. 
 
Internal Audit 
 
(a)    to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s and Merseytravel‟s 

risk management arrangements and the control environment.  Review the risk 
profile of the organisation and assurances that action is being taken on risk-
related issues, including partnerships with other organisations; 

 
(b)    to monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements 

for ensuring value for money and for managing the Combined Authority‟s and 
Merseytravel‟s exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption; 

 

Page 64



(c)    to approve the Internal Audit Charter in respect of the Combined Authority and 
to recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

 
(d)    to approve the Code of Ethics for Internal Audit in respect of the Combined 

Authority and to recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of 
Merseytravel. 

 
(e)    to review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of 

internal audit services and to make recommendations; 
 
(f)     to approve the risk-based internal audit plan, in respect of the Combined 

Authority and to recommend approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of 
Merseytravel, including internal audit‟s resource requirements, the approach to 
using other sources of assurance and any work required to place reliance upon 
those other sources; 

 
(g)    to support the effectiveness of the internal audit process and promote the 

effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework, including 
commissioning internal audit work where a significant concern exists; 

 
(h)    to approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 

resource requirements in respect of the Combined Authority and to recommend 
approval to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

 
(i)     to make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Internal 

Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations; 
 
(j)     to oversee internal audit‟s independence, objectivity, performance and 

professionalism; 
 
(k)    to consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from 

additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head of 
Internal Audit.  To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such 
impairments in respect of the Combined Authority and to recommend approval 
to the Merseytravel Board in respect of Merseytravel; 

 
(l)     to consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit‟s 

performance during the year, including the performance of external providers of 
internal audit services.  These will include:- 

 
• updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 

concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work; 
 
• regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP); 
 
• reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to 

the Public Sector Internal Audit (PSIAS) and Local Government 
Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-conformance is 

Page 65



significant enough that it must be included in the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS). 

 
(m)   to consider the Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Report and Opinion:- 
 

•       the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN and 
the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will indicate the 
reliability of the conclusions drawn by internal audit; and 

 
•       the opinion of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined 

Authority‟s framework of governance, risk management and internal 
control, together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion – 
these will assist the Committee in reviewing the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS.) 

 
(n) to consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
 
(o)    to receive reports outlining the action taken, where the Head of Internal Audit 

has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the Combined Authority or Merseytravel, or there are concerns 
about progress with the implementation of agreed actions; 

 
(p)    to contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment of 

internal audit that takes place at least once every five years; 
 
(q)    to consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the Annual 

Governance Statement, where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations; and 

 
(r) to provide free and unfettered access to the Audit and Governance Committee 

Chair for the Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity for a private 
meeting with the Committee. 

 
External audit 
 
(a) to support the independence of external audit through consideration of the 

external annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues 
raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA); 

 
(b) to consider the annual letter, reports and recommendations of external audit 

and inspection agencies and their implications for governance, risk 
management or control, and monitor management action in response to the 
issues raised by external audit; 

 
(c) to comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 

gives value for money; 
 
(d)  to commission work from external audit, where a significant concern exists; and 
 

Page 66



(e) to advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between 
external audit and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies. 

 
Financial reporting 
 
(a) to review the annual statement of accounts.  Specifically, to consider whether 

appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be 
brought to the attention of the Combined Authority or Merseytravel; and  

 
(b) to consider the external auditor‟s report to those charged with governance on 

issues arising from the audit of the accounts; 
 
Standards 
 
(a) to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members; 
 
(b) to assist Members of the Combined Authority to observe the Combined 

Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 
(c) to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement of 

the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members and the Combined 
Authority‟s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that Combined Authority 
Members have failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct 
for Members (“the Authority‟s Arrangements”); 

 
(d) to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for 

Members and the Combined Authority„s Arrangements; 
 
(e) to advise, train or arrange to train Members of the Combined Authority to 

observe the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 
(f) to determine, in accordance with the Combined Authority‟s Arrangements, 

whether a Member has failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of 
Conduct for Members and, if so, to determine what action (if any) to take in 
respect of the Combined Authority Member, such actions to include:– 

 
•  publication of the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards 

Committee in respect of the Subject Member‟s conduct; 
 
• reporting the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards Committee 

to the Combined Authority for information; 
 

•  recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 
 should be censured; 

 
•     instructing the Combined Authority‟s Monitoring Officer to arrange training 

for the Subject Member; or 

Page 67



•     recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 
should be removed from all appointments to which the Subject Member 
has been appointed or nominated by the Combined Authority; and 

 
(g)    to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer‟s decision on the grant of 

dispensations. 
 
(h) to form an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee for the purposes of the 

Disciplinary Procedure in relation to the Combined Authority‟s Chief Officers, as 
per Part 6, Section F of the Constitution.  

 
Accountability arrangements  
 

(a) to report to the Combined Authority and to Merseytravel on the Committee‟s 
findings, conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s governance, risk management and 
internal control frameworks; financial reporting arrangements, and internal and 
external audit functions;  

 
(b) to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee in 

relation to its Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in 
meeting its purpose; and 

 
(c) to publish an annual report on the work of the Committee. 

 
Amendments to the Constitution 
 
(a) to consider proposed constitutional amendments. 
 
Information Management 
 
(a) to determine on behalf of the Combined Authority, information management 

policies and procedures and monitor their application; and 
 
(b) to report to the Combined Authority on an annual basis, the up-to-date position 

regarding information management policies, procedures and their application. 
 
 
Terms of Reference amended October 2022. 

Page 68



PART 3 – SECTION F 
 

APPOINTMENTS AND DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. Section 
 

1. Overview  

2. Membership  

3.  Meetings and Procedure 

4. Delegation  

5 Functions 

 
  

Page 69

Item 3f



F APPOINTMENTS AND DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE    

 
1.  Overview 
 
1.1 The Appointments and Disciplinary Committee deals with staff terms and 

conditions, including the process and procedures for the appointment and 
dismissal of senior staff and determining the pay and grading. 

 
2.  Membership 
 
2.1 Appointment.  
 

(a) The Combined Authority shall appoint an Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee at the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which 
shall consist of 7 Members of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, of 
which any 3 or more may be called to form the Committee as required, and 
which: 
 
(b) To ensure the Committee has the flexibility to carry out its functions 
and that constituent Local Authorities are represented, substitutes be 
introduced to the membership. The substitutes would be those substitute 
Members who are appointed to the LCR Combined Authority by the constituent 
Local Authorities.  
 
(c) Should wherever possible include the Combined Authority Member 
holding the relevant portfolio lead for corporate resources; and 
 
(d)         May include the Metro Mayor. 
 

2.2 Chair.  
 
 The Chair of the Committee shall be appointed at the meeting from amongst 

the voting Members by that Committee at its first meeting following the Annual 
Meeting and before proceeding to other business. 

 
2.3 Quorum.  
 
 No business of the Committee shall be transacted unless at least three of the 

voting Members are present  
 
3.  Meetings and Procedure 
 
3.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the Overview and 

Scrutiny Arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules 
and other Standing Orders, codes and protocols set out in this Constitution. 

 
 
 
 

Page 70



4. Delegation 
 
4.1 Beyond those staffing matters expressly set out at paragraph below, all other 

staffing and human resources matters are delegated to the Head of Paid 
Service. 

 
5. Functions 
 
5.1 Whilst it is for the Combined Authority to determine the terms of reference of 

the Committee at the Annual Meeting and from time to time, it is envisaged that 
the Committee will exercise responsibility for the following functions:  

 
(a) To approve Person Specifications and Job Descriptions for the Head of 

Paid Service and other Statutory Chief Officers and Chief Officers.   
 

(b) To shortlist applicants for interview and to interview and make 
recommendations to the Combined Authority in relation to the 
appointment of the Head of Paid Service.  

 
(c) To shortlist applicants for interview and to interview and make 

appointments to Chief Officer posts.  
 
(d) To approve any specific terms and conditions within approved Combined 

Authority budget and policy framework.   
 
(e) In addition to the above the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee 

may deal with the discipline and dismissal of Chief Officers. The Chief 
Officers Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance can be found in Part 6, 
Section F of the Constitution. The Committee will form as the Appeals 
Committee for the purposes of the Disciplinary Procedure.  

 
(f) The Head of Paid Service and other Statutory Chief Officers and Chief 

Officers have the meaning ascribed in the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989 as they relate to the Combined Authority. Deputy Chief Officer 

refers to a Deputy Chief Officer as defined by Section 2(8) of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1089.  

   

5.2 The functions listed at 5.1 above, in respect of those Officers of the Combined 
Authority referred to at 5.1(a) above are delegated to the Head of Paid Service 
(save for the role the Head of Paid Service itself) where those positions are to 
be or have been filled on an interim or temporary basis only, for a maximum 
period of 12 months. During such a 12-month period:- 

 
 (a) if the position is part of the annually agreed staffing structure 

(incorporated into the Constitution). Then any request to continue the 
temporary arrangement can be agreed by the Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee; and  

 
 (b) if the position is not part of the annually agreed staffing structure 

(incorporated into the Constitution). Any request can secure a recommendation 

Page 71



from the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee for approval by the 
Combined Authority or be considered directly by the Combined Authority. 

5.3 The functions listed at 5.1 above, in respect of any Officer of the Combined 
Authority other than those referred to at 5.1(a) above are delegated to the Head 
of Paid Service. 

 
For the purposes of the Constitution, the Head of Paid Service and other Statutory 
Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers are the staff cited in the Staffing Structure 
Chart attached at Part 3 Annex c.  

Page 72



PART 3 – SECTION G 
 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. Overview 

2. Membership 

3.  Meetings and Procedure 

4. Delegation 

5. Functions 

6. Transport functions of the Combined Authority referred to 

the Transport Committee 

7. Transport functions of the Combined Authority delegated to 

the Transport Committee 

 

  

Page 73

Item 3g



G.  TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

 
1.  Overview 
 
1.1 The Transport Committee’s role is to undertake transport and travel policy 

functions on behalf of the Combined Authority, together with certain delegated 
functions in relation to transport and travel, the development of funding 
proposals and oversight of Merseytravel as the Passenger Transport Executive 
and Executive Body for the Combined Authority. 

 
2.  Membership 
 
2.1 Appointment.  
 
 The Combined Authority shall appoint a Transport Committee at the Annual 

Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of:- 
 

(a) nominees from each Constituent Council; and  
(b) such other Members as may be beneficial to the workings of the 

Committee, which may include:- 
(i) the Metro Mayor  
(ii) the Combined Authority Member holding the relevant portfolio lead; 

and 
(iii)  non-voting Members drawn from Members of the Constituent 

Councils or elsewhere as may be determined by the Combined 
Authority. 

 
2.2 Chair.  
 
 The Chair of the Committee shall be appointed annually from amongst the 

voting Members by that Committee at its first meeting following the Annual 
Meeting and before proceeding to other business. 

 
2.3 Quorum.  
 
 No business of the Committee shall be transacted unless at least three of the 

voting Members are present  
 
3.  Meetings and Procedure 
 
3.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the Overview and 

Scrutiny Arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules 
and other Standing Orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
4. Delegation 
 
4.1 The Committee may establish such Sub-Committees, Panels and ad-hoc Task 

and Finish Groups as it considers expedient to assist it.  

Page 74



4.2 Wherever possible, the Committee will exercise its delegations without further 
delegation to Sub-Committees or an Officer, but may do so if the Committee 
consider it appropriate. 

 
5. Functions 
 
5.1 Whilst it is for the Combined Authority to determine the terms of reference of 

the Committee at the Annual Meeting and from time to time, it is envisaged that 

the Committee will exercise responsibility for the following functions:-  

 
6 Transport Functions of the Combined Authority referred to the Transport 

Committee  

 
6.1 The following transport functions of the Combined Authority are not delegated 

but are referred by the Combined Authority to the Committee to make 
recommendations to the Combined Authority  

 
(a) In respect of strategies, plans, discharge of the statutory responsibilities of 

the Combined Authority, and policies relating to transport 
 
(b) In respect of finance, the Levy and any Differential Levy, (the capital 

programme of the Combined Authority (and Merseytravel ) and the setting 
of the Mersey Tunnel tolls. 

 
(c) In respect of Merseytravel (as the Passenger Transport Executive and 

Executive Body for the Combined Authority) and the status of 
Merseytravel as an Officer of the Combined Authority: 

 
(i) financial grants (including the grant for the operation and 

maintenance of Mersey Tunnels); and 
 
(ii) provide directions to Merseytravel in regard to functions being 

undertaken for the Combined Authority;  
 

(d) in respect of policies and procedures governing the development and 
review of the Single Asset Management Plan and related frameworks for 
the Key Roads Network (KRN); including: 

 
(i) on general policies and procedures in respect of the management 

and enhancement of the KRN; and 
 
(ii) in respect of the scope / extent of the KRN and any alternations 

required to that network to maximise its effectiveness and efficiency. 
 

7 Transport Functions of the Combined Authority delegated to the 
Transport Committee  

 
7.1 The following transport functions of the Combined Authority are delegated by 

the Combined Authority to the Transport Committee, subject to the Committee 

Page 75



exercising these functions in accordance with any transport policies of the 
Combined Authority, the Local Transport Plan and the Combined Authority’s 
agreed transport budget and borrowing limits (and without prejudice to the 
Combined Authority’s right to discharge such functions itself): 

 
(a) In respect of strategy, policy and agreements 

 
(i) monitoring performance against the Local Transport Plan and other 

Combined Authority transport policies, plans and strategies; 

(ii) formulating, developing and monitoring procedures for stakeholder 
consultation on the Combined Authority’s transport policies, including 
taking responsibility for the active promotion of Liverpool City 
Region’s transport interests; and 

(iii) submitting responses to consultations on behalf of the Combined 
Authority in respect of transport and transport-related issues. 

  
(b) In respect of finance 

 
(i) monitoring the Combined Authority’s transport budget and capital 

schemes; and 

(ii) approving the level of financial support of local rail services over and 
above that in the baseline franchise specification agreed between 
Liverpool City Region and the Department for Transport.  

 
(c) In respect of Merseytravel (as the Passenger Transport Executive and 

Executive Body for the Combined Authority), 

 
In its status as an Officer in respect of arrangements for the discharge of 
functions of the Combined Authority: 

(i) monitoring and overseeing the activities and performance of 
Merseytravel and the transport network as appropriate; 

(ii) ensuring that Merseytravel implements its delegations; 

(iii) determining variations in charges for transport services or facilities 
provided by Merseytravel; 

(iv) considering issues arising from the implementation by Merseytravel 
of transport schemes on behalf of the Combined Authority;  

(v) to give to Merseytravel such directions as appear from any such 
review to be requisite to ensure that Merseytravel’s undertaking is 
organised in an efficient manner;  

(vi) approval of any transactions of Merseytravel which require approval 
under Section 10(1) of the Transport Act 1968; and 

(vii) exercise any delegation from the Combined Authority as required. 

Page 76



PART 3 – SECTION H 
 

STANDING DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, 
DIRECTORS AND MONITORING OFFICER 

 
CONTENTS 

 
No. Section 
1. General Principles 

2. General Delegations to, Head of Paid Service, Directors and 

Monitoring Officer 

3.  Delegated Powers of the Head of Paid Service 

4. Delegations to the Treasurer 

5. Delegations to the Monitoring Officer  

6. Delegations to Merseytravel  

 
  

Page 77

Item 3h



H.  STANDING DELEGATIONS TO THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, 
DIRECTORS AND THE MONITORING OFFICER 

 

1 General Principles 
 
1.1 The Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor may choose to delegate any of 

the Combined Authority’s functions to Officers of the Combined Authority. 
 
1.2 Powers delegated to the Head of Paid Service, Directors, and the Monitoring 

Officer, may be exercised by other Officers if the relevant person i.e. The 
Head of Paid Service, Director or the Monitoring Officer has further delegated 
that power, but this must be properly recorded and capable of being 
evidenced. The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer of 
the Combined Authority may work where appropriate in consultation with the 
relevant Chief Executives of the Constituent Councils. 

 
1.3 The exercise of delegated powers by Officers shall be in accordance with the 

principles of decision-making which the Combined Authority follows and in 
accordance with the requirements of the Constitution. 

 
1.4 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are not 

obliged to exercise delegated powers if they believe circumstances are such 
that the powers should more appropriately be exercised by the Combined 
Authority or one of its Committees. 

 
1.5 Where delegated powers are exercised, the Head of Paid Service, Directors 

and the Monitoring Officer, should ensure that the decisions taken are 
appropriately recorded. 

 
1.6 The Head of Paid Service, Directors the Monitoring Officer and Officers more 

generally within both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel have the 
benefit of an electronic means of recording Delegated Decisions. 

 
1.7     Where delegated powers are specific to the Head of Paid Service, the 

Treasurer (Section 73 Officer) and the Monitoring Officer, these delegations 
are shared responsibilities which any one of the three Statutory Officers can 
carry out in the absence of the Statutory Officer initially named as carrying out 
the responsibility. In addition, the Deputy Officers for the Section 73 Officer 
and the Monitoring Officer can also act in their place.  

 
1.8     Where a delegation is made to an Officer in consultation with a Member of the 

Combined Authority, an Officer must and should conduct that consultation. 
There will be a priority that the consultation is undertaken with the relevant 
Portfolio Holder(s) in the first instance. In the absence of the Portfolio 
Holder(s) the consultation must be undertaken with the Deputy Portfolio 
Holder(s) and in their absence the Metro Mayor.  

 
 

Page 78



2 General Delegations to the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer  

 
2.1 The day-to-day routine, management, supervision and control of services 

provided on behalf of the Combined Authority relating only to the functions for 
which they are responsible. 

 
2.2 Within the scope of their delegations, the exercise of powers in relation to Low 

Value Procurements as set out in the Procurement and Contract Procedure 
Rules, subject to compliance with any guidance issued by the Treasurer. 

 
2.3 Within the scope of their delegations, the acceptance of tenders in 

accordance with the provisions of the Procurement and Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

 
2.4 Within the scope of their delegations, the power to set up Boards on an 

informal basis for the purpose of promoting economic development and 
regeneration in the Liverpool City Region.  The Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring Officer, in respect of any Board will determine its 
membership.  In particular, the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer, will have the power to co-ordinate the work of the relevant 
Board with a view to furthering the aims and ambitions of the Combined 
Authority.  Any Board established under this power will not itself have 
decision-making powers and the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer, will be responsible for ensuring that the work of the Board 
is, in appropriate circumstances, referred to the Combined Authority for 
consideration and approval. 

 
2.5 To update and/or amend the Combined Authority Constitution as may be 

required for legal and/or factual accuracy so long as such 
updates/amendments are reported to the next available meeting of the 
Combined Authority. 

 
2.6 The Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning will review and respond 

to any planning enquiries which are received by the Combined Authority 
and/or Merseytravel.   

 
2.7 Authority be delegated to the Executive Director of Investment and Delivery to 

approve expenditure within the approved project budget up to the value of £1 
million for any single item. Expenditure decisions in excess of £1 million will 
be determined in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Low Carbon and 
Renewable Energy.  

 
2.8      Authority be delegated to the Executive Director – Place (Deputy Chief 

Executive) to be able to exercise any delegation or power on behalf of/in 
place of the Head of Paid Service.   

 
2.9      Authority be delegated to each of the Combined Authority’s Executive 

Directors, to sign off Subsidy Control Assessments on behalf of the Combined 
Authority, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 

Page 79



3 Delegated Powers of the Head of Paid Service 
 
3.1 The functions of the Head of Paid Service as set out in the Local Government 

and Housing Act 1989. 
 
3.2 The discharge of any function not reserved to the Combined Authority or 

delegated to any Committee or Officer. 
3.3 The discharge of any function delegated to another Officer where that Officer 

is absent or otherwise unable to act. 
 
3.4 The taking of any action which is required as a matter of urgency or which 

cannot reasonably await consideration at the next scheduled meeting of the 
Combined Authority where such action is necessary in the view of the Head of 
Paid Service to protect the interests of the Combined Authority and where 
practicable the Head of Paid Service has consulted in the first instance with 
the Portfolio Holder and in their absence, the Deputy Portfolio Holder and in 
their absence the Metro Mayor.  

 
 In the absence of the Head of Paid Service, one of the following staff acting in 

consultation with one other staff member from the following persons can 
exercise this delegation:- 

 

 Directors; 

 Treasurer (Section 73 Officer); and  

 Monitoring Officer  
 
3.5 To make such arrangements as are necessary for the organisation of 

meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee, Audit and Governance Committee and the Transport 
Committee and any Sub-Committees, including determining requests to 
record or film such meetings. 

 
3.6 To exercise the responsibilities assigned to the Head of Paid Service which 

are set out in the Constitution. 
 
3.7 To determine applications from adjacent local authorities to become associate 

Members, subject to consultation with the Metro Mayor and they Deputy 
Metro Mayor . 

 
3.8 The provision of a response to any Government consultation, subject to 

consultation with the Chair. 
 
3.9 The co-ordination of public relations for the Combined Authority, including the 

approval of press releases on behalf of the Combined Authority. 
 
3.10 To update and/or amend the Combined Authority Constitution as may be 

required for legal and/or factual accuracy, so long as such 
updates/amendments are reported to the next available meeting of the 
Combined Authority.   

 

Page 80



3.11 The employment functions listed at Part 3, Section F, paragraph 5.1 in respect 
of: 

 
(a) those Officers of the Combined Authority referred to at 5.1(a), save for 

the role the Head of Paid Service itself, where those positions are to be 
or have been filled on an interim or temporary basis only; and 

 
(b) any Officer of the Combined Authority other than those referred to at 

paragraph 5.1(a). 
 
3.12 The Head of Paid Service, or their appointed nominee may make decisions 

concerning companies in which the Combined Authority is or is proposed to 
become a shareholder in the present of the Shareholder Board.  

 
3.13   The Chief Executive may cancel or postpone any meeting, in consultation with 

the Metro Mayor or Deputy Metro Mayor and the Monitoring Officer, prior to 
the issue of the agenda or subsequently, if there is no business to be 
transacted, or if there are exceptional circumstances.  

 
3.14    The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Metro Mayor and the Monitoring 

Officer may sign off Subsidy Control Assessments for subsidies that are 
subject to referral to the National Subsidy Advice Unit.  

 
4 Delegations to the Treasurer 
 
4.1 To affect the proper administration of the Combined Authority’s financial 

affairs, particularly in relation to financial advice, procedures, records and 
accounting systems, internal audit and financial control generally. 

 
4.2 The taking of all action required on borrowing, investment and financing, 

subject to the submission to the Combined Authority of an annual report of the 
Treasurer on treasury management activities and at 6-monthly intervals in 
accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management and 
Prudential Codes. 

 
4.3 To effect all insurance cover required in connection with the business of the 

Combined Authority and to settle claims under such insurances, where this is 
appropriate, for the benefit of the Combined Authority. 

 
4.4 To accept grant offers on behalf of the Combined Authority, subject to all the 

terms and conditions set out by the grant awarding body. 
 
4.5. The submission of all claims for grant to the UK Government or the European 

Community (EC) or any other third party.  
 
4.6 To make all necessary banking arrangements on behalf of the Combined 

Authority to sign all cheques drawn on behalf of the Combined Authority or 
make arrangements for cheques to be signed by other Officers or to arrange 
for such cheques to bear the electronic signature of the Treasurer. 

 

Page 81



4.7 To monitor capital spending and submit a report to the Combined Authority at 
not more than quarterly intervals.  This report will separately identify the 
capital expenditure relating to schemes promoted by Merseytravel. 

 
4.8 In relation to revenue expenditure under the control of the Head of Paid 

Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer, to consider reports of Officers 
on any likely overspending, and to approve transfers between expenditure 
heads, up to a maximum of £25,000. 

 
4.9 The approval of contracts and agreements proposed to be entered into by the 

Combined Authority provided that, subject to any other requirement of this 
Constitution, the Treasurer may give a general consent to the Head of Paid 
Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer, to enter into contracts or 
agreements, the value of which does not exceed £150,000. 

 
4.10 The collection of all money due to the Combined Authority and the writing-off 

of bad debts in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules. 
 
4.11 To supervise procedures for the invitation, receipt and acceptance of tenders. 
 
4.12 To administer the Members’ Allowance Scheme. 
 
4.13 To discharge the functions of the ‘responsible financial Officer’ under the 

Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, including the requirement 
under Regulation 8(2) to sign and date the statement of accounts, and certify 
that it presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Combined 
Authority at the end of the year to which it relates, and of the Combined 
Authority’s income and expenditure for that year. 

 
4.14 To discharge the functions of the Combined Authority under the Accounts and 

Audit (England) Regulations 2011 (with the exception of regulations 4(3), 6(4) 
and 8(3)). 

 
4.15 To be the Officer nominated, or to nominate in writing another Officer, as the 

person to receive disclosures of suspicious transactions for the purposes of 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and any regulations made thereunder. 

 
4.16 To determine an amount (not exceeding £5,000) being the maximum sum 

which the Combined Authority will receive in cash without the express written 
consent of the Treasurer. 

 
4.17 To exercise the responsibilities assigned to the Treasurer which are set out in 

the Constitution. 
 
4.18 To take all necessary steps to manage and safeguard any shareholdings that 

the Combined Authority owns in a company including, but not limited to 
granting permissions, giving consents, and compliance with the Company Act 
2016 requirements and any associated requirements.  

 
 

Page 82



5 Delegations to the Monitoring Officer 
 
5.1 The functions of the Monitoring Officer set out in the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989. 
 
5.2 To receive complaints that any Member has failed to comply with the Code of 

Conduct for Members. 
 
5.3 To determine whether to reject, informally resolve or investigate any complaint 

received, referred to in 2 above, and to take such action as is necessary to 
implement that determination. 

 
5.4 To prepare and maintain the Combined Authority’s Register of Members’ 

Interests and have it available for inspection as required by the Localism Act 
2011. 

 
5.5 To determine requests from Members for dispensations pursuant to the 

provisions of the Localism Act 2011, subject to the right of appeal by a 
Member of the Audit and Governance Committee in the case of a refusal. 

 
5.6 To institute, defend or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where 

such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Combined Authority, 
or in any case where the Monitoring Officer considers that such action is 
necessary to protect the Combined Authority’s interests. 

 
5.7 To settle any threatened legal proceedings where it is in the Combined 

Authority’s interests to do so. 
 
5.8 To instruct Counsel and professional advisers as appropriate. 
 
5.9 To provide undertakings on behalf of the Combined Authority. 
 
5.10 To supervise the preparation and completion of legal documents and 

processes necessary to give effect to the decisions of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
5.11 To determine whether exemptions should be applied to requests made under 

the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 

 
5.12 To accept service of legal documents on behalf of the Combined Authority. 
 
5.13 To sign certificates under the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997. 
 
5.14 To oversee and ensure the authentication of documents in the following 

manner:- 
 

(a)     where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Combined Authority, it will be signed by 
the Monitoring Officer or some other person duly authorised by the 

Page 83



Combined Authority or the Monitoring Officer, unless any enactment 
otherwise authorises or requires; 

 
(b)      contracts will be entered into in accordance with the Combined 

Authority’s Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules set out in Part 
5 of the Constitution, unless the Combined Authority has delegated the 
function to a Constituent Council or Merseytravel, in which case the 
Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules of such body shall be 
adhered to; and 

 
(c) land transactions will be entered into in accordance with the Combined 

Authority’s Land Procedure Rules set out in Part 5 of the Constitution, 
unless the Combined Authority has delegated the function to a 
Constituent Council or Merseytravel, in which case the Land Procedure 
Rules of such body shall be adhered to. 

 
5.15 To hold responsibility for the holding and application of the Common Seal of 

the Combined Authority in the following manner: 
 

(a) the Common Seal of the Combined Authority will be kept in a safe 
place in the custody of the Monitoring Officer; 

 
(b) a decision of the Combined Authority, or any part of it, will be sufficient 

authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the 
decision and the Common Seal will be affixed to those documents 
which, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, should be sealed; and 

 
(c) the affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by the Monitoring 

Officer or some other person authorised by the Monitoring Officer. 
 
5.16 To exercise any other responsibilities attributed to the Monitoring Officer as 

may be set out in the Constitution and in legislation. 
 
5.17    The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the 

Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are 
given full effect.  

 
A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and 
weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Combined Authority, and to 
make recommendations for ways in which it could be amended in order to 
better achieve the purposes set out above. In undertaking this task the 
Monitoring Officer may:  
 
a)  observe meetings and different parts of the Members and Officer 

structure;  

b)  undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;  

c)  record and analyse issues raised with him/her by Members, Officers, the 
public and other relevant stakeholders; and  

Page 84



d)  compare practices in this Authority with those in other comparable 
authorities or national examples of best practice. 

 
5.18   Unless specifically stated otherwise references throughout this Constitution to 

the Monitoring Officer shall mean the Monitoring Officer.  
 

5.19.  To update and/or amend the Combined Authority Constitution as may be 
required for legal and/or factual accuracy so long as such 
updates/amendments are reported to the next available meeting of the 
Combined Authority. 

 
5.20   That Post Annual Meeting and upon notice from the Constituent Council, that 

the replacement of Members on either the Combined Authority or 
alternatively, on its Committees be actioned swiftly and without the direct 
approval of the Combined Authority (i.e. waiting for the next meeting.) This 
delegation to be exercised by the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Metro Mayor, or the Chair of the relevant Committee, to action the resolution 
from the Constituent Council.  

 
6 Delegations to Merseytravel 
 
6.1 Merseytravel, as the statutory Passenger Transport Executive (PTE), is the 

executive body of the Combined Authority in relation to its transport functions, 
established for the purposes of Part 5 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and 
Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009.  

 
6.2 As a body corporate, Merseytravel is to be treated by the Combined Authority 

in arrangements for the discharge of functions as if it were an Officer of the 
Combined Authority and the functions and responsibilities as exercised by 
Merseytravel are to be interpreted accordingly. 

 
6.3 Where arrangements are in force for the discharge of functions of a 

Constituent Council by the Combined Authority by virtue of:- 
 

(a) section 101(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972; or 
 
(b)      section 9EA of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 

Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) 
Regulations 2012, 

 
6.4    Merseytravel has power to discharge any function which is the subject of 

arrangements entered into with it by virtue of paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above. 
The following are specifically delegated to Merseytravel as an Officer of the 
Combined Authority:- 

 
(a)      to provide advice to the Combined Authority to enable development of 

policies for the promotion and encouragement of safe, integrated, 
efficient and economic transport to, from and within the Liverpool City 
Region; 

Page 85



(b)      to secure the implementation of the Authority’s transport policies and 
the LTP; 

(c)      to appoint Officers to act as law enforcement Officers in respect of the 
Mersey Tunnels as provided for by the County of Merseyside Act 1980; 

(d)      to enforce the County of Merseyside Act 1980 and the Mersey Tunnels 
Bylaws 2003; 

(e)      to provide and operate the concessionary travel scheme as determined 
by the Authority; 

(f)       to provide travel information as determined by the Combined Authority; 
(g)      to recover and account for tolls revenue on behalf of the Combined 

Authority; and  
(h)      to issue fixed penalty notices in respect of offences under the Mersey 

Tunnel Byelaws 2003. 

Page 86



PART 3 – SECTION I 
 

STRATEGIC INVESTMENT FUND (SIF) 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. Pre-development Funding  

2. Use of Strategic Investment Funds (SIF) for particular projects 

3.  Use of Thematic Funds 

4. Immaterial Changes 

5. Intermediate Changes 

6. Material Changes 

 

Page 87

Item 3i



I Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) 

 
1 Pre-development Funding  
 
1.1 Where the Combined Authority has agreed to the allocation of 

predevelopment funding as a % of the Strategic Investment Funds, that the 
Head of Paid Service, Directors or Monitoring Officer are authorised to make 
decisions to spend this funding in excess of the Key Decision thresholds. 
Such decisions will be reported quarterly to the Combined Authority. 

 
2 Use of Strategic Investment Funds for particular projects 
 
2.1 Where an approval for a SIF application identifies and attributes a specific 

part of the Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) to the application, the Head of 
Paid Service, Directors or Monitoring Officer are authorised to attribute other 
funds from within the Strategic Investment Fund. Any such changes will be 
reported to Members of the Combined Authority by way of the SIF quarterly 
update report. 

 
3 Use of Thematic Funds 
 
3.1 Following Combined Authority approval of the creation of a Thematic Fund, 

the Head of Paid Service, Directors or Monitoring Officer be authorised to 
expend Thematic Funds where the fund is to be managed internally by 
Combined Authority staff, which may be in excess of the key decision 
threshold in accordance with; 

 

 The principles identified in the economic case supporting the decision 
to create the Thematic Fund. 

 The processes outlined in the Assurance Framework up to and 
including the SIF Investment Panel. 

 Decisions to spend this funding can be in excess of the Key Decision 
thresholds. 

 
3.2 Such expenditure that is above £150,000 will be within the authority of the 

Head of Paid Service, Directors or Monitoring Officer and determined in 
consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder for the Strategic Investment 
Fund activity. 

 

3.3 Such expenditure will be reported to Members of the Combined Authority by 
way of the SIF quarterly update report. From time to time the management of 
a Thematic Fund will be externalised in full or in part to a third party that has 
been specifically procured, for example the BREXIT Resilience Fund. In these 
circumstances, the management of the Fund will be reported periodically to 
the Combined Authority. 

 
3.4 Following Combined Authority approval of a Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) 

project the Head of Paid Service, Directors or Monitoring Officer have been 

Page 88



granted delegated authority to deal with changes that may occur whilst the 
project is being delivered within the following parameters: 

 
4 Immaterial Changes  
 
4.1 Changes to SIF funded projects that are immaterial to the financing, delivery 

or risk of the proposition approved by the Combined Authority, may be 
approved by agreement of a Director and the Treasurer or Monitoring Officer.  

 
4.2 For this purpose Immaterial includes:- 
 

a)     financial increments up to the greater of £100,000 or 5% of the value of   
the SIF funding approved;  

b)     changes in outputs which in the opinion of the Executive Director of 
Investment and Delivery (or a nominated delegate) amount to an 
immaterial change; and  

c)     delays in timing in excess of the original funding end date (for either 
funding and/or outputs) of up to 10%. 

 
4.3 Such decisions will be reported to the Combined Authority as part of the SIF 

monitoring arrangements in the quarter update.  
 
5 Intermediate Changes  
 
5.1 Changes to SIF funded projects that are intermediate in nature to the 

financing, delivery or risk of the proposition approved by the Combined 
Authority may be approved by a Director, or the Monitoring Officer and the 
Treasurer on the recommendation of the Internal Investment Panel.  

 
5.2 For this purpose Intermediate includes:- 
  

a)         financial increments up to the greater of £250,000 or 10% of the value of 
the SIF funding approved;  

b)            changes in outputs which in the opinion of the Internal Investment Panel 
amount to an intermediate change; and  

c)        delays in timing in excess of the original funding end date (for either 
funding and/or outputs) of up to 20%. 

 
5.3 Such decisions will be reported to the Combined Authority as part of the SIF 

monitoring arrangements in the quarterly update 
 
6 Material Changes 
  
6.1 Changes in excess of the abovementioned thresholds shall be approved by 

the Combined Authority on the advice of the Internal Investment Panel. If 
desired, the Internal Investment Panel may seek the views of the External 
Investment Panel in considering a change request that may constitute a 
material change.  

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 3 – SECTION J 
 

PARTNERS AND COMPANIES 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. Section 
 

1. Combined Authority arrangements with the Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) 

 

  

Page 91

Item 3j



J:       PARTNERS AND COMPANIES 

 

1 Combined Authority Arrangements with the Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) 

1.1 The Combined Authority and the LEP have developed a joint proposal for 
strategic alignment. The proposal contains no changes to the LEP Board’s 
role. It will continue to provide business and third sector insights to the 
Combined Authority and our local authorities, mainly through their 
participation in the board. The LEP Board, and in particular its chair, will 
continue also to provide a voice of LCR business to Central Government.  

 
1.2 Following the LEP review, the Combined Authority will act as accountable 

body for all the LEP Board’s activities (extending beyond its current role as 
accountable body for investing devolved funds) and to permit the LEP Board 
to acquire its legal personality (thus satisfying the review’s requirement for 
LEP boards to acquire a legal personality). The LEP Board will use the 
Combined Authority’s legal personality but continue to operate under its own 
constitution and therefore at a distance from the Combined Authority 
itself.  See link to LEP constitution 
https://www.liverpoollep.org/about-lep/lcr-governance/ 

 
1.3 The Combined Authority has assumed sole responsibility for all policy 

development (but will continue to seek the LEP Board’s advice in its 
development) and will manage all devolved growth funding. This focuses the 
LEP Company’s role, as follows: 

 

 Sector managers and their teams will continue to service the LEP 
Board and its sub-boards (the independent secretariat function in 
Government’s language) 

 The LEP Company will continue to deliver programmes of activity 
aimed at economic growth and sector management. The LEP 
Company’s role will be non-exclusive.  

 
1.4 The Combined Authority may choose to commission the LEP Company or 

another body to deliver its programmes. Likewise, the LEP Company will 
continue to deliver programmes for third parties like universities, as well as 
those identified as priorities by the LEP Board.  The LEP Company will 
become the “Growth Delivery Group.”  

 
1.5 The LEP Board will commission the Growth Delivery Group directly.  To 

commission directly, EU law requires that the Growth Delivery Group to be 
controlled by the commissioning party. Since the LEP Board is using the 
Combined Authority’s legal personality, the Combined Authority therefore 
holds majority control of the Growth Delivery Group. The Growth Delivery 
Group will continue to manage its funds independently, though it will raise 
programme funds externally and from the Strategic Investment Fund.  

 
 

Page 92

https://www.liverpoollep.org/about-lep/lcr-governance/


The graphic below summarises the legal changes:- 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 3 – ANNEX A – SUMMARY VOTING GUIDE 

 

STATUTORY/CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENT TYPE OF VOTE REQUIRED 

Part 3, Section A – Combined Authority  

(a)      A decision on a question relating to any of the matters specified below, 
where such a question does not relate to the exercise of a general function 
exercisable only by the Metro Mayor in accordance with the Combined 
Authority Orders, requires a unanimous vote in favour by all Members of the 
Combined Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute 
Members, acting in place of those Members, present and voting on that 
question to be carried at a meeting of the Combined Authority. The matters 
referred to are:- 
(i)          the determination and review of any transitional arrangements on 

transport; 
(ii)         all matters relating to the constitution of the Combined Authority; 
(iii)       amendments to the Standing Orders of the Combined Authority;  
(iv)       all matters relating to the management, maintenance and funding of 

the Key Route Network of local roads which are to be maintained by 
the Combined Authority; and  

(v)        such matters as may be determined by the Combined Authority and set 
out in the Standing Orders within this Constitution, which are currently: 
(1)    the co-option of additional Members onto the Combined Authority. 

REQUIRES UNANIMOUS VOTE OF ALL 
COMBINED AUTHORITY MEMBERS 
PRESENT AT MEETING 

  

Part 3 – Section B – Metro Mayor  

Planning Applications and Acquisition of Land for planning and public purposes  

The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the following functions 
 

(1) Planning – planning applications of potential strategic importance 
and  

(2)    Housing and Regeneration - Acquisition and appropriation of land 
for planning and public purposes 

REQUIRES CONSENT OF MEMBER(S) 
REPRESENTING CONSTIUENT 
COUNCIL(S) TO WHOM THE 
APPLICATION FOR PLANNING 
PERMISSION WAS MADE 

P
age 95

Item
 3k



referred to in Part 2, G, requires the consent of the Member of the Combined Authority 
appointed by the Constituent Council to whom the application for planning permission 
was made, or the Substitute Member acting in place of that Member, to be provided at 
a meeting of the Combined Authority.  

  

Spatial Development Strategy  

The Combined Authority must prepare and publish a spatial development strategy.  It 
must contain matters that are prescribed under Section 343 of the Greater London Act 
1999 (as amended). 
 
In respect of the following functions exercised by the Metro Mayor,  

 section 334 (the spatial development strategy),  
 section 335 (public participation),  
 section 336 (withdrawal),  
 section 337 (publication) and  
 section 341 (alteration or replacement) of the strategy,  

 
these functions require a unanimous vote in favour by all Members of the Combined 
Authority appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members acting in place 
of those Members, to be carried at a meeting of the Combined Authority. 

REQUIRES UNANIMOUS VOTE OF ALL 
COMBINED AUTHORITY MEMBERS 
PRESENT AT MEETING 

  

Draft Local Transport plan (with any alterations) and/or a replacement Local 
Transport Plan 

 

If the Combined Authority wishes to reject a draft Local Transport Plan, a draft Local 
Transport Plan with any alterations or a replacement of the Local Transport Plan it can 
only do so if; 

 The consideration period of the document has NOT expired (21 days beginning 
with the day the document is laid) and,  

 It is considered at a meeting of the Combined Authority, and 
 Agrees to reject the draft document/proposal with a two thirds majority of the 

Combined Authority Members or their substitutes. 

REJECTED IF ALL CONDITIONS ARE 
MET AND BY A TWO THIRDS MAJORITY 
OF THOSE PRESENT AT MEETING  

 
 

 

P
age 96



Payment of Grant to one or more Constituent Councils for expenditure 
incurred/to be incurred in relation to the exercise of highway functions 
 

 

If the Combined Authority wishes to reject a proposal by the Metro Mayor to pay grant 
to one or more Constituent Councils for expenditure incurred/to be incurred in relation 
to the exercise of highway functions, it can only do so if; 
 

 the consideration period of the document has NOT expired (21 days beginning 
with the day the document is laid) and,  

 it is considered at a meeting of the Combined Authority, and 
 agrees to reject the payment of grant proposed with a two thirds majority of the 

Combined Authority Members or their substitutes. 

REJECTED IF ALL CONDITIONS ARE 
MET AND BY A TWO THIRDS MAJORITY 
OF THOSE PRESENT AT MEETING 

  

Acquisition of land for Homes England Functions and/or development or other 
planning purposes 

 

The exercise of the functions by the Metro Mayor in respect of: 
 
(a)    section 9 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (acquisition of land), 

within those functions, namely functions that Homes England has in relation 
to the area of the Combined Authority; and  

 
(b)    section 226 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (compulsory acquisition 

of land for development and other planning purposes),  
 
requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the 
Constituent Councils whose council area contains any part of the land subject to the 
proposed compulsory acquisition or Substitute Members acting in place of those 
Members, to be provided at a meeting of the Combined Authority. 

REQUIRES CONSENT OF MEMBER(S) 
REPRESENTING CONSTIUENT 
COUNCIL(S) WHOSE COUNCIL AREA 
CONTAINS ANY PART OF THE LAND 
SUBJECT TO THE PROPOSED 
COMPULSORY ACQUISITION  

  

Designation of Mayoral Development Areas  

The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions 
specified in section 197 (designation of Metro Mayoral development areas) of the 
Localism Act 2011, requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority 

REQUIRES CONSENT OF MEMBER(S) 
REPRESENTING CONSTIUENT 
COUNCIL(S) WHOSE LOCAL 

P
age 97



appointed by the Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members acting in place of those 
Members, whose Local Government area contains any part of the area to be 
designated as a Metro Mayoral development area, to be provided at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority.  

GOVERNMENT AREA CONTAINS ANY 
PART OF THE AREA TO BE 
DESIGNATED AS A METRO MAYORAL 
DEVELOPMENT AREA 

  

Exclusion of Land from Mayoral Development Areas  

The exercise by the Metro Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions 
specified in section and 199 (exclusion of land from Metro Mayoral development 
areas) of the Localism Act 2011, in respect of any Metro Mayoral development area 
requires the consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by the 
Constituent Councils, or Substitute Members acting in place of those Members, whose 
Local Government area contains any part of the area to be excluded from a Metro 
Mayoral development area to be provided at a meeting of the Combined Authority. 

REQUIRES CONSENT OF MEMBER(S) 
REPRESENTING CONSTIUENT 
COUNCIL(S) WHOSE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT AREA CONTAINS ANY 
PART OF THE AREA TO BE EXCLUDED 
FROM A METRO MAYORAL 
DEVELOPMENT AREA 

  

Town and Country Planning  

The exercise by the Combined Authority of the functions corresponding to the functions 
specified in section 202(2) to (4) of the Localism Act 2011 (functions in relation to Town 
and Country Planning), in respect of any Metro Mayoral development area requires the 
consent of all Members of the Combined Authority appointed by a Constituent Council, 
or a Substitute Member acting in place of that Member, whose Local Government area 
contains the whole or any part of the area in respect of which  the Combined Authority 
proposes to exercise the functions, to be provided at a meeting of the Combined 
Authority. 

REQUIRES CONSENT OF MEMBER(S) 
REPRESENTING CONSTIUENT 
COUNCIL(S) WHOSE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT AREA CONTAINS THE 
WHOLE OR ANY PART OF THE AREA IN 
REPSECT OF WHICH THE COMBINED 
AUTHORITY PROPOSES TO EXERCISE 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING 
FUNCTIONS 

Part 5 – Section A – Funding AND Budget Procedure Rules  

  

The Metro Mayor’s budget is deemed approved by the Combined Authority unless the 
authority makes a report to review the budget before 8 February in any given year. 

 
 

Any decision to veto the draft Metro Mayor’s budget (or draft revised budget) must be 
decided by a two-thirds majority of the Members present and voting (or their 
substitutes) 

REQUIRES RECORDED VOTE - TWO 
THIRDS MAJORITY OF THOSE 
PRESENT AT MEETING 

The Combined Authority must determine the calculation of and amounts to be used in REQUIRES RECORDED VOTE -  TWO 

P
age 98



setting precept for a financial year in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992,  In particular the following provisions: 

 Section 42A (calculation of Council tax requirement by authorities in England0 
 Section 42B (calculation of basic amount of tax by authorities in England) 
 Sections 47-49 (calculation of tax for different valuation bands, calculation of 

amount payable by each billing authority; substitute calculations and 
 Section 52ZJ (major precepting authority’s duty to make substitute calculations) 

THIRDS MAJORITY OF THOSE 
PRESENT AT MEETING 

  

Any decision to veto the Metro Mayor’s draft budget (or draft revised budget) and 
approve the Metro Mayor’s draft budget incorporating the Combined Authority’s 
recommendations contained in the report to the Metro Mayor must be decided by a 
two-thirds majority of the Members, or Substitute Members acting in their place, of the 
Combined Authority present and voting on the question at a meeting of the authority.  

REJECTION OF METRO MAYORS 
DRAFT BUDGET REQUIRES TWO 
THIRDS MAJORITY OF THOSE 
PRESENT AT MEETING 

 

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX B – Metro Mayor Decision Making Pro Forma 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
To:        
 
Meeting:      
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:   
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:  
 

REPORT OF THE  
 

REPORT TITLE  
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.  CONCLUSION 
 

NAME 
Title 

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Appendices: 
 

Page 101

Item 3l



This page is intentionally left blank



Gary Evans
Assistant 
Director, 

Operations

Lucy Barrow 
Assistant 
Director 

Corporate 
Development

Ian Hawkins, 
Head of IT

Matt Goggins 
Assistant 
Director, 

Bus

Mal Drury-
Rose

Assistant 
Director, Rail

Martin 
Draper   
Head of 

Asset 
Management 

Jill Coule 
Chief Legal 

and 
Monitoring 

Officer 

Sarah 
Johnston, 
Assistant 
Director, 
Finance 

Dan 
McCafferty, 

Head of 
Programme 

Management 

Laura 
Williams, 
Head of 

Internal Audit 

Katherine 
Fairclough

Chief Executive

John Fogarty 
Executive Director 
Corporate Services

Liz Dean
Executive Director 

Corporate 
Development & 

Delivery

Claire Blott 
Head of 

Policy  Co-
ordination

Kate Downes 
Head of 

Evidence 
Research and 
Intelligence

Matt Garlick 
Head of 

Government 
Relations and            
Public Affairs

Kirsty McLean 
Executive Director  
Policy, Strategy & 

Government 
Relations

Project 
Director 

Mersey Tidal 
Power

Martin Land 

Major 
Transport 

Programme 
Director

David Powell

Raphael 
Miller 

Head of 
Investment

Lorna Rogers 
Assistant 
Director, 

Programme 
Delivery

Aileen Jones
Executive Director 

Investment & 
Delivery

Pipeline 
Co-

ordination

Victoria Kell
Strategic 

Policy Lead 
for 

Homelessness

John White
Programme 

Manager 
HiW

Alison 
Gallagher 

Lead Officer 
AEB

Stephen 
Hearty
Skills & 

Apprenticeship 
Hub Manager

Louise Outram
Deputy Chief 

Legal and 
Monitoring 

Officer 
Secretary to 
Merseytravel

Matt Daniel
Head of Chief 

Executive’s  
Office

Andrew 
Sawyer

Key Route 
Network 
Manager 

Ben O’Brien, 
Head of 
Comms 

Marketing &
Engagement

Alastair 
Ramsay, 
Head of 

People & OD

Sian Penny 
Head of Metro 
Mayor’s Office

Richard McGuckin
Executive Director 

Place

Paul Colligan 
Mayoral 

Communications 
Manager

John Lucy
Project
Director
Freeport

P
age 103

Item
 3m



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PART 4 
 

STANDING ORDERS AND PROCEDURES 
 

CONTENTS 
 

 Section 
A. Meeting Standing Orders 

B.. Access to Information and Decision Making 

C.  Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 

  

 

 

Page 105

Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Section A 
 

Meetings Standing Orders 

 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
 

No. Section 
 

1. Interpretation, Suspension and Chair‟s Ruling 

2. Suspension and Revocation of the Meeting Standing Orders 

3.  Chairing of Meetings 

4. Meetings 

5 Admission of the Public  

6. Notice of Meetings  

7. Meeting Agendas 

8. Urgency Procedure for inclusion of late items onto the agenda for 

meetings of the Combined Authority 

9. Quorum 

10. Order of Business 

11. Questions, Statements and Petitions 

12. Submission of Committee Proceedings 

13. Standing Orders of Debate 

14 Voting - See table at Annex c 

15. Conduct of Members 

16. Disturbance by Members of the Public 

17. Notification and Declaration of Interests 

18. Records 

 

  

Page 107

Item 4a



1. Interpretation, Suspension and Chair’s Ruling 

 
1.1 These Standing Orders apply to meetings of the Combined Authority and, 

where appropriate, to meetings of Committees and Sub-Committees of the 
Combined Authority.  Any reference to Combined Authority in these 
Standing Orders also refers to Committees and Sub-Committees. 

 
1.2 References in these Standing Orders to the “Chair” means:- 
 

 the Metro Mayor; 

 the Deputy Mayor (in the absence of the Metro Mayor; and  

 the person appointed to preside in respect of that meeting in accordance 
with paragraph 3 below:-. 

 

1.3 Reference in these Standing Orders to the „Vice-Chair‟ means: 

 

 the Deputy Metro Mayor; or 

 the person appointed to preside in respect of that meeting in accordance 
with paragraph 1.4 below. 

 
1.4 These Standing Orders should be read in conjunction with other parts of the 

Combined Authority‟s Constitution. 

 
1.5 **These Standing Orders are subject, in whole or in part as indicated, to a 

statute or other enactment whether passed before or after these Standing 
Orders came into effect. 

 
1.6 The ruling of the Chair on the interpretation of these Standing Orders in 

relation to all questions of order and matters arising in debate shall be final. 
 
2. Suspension and Revocation of the Meeting Standing Orders 

 
2.1 **With the exception of the Standing Orders marked by an asterisk (**) any 

Standing Order may be suspended at a meeting of the Combined Authority 
either by a motion included on the agenda or by a motion put to the meeting 
without notice and passed by a majority of those present and voting. A 
motion to suspend any Standing Orders will not be moved without notice 
unless at least 4 Members of the Combined Authority are present. 

 
2.2 Standing Orders may be changed by the Combined Authority, which will be 

subject to a unanimous vote, either at the Annual Meeting or by a motion on 
notice made at a meeting of the Combined Authority. 

 
3 Chairing of Meetings 

 
3.1 ** The Combined Authority Metro Mayor („the Metro Mayor‟) or, in his or her 

absence, the Deputy Metro Mayor shall chair all meetings of the Combined 
Authority whenever he or she is present. 

 

Page 108



3.2 In respect of all other Committees, meetings or Task and Finish Groups, the 
Chair and Vice-Chair shall be appointed in accordance with the respective 
provisions of Part 3 of this Constitution (Bodies of the Combined Authority). 

 
3.3 In all other instances, in the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair, the 

meeting shall appoint another Member to chair the meeting. 
 
3.4 The Chair (or the Vice Chair or any other Member presiding in the absence 

of the Chair or Vice Chair) shall not have a casting vote on any issue. 
 

4 Meetings 

 
4.1 **The Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority shall be held in May or 

June on a date and at a time determined by the Combined Authority. 

 
4.2 **Ordinary meetings of the Combined Authority for the transaction of general 

business shall be held on such dates and at such times as the Combined 
Authority shall determine at its Annual Meeting. 

 
4.3 **An Extraordinary Meeting of the Combined Authority may be called at any 

time by:- 
 

(a) the Metro Mayor; 
(b)  the Monitoring Officer; or 
(c)  any five Members of the Combined Authority if they have signed a 

requisition presented to the Metro Mayor and he/she has refused to 
call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the 
presentation of the requisition. 

 

5 Admission of Public 

 
5.1 **All meetings of the Combined Authority, its Committees and Sub-

Committees shall be open to the public (including the press) except to the 
extent that they are excluded whether during the whole or part of the 
proceedings either: 

 
(a) In accordance with Section 100A(2) of the Local Government 

Act 1972; or 

 
(b) By resolution passed to exclude the public on the grounds that it is 

likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the 
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972. Any such Resolution shall identify the proceedings or the part 
of the proceedings to which it applies and state the description, in 
terms of Schedule12A to the Local Government Act 1972 of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public. 

 
6 Notice of Meetings 

Page 109



6.1 **At least five clear working days before a meeting of the Combined 
Authority: 

 
(a) notice of the date, time and place of the intended meeting shall be 

published by the Head of Paid Service and posted on the Combined 
Authority‟s website; and 

 
(b) a summons to attend the meeting, specifying an agenda for the 

meeting, shall be sent to all Members of the Combined Authority by 
electronic mail. 

 
6.2 **Lack of service on a Member of the Combined Authority of the summons 

shall not affect the validity of a meeting of the Combined Authority. 
 
7 Meeting Agendas 

 
7.1 The Metro Mayor will decide upon the agenda for the meetings of the 

Combined Authority. The Metro Mayor may put on the agenda of any 
meeting any matter which the he/she wishes. 

 
7.2 **Any Member of the Combined Authority may require the Head of Paid 

Service to ensure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available 
meeting of the Combined Authority for consideration. 

 
8 Urgency Procedure for the inclusion of late items to be put onto the 

agenda for meetings of the Combined Authority. 
 

8.1 Any item proposed to be included on the agenda for any meeting of the 
Combined Authority in accordance with sub-paragraph 7.2 above, which is 
not submitted in writing before 7 working days of the meeting, shall not be 
included on the agenda for that meeting unless it is agreed by the Chair. In 
this case the amended agenda for the meeting will state the reason for the 
late acceptance of any such item. 

 
8.2 The Head of Paid Service shall set out in the agenda for each meeting of the 

Combined Authority, the items of business requested by Members (if any) in 
the order in which they have been received, unless the Member concerned 
has given prior written notice to the Head of Paid Service prior to the issue 
of the agenda for the meeting, for it to be withdrawn. If the Member 
concerned is not present at the meeting when an item of which they have 
given notice comes up for discussion, this item shall, unless the Combined 
Authority decides otherwise, be treated as withdrawn. 

 
Further to the current motions procedure that is detailed in the Constitution at 
Part 4, Section A, paragraphs 8.3 and 13 the following are suggested as 
enhancements to ensure that the process for the submission of motions and 
amendments is open and transparent: 

 

 

Page 110



8.3       Submission of motions:- 
 

(a) A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of the 
 Combined Authority within the previous six months cannot be moved 
unless notice of the motion is signed by at least three members. 

 
(b) A motion or amendment in similar terms to one which has been 

 rejected by the Combined Authority in the previous six months cannot 
be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at 
 least three members. 

 
(c) Except for motions which can be moved without notice under 

paragraph 13, written notice of every motion must be delivered to the 
Monitoring Officer no later than 5pm four clear days before the date of 
the meeting. These will be open to public inspection. For example by 
5pm on the Monday of the week when the Combined Authority 
meeting takes place on the Friday (i.e. this deadline will match that of 
the submission of public questions). 

 
 In urgent cases, motions will be allowed to be tabled at the meeting as 

is the case currently. 
 
 Competency of motions 
 

(d) Once received the motions will be judged by the Monitoring Officer on 
their competency, and if appropriate, then they will be circulated to 
Members as part of a supplementary agenda on the Wednesday 
before the day of the meeting. This report will also contain the public 
questions that are deemed competent. 

 
 The Monitoring Officer may, after consultation with the Member, who 

has submitted a notice of motion or proposed amendment amend the 
wording of the motion /amendment, either for the purpose of 
clarification or to ensure that it does not offend the requirements of 
competency. 

 
 Absence of Member who has submitted a notice of motion 
 

(e) A notice of motion or proposed amendment shall not be competent for 
debate by the Combined Authority if the Member who gave notice of 
his/her intention to move it is unable to do so because of his/her 
absence or otherwise (part 4 section A paragraph 8.2). 

 
 If the Member who intended to second the motion is unable to do so 

because of his/her absence or otherwise; the Member who gave 
notice of his/her intention to move has the right to find another 
seconder at the meeting. 

 
The process for the submission of motions and amendments is attached as 
a flowchart at the end of this section within the Constitution.  

Page 111



 
8.4 Except in the case of business required by these Standing Orders to be 

transacted at a meeting of the Combined Authority, and other business 
brought before the meeting as a matter of urgency (and of which the Head of 
Paid Service shall have prior notice and which the Chair considers should 
be discussed at the meeting), no business shall be transacted at a meeting 
of the Combined Authority other than that specified in the agenda for the 
meeting. 

 
9. Quorum 

 
9.1 Except where otherwise stated in Part 3 of this Constitution, no business 

shall be transacted at any meeting of the Combined Authority unless at least 
4 of the Members or Substitute Members appointed by the Constituent 
Councils are present. 

 
9.2 If at the time for which a meeting is called, and for 15 minutes thereafter, a 

quorum is not present, then no meeting shall take place. 

 
9.3 If during any meeting of the Combined Authority the Chair, after counting the 

number of Members present, declares that there is not a quorum present, 
the meeting shall stand adjourned to a time fixed by the Chair. If there is no 
quorum and the Chair does not fix a time for the reconvened meeting, the 
meeting shall stand adjourned to the next ordinary meeting of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
10. Order of Business 

 
10.1  At every meeting of the Combined Authority the order of business shall be to 

select a person to preside if the Chair or Vice-Chair is absent and thereafter 
shall be in accordance with the order specified in the agenda for the 
meeting, except that such order may be varied - 

 
(a) by the Chair at his/her discretion; or 

(b) on a request agreed to by the Combined Authority. 

 
10.2 The Chair may bring before the Combined Authority at their discretion any 

matter that they consider appropriate to bring before the Combined Authority 
as a matter of urgency. If such an urgent item is brought before the 
Combined Authority, then an explanation for the urgency shall be provided 
either as part of a report or recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  

 
11. Questions, Statements and Petitions+ 
 
Questions 

 
11.1 There will be an opportunity for a period of 30 minutes in total for public 

questions at meetings of the Combined Authority. 
 

Page 112



11.2 Subject to these Standing Orders, members of the public addressing a 
meeting will be permitted to speak for up to 5 minutes per person (less if 
more than 6 people wish to speak). 

 
11.3  Up to 2 questions may be asked by a member of the public of the Metro 

Mayor (which may be referred to the Deputy Metro Mayor or Member with 
the relevant portfolio) and submitted to the meeting, only if notice has been 
given, by delivering it in writing or by electronic mail to the Monitoring Officer 
no later than 5.00 p.m. on the Monday in the week of the meeting of the 
Combined Authority, at which it is to be asked. Each question must give the 
name and address of the questioner and must identify the person to whom it 
is wished to be put. 

 
11.4 Questions will be asked in the order in which they are received, except that 

the Chair may group together similar questions and determine whether to 
take a supplementary question. A supplementary question must arise 
directly out of the original question or the reply. 

 
11.5 Replies to questions will, where possible be given verbally. If a reply cannot 

be given at the meeting (including due to lack of time) or if written 
confirmation of the verbal reply is requested by the questioner, a written 
reply will be provided within 10 working days of the meeting. 

 
11.6 The Monitoring Officer may reject a question if it does not apply to the 

following:- 
: 

(a) matters which are not directly related to the Combined Authority‟s 
functions; 

(b) matters which do not directly relate to the Combined Authority or the 
Liverpool City Region; 

(c) matters which are better addressed to a Constituent Council (or other  
relevant authority); 

(d) matters outside the remit of the Committees of the Combined Authority; 
(e) matters which concern an individual‟s circumstances where it would be 

inappropriate for details to be aired in public; 
(f) any business or contractual matter considered to be under negotiation 

or otherwise commercially sensitive; 
(g) any matter that may require the disclosure of confidential or exempt 

information; 
(h) allegations against individual Members or Officers of the Combined 

Authority, its Committees or a Constituent Council (in these cases the 
Combined Authority or relevant body‟s complaints or code of conduct 
procedures should be used); or 

(i) any defamatory, frivolous or offensive submissions. 
 
Statements and Petitions 
 
11.7   A single petition or statement may be submitted by a Member of the public, 

provided that notice is given in writing or by electronic mail to the Monitoring 
Officer (and includes their name and address and details of the wording of 

Page 113



the petition, and in the case of a statement, a copy of the submission), by no 
later than 5.00 pm on the Monday in the week of a meeting of the Combined 
Authority at which it is to be asked, may present a petition or submit a 
statement at ordinary meetings. 

 
11.8  Statements, provided they are of reasonable length and submitted to the 

Monitoring Officer within time, will be copied and circulated to all Members of 
the Combined Authority and will be made available to the public attending 
the meeting by not later than one hour before the meeting. If requested, a 
written reply will be provided within 10 working days following the Combined 
Authority meeting. 

 
11.9    Petitions will be received without debate but, after receiving a petition with 

no less than 2,000 signatures, the petition will be referred for further 
consideration to a future meeting, the Metro Mayor or Member with portfolio, 
Committee or Officer of any other person as the Chair considers appropriate. 

 

12. Submission of Committee Proceedings  

 
12.1 Except where any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Combined Authority 

is acting under delegated authority, the Minutes of the proceedings of any 
Committee or Sub-Committee of the Combined Authority, shall be submitted 
to the Combined Authority for confirmation.  Confirmation by the Combined 
Authority of those Minutes shall constitute approval of the proceedings of 
any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Combined Authority.  

 
12.2 Where any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Combined Authority is 

acting under delegated authority, the Minutes of the Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Combined Authority shall be submitted to the Combined 
Authority for information. 

 
13. Standing Orders of Debate 

 
13.1 A Motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed 

and seconded. 

 
13.2 If the Monitoring Officer considers a motion: 
 

(a) is not about a matter for which the Combined Authority has a 
responsibility or which affects the City Region; 

(b) is illegal, improper, defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
(c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting 

of the Combined Authority in the past six months; or 
(d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information,  

 
he/she will consult the Chair and inform the Head of Paid Service who will 
then decide whether or not to reject the motion. 
 

Page 114



13.3 A Member shall address the Chair and direct any speech to the question 
under discussion. If two or more Members indicate they wish to speak, the 
Chair shall call on one to speak first. 

 
13.4 An amendment shall be relevant to the Motion and shall be either:- 
 

(a) to leave out words from the Motion; 
(b) to leave out words from, and insert or add others to, the Motion; and 
(c) to insert words in, or add words to, the Motion, 

 
but, such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not have the effect of 
introducing a new proposal into or negating the original Motion before the 
Combined Authority. 

 
13.5 A Member shall not speak for longer than five minutes on any matter without 

the consent of the Chair. The mover of the motion will have 5 minutes to 
propose the motion.  

 
 The seconder of a motion may speak to second or reserve the right to speak 

until later in the debate on the motion (this right may be lost if an 
amendment is accepted.) 

 
 Members may only speak once on the motion.  
 
13.6 A Member may claim to speak on a point of order or in personal 

explanation, and shall be entitled to be heard immediately. A point of order 
shall relate only to an alleged breach of a specified statutory provision or the 
Constitution and the way in which the Member raising it considers that it has 
been broken. A personal explanation shall be confined to some material part 
of a former speech by the Member in the current debate which may appear 
to have been misunderstood.  The ruling of the Chair on a point of order, or 
on the admissibility of a personal explanation, shall not be open to 
discussion. 

 

Members are reminded of the definition of the following two provisions:- 

 

Points of Order 

 

A Member may at any time raise a point of order, relating only to an alleged 
breach of these Meetings Standing Orders or the law. The Member must 
indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been 
breached. The Metro Mayor will hear them immediately and his/her ruling on 
the matter will be final. 

 

Personal Explanation 

 

A Member may at any time request the Metro Mayor to allow them to make a 
personal explanation, relating only to some material part of an earlier speech 
by that Member   which may appear to have been misunderstood in the 

Page 115



present debate. The ruling of    the Metro Mayor on the admissibility of a 
personal explanation will be final. 

 
13.7 If an amendment is rejected, other amendments may be moved on the 

original Motion. If an amendment is carried, the Motion as amended shall 
take the place of the original Motion and shall become the substantive 
Motion upon which any further amendment may be moved. 

 
13.8 A further amendment shall not be moved until the Combined Authority has 

disposed of every amendment previously moved, provided that the Chair 
shall have discretion to allow debate to take place on two or more 
amendments. 

 
13.9 A Member at the conclusion of a speech of another Member may move 

without comment:- 
 

(a) that the question/motion be now put; 
(b) that the debate/motion be adjourned; 
(c) that the Combined Authority proceed to the next business; and 
(d) that this meeting of the Combined Authority be adjourned. 

 
If such a Motion is seconded, the Chair shall, subject to the mover‟s right to 
reply, put the Motion to the vote, and if it is carried:- 
 
(i) in case (a), the Motion then before the Combined Authority  shall, 

subject to the right to reply, be put to the vote; or 
(ii) in case (b), the debate on the Motion then before the Combined 

Authority shall stand adjourned until the next ordinary meeting of the 
Combined Authority; or 

(iii) in case (c), the Motion then before the Combined Authority shall be 
regarded as lost and the Combined Authority shall proceed to the 
next item on the Agenda, if any; or 

(iv) in case (d), the meeting shall stand adjourned. 

 
13.10 If the Chair is of the opinion that the matter before the Combined Authority 

has been sufficiently discussed the Chair may put the Motion that the 
question now be put. 

 
13.11 The Chair shall decide all questions of order and any ruling by the Chair 

upon such questions and the interpretation of these Standing Orders  and 
upon matters rising in debate shall be final and shall not be open to 
discussion. 

 
13.12 A Motion to exclude the press and public in accordance with Section 100A 

of the Local Government Act, 1972 may be moved, without notice, at any 
meeting of the Combined Authority during an item of business whenever it is 
likely that if members of the public were present during that item there would 
be disclosure to them of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100A of the 1972 Act. 

 

Page 116



14. Voting  
  
 Please now refer to the Summary Voting Table to be found at Annex  3.  

 
15. Conduct of Members 

 
15.1   If the Chair is of the opinion that at a meeting any Member of the Combined 

Authority, or Substitute Member acting in that Member‟s place, has 
misconducted, or is misconducting him or herself by persistently 
disregarding the ruling of the Chair, or by behaving irregularly, improperly or 
offensively, or by wilfully obstructing the business of the Combined 
Authority, the Chair may notify the meeting of that opinion and may take any 
of the following actions either separately or in sequence: 

 
(a) the Chair may direct the Member to refrain from speaking during all or 

part of the remainder of the meeting of the Combined Authority; 

(b) the Chair may direct the Member to withdraw from all or part of the 
remainder of the meeting of the Combined Authority; 

(c) the Chair may order the Member to be removed from the meeting of 
the Combined Authority; and 

(d) the Chair may adjourn the meeting of the Combined Authority for 
such period as they consider expedient. 

 
15.2   In the event of general disturbance, which in the opinion of the Chair, 

renders the due and orderly dispatch of business impossible, the Chair, in 
addition to any other power vested in the Chair may, without question put, 
adjourn the meeting of the Combined Authority for such a period as the 
Chair considers expedient. 

 
16. Disturbance by Members of the Public 

 
16.1   If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting of the 

Combined Authority the Chair shall warn him or her. If they continue with the 
interruption, the Chair shall order his or her removal from the room. In the 
case of general disturbance in any part of the room open to the public, the 
Chair shall order that part to be cleared. 

 
17. Notification and Declaration of Interests 

 
Members of the Combined Authority shall comply with the Code of Conduct 
for Members contained in Part 6A of the Constitution. 

 
18. Records 

 
18.1   The Head of Paid Service shall ensure that the names of the Members of 

the Combined Authority present at any meeting of the Combined Authority, 
and any Substitute Member acting in a Member‟s place, shall be recorded in 
the Minutes of the meeting concerned. 

 

Page 117



18.2   The Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Combined Authority are 
to be kept in such form as the Combined Authority may from time to time 
determine. 

 
18.3   The Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Combined Authority 

shall be signed at the next suitable meeting of the Combined Authority. 
 
18.4  Any minute purporting to be signed as mentioned in sub-paragraph 18.3 

shall be received in evidence for the purposes of any legal proceedings 
without further proof. 

 
18.5   Until the contrary is proved, a meeting of the Combined Authority, a Minute 

of whose proceedings has been signed in accordance with this paragraph 
18 is deemed to have been duly convened and held, and all the Members of 
the Combined Authority present at the meeting, and any Substitute Member 
acting in a Member‟s place, are deemed to have been duly qualified. 

 
18.6   For the purposes of sub-paragraph 18.3, the next suitable meeting of the 

Combined Authority is the next following meeting of the Combined Authority. 
 

Page 118



 

 
MOTION PROPOSED (5 minutes) 

Proposer may speak 
 

 

** * * AMENDMENT PROCEDURE * * 

MOTION SECONDED (5 minutes) 
Seconder may speak or reserve the right to speak until later in debate 

on the motion (this right may be lost if an amendment is accepted) 

 

AMENDMENT PROPOSED (5 minutes) 
Proposer of amendment may speak 

 
  

                    IS AN AMENDMENT PROPOSED? 
 

AMENDMENT SECONDED (5 minutes) 
Seconder of amendment may speak then 

other members may speak

Amendments can be proposed at the meeting, but in the interests of  
efficiency it would be helpful if these are submitted to the Monitoring Officer   
                                 in advance of the meeting.  
 

 
NO 

Go to debate on motion 

 
 
YES 

Go to Amendment Procedure 

 
IS AMENDMENT ACCEPTED BY MOVER OF ORIGINAL MOTION? 

 

DEBATE ON MOTION 
(5 minutes each) 

Any member may speak once (except the proposer of the motion) 
 
 
 

MOTION CLOSING SPEECHES (5 Minutes) 
Seconder of motion (only if previously reserved the right to speak and 

has not already spoken during the debate) 
 

Proposer of motion – right of reply and summing up 

 
 

YES 
Becomes the substantive 

motion for debate 

NO 
Mover of original motion allowed 

up to 5 minutes to explain why they 
do not accept the amendment 

Move to vote on the 
amendment 

 
 
 
 
VOTE ON AMENDMENT 

 
               VOTE ON MOTION 
 

 CARRIED          LOST
     CARRIED LOST Becomes substantive motion 

Back for debate 
to debate on original 

motion 

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PART 4 SECTION B 
 
 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES  
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

No. Section 
1. Application 

2. Attendance at Meetings 

3.  Notices of Meetings 

4. Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting 

5. Supply of Copies 

6. Access to Minutes and Related Documents after the 

Meeting 

7. Background Papers 

8. Summary of Public‘s Rights 

9. Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings 

10. Exclusion of Access by the public to Reports 

11. Key Decisions 

12. Procedures before Taking Key Decisions 

13. Notice of a Key Decision – General Exception 

14. Notice of a Key Decision – Cases of Special Urgency 

15. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members – Additional 

Access to Documents 

  

Page 121

Item 4b



1.  APPLICATION  
  

Except as otherwise indicated, these rules apply to all meetings of the 
Combined Authority, the Committees and Sub-Committees, together with 
decisions to be made by the Metro Mayor and Key Decisions to be taken by 
Officers.  They do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in this Constitution or the law.  

  
2.  ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS  
  

Members of the public may attend all meetings, subject only to the exceptions 
in these rules.  

  
3.  NOTICES OF MEETINGS  
  
3.1 The Combined Authority will give at least five clear working days‘ notice 

(excluding the day of the meeting and day of despatch) of any meeting by 
posting details of the meeting at [No. 1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP].  

  
4.  ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 
4.1 Access to agendas, reports and associated documents in respect of a meeting 

of the Combined Authority are as determined by Part VA, Section 100A-100K of 
the Local Government Act 1972 (Access to Meetings and Documents of Certain 
Authorities, Committees and Sub-Committees) and The Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit 
Committees) Order 2017. 

  
The Combined Authority will make copies of the agenda and reports available 
for public inspection at the designated office at least five clear working days 
before the meeting and as far as possible, on the Combined Authority‘s web 
site.  If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be open to 
inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda.  Where reports are 
prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Monitoring Officer shall 
make each report available to the public as soon as the report is completed and 
sent to Members.  

  
5.  SUPPLY OF COPIES  
  
5.1 The Combined Authority will supply copies of and/or make available on the 

Combined Authority‘s web site:  
  

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;  
  
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 

the items in the agenda; and  
  
(c) if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied 

to Members in connection with an item.  
  

Should a person or organisation require a copy of an agenda to be posted to 
them an appropriate charge may be levied.  

Page 122



6.  ACCESS TO MINUTES AND RELATED DOCUMENTS AFTER THE 
MEETING  

  
6.1 The Combined Authority will make available copies of the following for six years 

after a meeting:  
  

(a) The Minutes of the meeting, excluding any part of the minutes of 
proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or which 
disclose exempt or confidential information;  

  
(b) The agenda for the meeting; and  
  
(c) Reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.  

   
7.  BACKGROUND PAPERS   
  

(a) List of background papers  
  
Each report must include a list of those documents (called background papers) 
relating to the subject matter of the report which:  
  
(i) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and  
 
(ii) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report,   

but, does not include those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 9) and in respect of executive reports or 
the advice of a political advisor. Nor do background papers include 
‗published works‘ e.g. legislation or statutory guidance  

  
(b) Public inspection of background papers  
  
The Combined Authority will make available for public inspection for four years 
after the date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 
background papers.  
  
(c) Background Documents to Executive Decisions  
  
At least one copy of each of the background documents listed for Metro 
Mayoral decisions taken must be available for inspection at the Combined 
Authority‘s offices and on the Combined Authority‘s website.  

  
8.  SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS  
  
8.1 These Rules are the written summary of the public‘s rights to attend meetings 

and to inspect and copy documents.  They are kept at and are available to the 
public at the Combined Authority offices at No. 1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 
1BP and on the website.  

 
9.  EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS  
  
 (a)  Confidential Information 

Page 123



A meeting must exclude the public during an item of business whenever it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that, if members of the public were present during that item, 
confidential information would be disclosed to them in breach of the obligation 
of confidence 
 
―Confidential information means:- 
 

(i)     information furnished to the Combined Authority or a Constituent Council 
by a Government department upon terms (however expressed) which 
forbid the disclosure of the information to the public; and 

(ii)     information, the disclosure of which to the public, is prohibited by or under 
any enactment or by the order of a court; 
and, in either case, the reference to the obligation of confidence is to be 
construed accordingly. 

  
(b)  Exempt Information  

  
A meeting may by resolution exclude the public during an item of business 
whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or 
the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present 
during that item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information, The 
resolution shall identify the proceedings, or the part of the proceedings, to 
which it applies, and state the description of the exempt information giving rise 
to the exclusion of the public,  
 
―Exempt information‖ means information for the time being defined in Part 1 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as follows:  
 
(i) The categories of exempt information and relevant qualifications are: 
  

(1)  Information relating to any individual.  
 
(2)  Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.  
 
(3)  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information).  
 

 - Information falling within this paragraph is not exempt information 
by virtue of this paragraph if it is required to be registered under:- 

  
(a)  the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies 

Act 2006);  
(b)  the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c)  the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d)  the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; 
(e)  the Building Societies Act 1986; or  
(f)  the Charities Act 2011. 

 
(4)  Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 

contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 

Page 124



labour relations matters arising between the authority or a Minister of 
the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.  

 
(5)  Information in respect of which a claim for legal professional privilege 

could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
 
(6)  Information which reveals that the authority proposes:  

(a) to give any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or  

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.  
 
(7)  (i) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 

connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.  
 

(ii) Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority may grant itself 
planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992.  
 
(iii) Information which— 
(a)    falls within any of (i)(1) to (i)(7) above; and 
(b)    is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of the qualification to 
(i)(3) or to (ii) above,  
 
is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 

  
10.  EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS  
  
10.1 If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Combined Authority may exclude access 

by the public to reports that relate to business that has either been published as 
part of an agenda for a forthcoming meeting of the Combined Authority, or has 
been transacted at a meeting, on or at a part of a meeting, which was not open 
to the public in accordance with Rule 9. Such reports will be marked ‗Not for 
Publication‘ together with the category of information likely to be disclosed.  

 
11.   KEY DECISIONS  
    
11.1 A ―Key Decision‖ means a decision of a decision maker, which in the view of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the Combined Authority is likely—  
 
(a) to result in the Combined Authority or the Metro Mayor incurring significant 
expenditure, or the making of significant savings, having regard to the 
combined authority‘s budget for the service or function to which the decision 
relates; or  

 
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on persons living or working in an 
area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the 
Combined Authority;  
 

Page 125



See also note under Part 3, Section H – Standing Delegations to the Head of 
Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer paragraph 6 relating to the 
Strategic Investment Funds.  

 
12.  PROCEDURES BEFORE TAKING KEY DECISIONS  
  
(a) Notice  

 
Where a decision maker intends to make a Key Decision that decision must not be 
made until a notice has been published which states:- 

(i) that a key decision is to be made in relation to the discharge of functions which 
are the responsibility of the Combined Authority;  

(ii) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made;  

(iii) the decision maker‘s name, and title if any;  

(iv) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be made;  

(v) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for consideration in 
relation to the matter in respect of which the key decision is to be made;  

(vi) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 
disclosure under Rule 10, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is 
available;  

(vii) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 
decision maker; and  

(viii) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 
become available. 
 

(b) Publication of the Notice  
 

Subject to Rule 13 (general exception) and Rule 14 (special urgency), a key decision 
may not be taken unless:  

 
(i) the notice referred to at 12(a) above has been published —  

(1) if the Combined Authority has a website, on its website; or  

(2) otherwise, in such manner as it thinks is likely to bring the notice to the 
attention of persons who live in its area; and  

made available for inspection by the public at the offices of the Combined 
Authority [at No. 1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP]; 

(ii)  at least twenty eight days have elapsed since the publication of the notice; and  

(iii)  where the decision is to be taken at [or in the presence of] a meeting of the 
Combined Authority or its committees, notice of the meeting has been given in 
accordance with Rule 4 (notices of meetings) above. 

 

(c) Treatment of confidential and exempt information 
 
Where, in relation to any matter—  

Page 126



(i) the public may be excluded under section 100A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 from the meeting at which the matter is to be discussed; or  

(ii) documents relating to the decision need not, because of Rule 9a 
(confidential information), be disclosed to the public,  

the notice referred to above must contain particulars of the matter but may not 
contain any confidential information or exempt information or particulars of the 
advice of a political adviser.  
 
13  NOTICE OF A KEY DECISION - GENERAL EXCEPTION  
 

(a)  Subject to Rule14, where the publication of the intention to make a Key 
Decision under Rule12 is impracticable, that decision may only be made:- 

 
(i) where the Monitoring Officer has informed the Chair of the  Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee or, if there is no such person, each Member 
of the  Overview and Scrutiny Committee by notice in writing, of the 
matter about which the decision is to be made;  

(ii) where the Monitoring Officer has made available to the public at the 
offices of the Combined Authority for inspection by the public and 
published on the Combined Authority‘s website, if it has one, a copy of 
the notice given pursuant to sub-paragraph (i); and  

(iii) after 5 clear days have elapsed following the day on which the 
Monitoring Officer made available the copy of the notice referred to in 
sub-paragraph (ii).  

 
(b) Where paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies to any matter, Rule 12 need not be 

complied with in relation to that matter.  
 
(c) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Monitoring Officer has 

complied with paragraph (a), he or she must:-  
(i) make available to the public at the offices of the Combined Authority a 

notice setting out the reasons why compliance with Rule 12 is 
impracticable; and  

(ii) publish that notice on the Combined Authority‘s website, if it has one.  
 
14  NOTICE OF A KEY DECISION - CASES OF SPECIAL URGENCY  
 

(a)  Where the date by which a key decision must be made makes compliance 
with Rule 13 impracticable, the decision may only be made where the 
decision maker has obtained agreement from:- 

 
(i) the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; or  
(ii) if there is no such person, or if the Chair of the Overview and 

Scrutiny committee is unable to act, the chair of the Combined 
Authority; or  

(iii) where there is no Chair of either the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or of the Combined Authority, the Vice-Chair of the 
Combined Authority, that the making of the decision is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred.  

Page 127



(b)  As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision maker has obtained 
agreement under paragraph (a) that the making of the decision is urgent 
and cannot reasonably be deferred, the decision maker must:-  

 
(i)  make available to the public at the offices of the Combined Authority 

a notice setting out the reasons why the meeting is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred; and  

(ii)  publish that notice on the Combined Authority‘s website, if it has one. 
  
15.  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEMBERS  

– ADDITIONAL ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS  
  

(a) Rights to copies  
  

Subject to 15b below, a Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
Sub-Committee will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the 
possession or control of the Combined Authority or the Metro Mayor and which 
contains material relating to:- 
  
(i) any business that has been transacted at a meeting of a decision-making 

body of that authority; or  
(ii) any decision that has been made by the Metro Mayor or any other 

individual Member of the Combined Authority.  
  
  Such documents are to be provided as soon as possible and in any case no 

later than 10 clear days after the request has been received.  
    

(b) Limits on rights  
  

The  Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to 
any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, unless 
that information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing or 
scrutinising or intend to scrutinise.  

  
Where the Combined Authority or the Metro Mayor determines that a Member 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is not entitled to a copy of a requested 
document it must provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a written 
statement setting out their reason for that decision.  

 

Page 128



PART 4 - SECTION C 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
ARRANGEMENTS 

 
CONTENTS 

 
No. Section 

 
1. Function of Overview and Scrutiny at a City Region Level 

2. Membership 

3.  Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

4. Meetings of the Committee 

5. Work Programme 

6. Agenda 

7. Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committees 

8. Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups 

9. General 

10. The Value of Pre-Scrutiny Work 

11. Relationship with Constituent Councils 

12. Evidence Gathering 

13. Call In 

14. Outcome of the Call In 

15. Exclusions to Call In 

16. Reports and Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

17. The Party Group Whip 

18. Scrutiny Officer 

19. Constituent Council Support to Overview and Scrutiny 

20. Advice to Overview and Scrutiny 

 
  

Page 129

Item 4c



1. Function of Overview and Scrutiny at a City Region Level 
 

Introduction 
 
1.1 The Combined Authority is supported by Overview and Scrutiny arrangements 

in order to achieve greater public accountability over the Liverpool City Region 
and in respect of those functions under the remit of the Combined Authority and 
the elected Metro Mayor. 

 
Powers 

 
1.2 These arrangements ensure that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 

power: 
 

(a)  to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 
connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility 
of the Combined Authority or of the Metro Mayor when exercising 
responsibility for any general functions of the Combined Authority:- 

 
(i) in all circumstances; and 
(ii) in respect of a decision made but not implemented (referred to as 

‘call-in’) to include the power: 
(1) to direct that a decision is not to be implemented while it is 

under review or scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; and 

(2) to recommend that the decision be reconsidered; 
 
(b)  to make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or to 

the Metro Mayor with respect to the discharge of any functions that are 
the responsibility of the Combined Authority or of the Metro Mayor when 
exercising responsibility for any general functions of the Combined 
Authority; and  

 
(c)  to make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or to 

the Metro Mayor on matters that affect the Combined Authority's area or 
the inhabitants of the area. 

 
Approach 

 
1.3 The principal ways in which the Metro Mayor and the Combined Authority will 

be 'held to account ' via Scrutiny are:- 
  
(a) in the role of ‘Critical Friend’;  

(b) via call-in; and   
(c) through monitoring the delivery of the Combined Authority and the Metro 

Mayor’s Strategic Plan and Policies.   
 

1.4 Scrutiny will support the Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor to:-   

 develop policies to deal with new issues  

 review existing policies which are considered to be in need of review  

Page 130



 contribute to the formulation and review of the annual budget  

 review policies or actions of agencies external to the local authorities which 
may be impacting adversely on the quality of life of local people  

 to undertake scrutiny reviews into areas of strategic importance for the City 
Region. 

 
1.5 The Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to consider 

matters of strategic significance for the Liverpool City Region area with a view 
to focusing on sub-regional issues that are directly linked to the work of the 
Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor.  
 

1.6 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will take a similar approach to a 
Parliamentary Select Committee. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members 
will collect evidence through a variety of sources, including:- 
  

 questioning expert ‘witnesses;’   

 receiving reports and other literature;   

 undertaking consultation; and   

 communication with stakeholders.   
 

1.7 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will work with this information to make 
suggestions for improvement, acknowledge good practice and make 
recommendations. 
 

1.8 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not deal with individual issues or 
queries that are more suitably dealt with by a Constituent Council or specific 
organisation.  

 
1.9 The findings of each review will be submitted to the Metro Mayor and/or 

Combined Authority for consideration.   
 

1.10 There are a number of potential sources for identifying in-depth studies to be 
carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  
 

 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee itself;  

 the Metro Mayor;  

 the Combined Authority and its Members; 

 the Combined Authority Corporate Plan; and  

 the Forward Plan. 
 
1.11 The Metro Mayor and/or the Combined Authority may request scrutiny of a 

particular policy or matter before agreeing a policy or taking a decision.   
 

1.12 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may review the outcomes of the 
Combined Authority or Metro Mayor’s Corporate or Strategic Plans. Any 
involvement of scrutiny in this activity needs to demonstrate that it adds value 
to what the Metro Mayor and the Combined Authority, its Committees are trying 
to achieve.  

 

Page 131



1.13 Scrutiny will also act when it is concerned about evidence of poor performance, 
and it is not satisfied by the Metro Mayor’s or Combined Authority’s response to 
it. 

 
2 Membership 
 
2.1 As set out at Part 3(C) of this Constitution:- 

 
(a)  at the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, the Combined Authority 

shall appoint such a number of Members of each of the Constituent 
Councils to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, so that the Members of 
the Committee taken as a whole reflect so far as reasonably practicable 
the balance of political parties for the time being prevailing among 
Members of the Constituent Councils when taken together 

 
(b) an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee may not include 

a Member of the Combined Authority or Sub-Committee (including the 
Metro Mayor) or a voting Member of a Committee whose terms of 
reference include responsibility for the exercise of functions of the 
Combined Authority (other than functions relating to Overview and 
Scrutiny or Audit and Governance Committees). 

 
(c) non-voting Members may be Co-opted from other organisations in such 

manner and at such times as the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may 
decide and voting Members may be Co-opted by resolution of the 
Combined Authority, subject to maintaining that the majority of Members 
of the Committee or any Sub-Committee must be Members of Constituent 
Councils. 

 
2.2 A protocol will be drawn up and agreed by the Combined Authority to secure 

political balance on the Committee. This will include: 
(a) an annual review based on the election results in any given year; and 
(b) provision for leaders of the respective Opposition Political Groups to 

collectively agree their party nominations to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

3 Overview and Scrutiny Committee   
 
3.1 Any Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee who is also appointed 
to any ordinary (functional) Committee of the Combined Authority, cannot participate 
in the operation of the Overview and Scrutiny arrangements on any issues which 
were taken at any meeting of the Combined Authority or any Committee of the 

Combined Authority at which they were present.   
 

3.2 The term of office for Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
be one year from the date of the annual council meeting of the Constituent Council 
that nominates them to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, unless – 
  

a)  they cease to be an elected Member of the Constituent Council that 
appointed them;  

Page 132



b)  they wish to no longer participate in these arrangements; or  
c)  the Monitoring Officer is advised by any of the Constituent Councils that it 

wishes to change one or more of its nominees to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

 
4 Meetings of the Committee 

 
4.1 The Members appointed by the Combined Authority to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee will hold at least one annual meeting, being the first 
meeting following the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority and may 
convene additional meetings in accordance with these arrangements.  

4.2 At the annual meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and before 
proceeding to other business, the Committee will elect a Chair and Vice Chair 
and in so doing shall comply with any legislative requirement in respect of any 
such appointments (as outlined at Part 3, Section C of this Constitution) 

 
4.3 The quorum for the annual meeting and any other meetings of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee is two-thirds of the total number of Members that are 
present, of whom at least 6 must be Constituent Council Members from at 
least 4 of the Constituent Councils.  

 
4.4 The principle of decision-making at any such meeting shall be that, wherever 

possible, decisions will be made by agreement, without the need for a vote. If 
a vote is necessary, it will be a simple majority of those present and the Chair 
will not have a casting vote.  

 
4.5 The venue for each annual meeting and the usual venue for any other 

meetings will be the offices of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, 
save that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may choose to hold meetings 
other than the annual meeting in other venues if this is deemed to assist the 
Overview and Scrutiny process.  

 
4.6 Notice of the annual meeting and any other meetings of the Committee or 

Sub-Committees will be sent to each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Member in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1972 and the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out at Part 4B of this 
Constitution. 

 
5 Work Programme 
 
5.1 Each year, and at the annual meeting, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

shall:- 
 

(a) determine the areas of review and Overview and Scrutiny that they are 
likely to wish to pursue during the ensuing 12 months, subject to having 
consulted the Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor in developing 
that plan; and  

 
(b) agree to establish such Sub-Committees and Overview and Scrutiny, 

Task and Finish Groups from amongst their number (as set out below) 

Page 133



as it considers necessary to carry out agreed areas of review and 
scrutiny. 

 
6 Agenda 
 
6.1 The published agenda for each annual meeting and any other meetings will 

be established by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chair. 
 
6.2 Any Statutory Officer of the Combined Authority will be entitled to require an 

item to be placed on the agenda for the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or Sub-Committee, subject to consultation with the Chair 
concerning urgency and relevance to the functions of the Committee or Sub-
Committee. 

 
6.3 A request may be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer for referral of a 

matter to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or an Overview and Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee by:- 

 
(a) any Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  
(b) any Member of that Sub-Committee;  
(c) any Member of the Combined Authority; and  
(d) any Member of a Constituent Council or a non-Constituent Council of 

the Combined Authority.  
 
6.4 Subject to paragraphs 6.5 and 6.6 below, the Monitoring Officer shall confer 

with the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee 
concerned regarding the work programme and agenda planning and then, 
taking account of the urgency of the matter and the requirement for production 
of any associated reports, shall refer the matter by including it as an item on 
the agenda of a forthcoming meeting. 

 
6.5 Where a request is made under paragraph 6.3 above, the Monitoring Officer 

shall refuse to refer a matter to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-
Committee where, in the Monitoring Officer’s opinion, the referral is not 
relevant to the functions of the Committee or Sub-Committee, which will 
include where it is the Monitoring Officer’s view that the referral would have 
been better made under a Constituent Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
arrangements rather than those of the Combined Authority. 

 
6.6 Where a request is made under 6.3(c) or 6.3(d) above, the Monitoring Officer 

shall refuse to refer a matter to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-
Committee where, in the Monitoring Officer’s opinion, the referral is of an 
excluded matter in terms of:- 

 
(a) the matter being a local crime and disorder matter within the meaning of 

section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006; 
(b) the matter being: 

(i)  related to a planning decision; 
(ii)  related to a licensing decision; or 

Page 134



(iii)  related to a person in respect of which that person has a right of 
recourse to a review or right of appeal conferred by or under any 
enactment; 

 
unless it consists of an allegation that a function for which the Combined 
Authority is responsible has not been discharged at all or that its 
discharge has failed or is failing on a systemic basis; or 

 
(c)  the matter being vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be 

included in the agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or at a meeting of a Sub-Committee of 
that Committee. 

 
6.7 Before coming to his or her opinion as required at paragraphs 6.5 and 6.6 

above, the Monitoring Officer may first require discussion or consultation with 
the Member making the referral or with any other persons the Monitoring 
Officer believes may aid him or her in coming to that opinion or otherwise aid 
agenda planning or report writing in respect of that matter. 

 
7 Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committees 
 
7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may:- 
 

(a)  appoint one or more Sub-Committees, and 
(b)  arrange for the discharge of any of its functions by any such Sub-

Committee. 
 
7.2 Any Sub-Committee of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
  

(a) shall be Subject to the provisions of these Arrangements; and 
(b) may not discharge any functions other than those conferred on it under 

5.1 (b) above.  
 
8 Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups  
 
8.1 The annual meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may establish 

Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups to undertake agreed Overview 
and Scrutiny reviews.  

 
8.2 Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups shall, where possible, include 

Constituent Council Members from at least 4 of the Constituent Councils.  
 
8.3 Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups may only be appointed to 

carry out specific overview and scrutiny tasks and be time limited. Their 
continuation will be subject to confirmation at each annual meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
8.4 The Metro Mayor and/or the Combined Authority may also, if they choose, 

request that an Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Group be appointed to 

Page 135



examine a specific issue in more detail and report back its findings to the 
Combined Authority as appropriate. 

 
8.5 Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups may meet in private or in 

public as they consider fit. Any meeting held in private, as a Task and Finish 
Group, will not be required to comply with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules set out at Part 4B of this Constitution. 

 
8.6 Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups will have no delegated powers 

and will refer the outcome of their investigations to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for consideration and decision to them, if deemed appropriate, be 
recommended to the Metro Mayor and/or Combined Authority. 

 
9 General 
 
9.1 Subject to these provisions set out in this Section 2 of the Arrangements, 

meetings will proceed in accordance with the Meetings Standing Orders of the 
Combined Authority set out at Part 4A of this Constitution. 

 
10 The Value of Pre Scrutiny Work 
 
10.1 This is where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee looks at a planned 

decision shortly before (usually two to three weeks) it is made by the 
Combined Authority. It is often seen as a contrast with post-decision scrutiny 
through the call-in arrangements, whereby the implementation of a decision 
can be delayed.  Another way of carrying out pre-decision scrutiny is to try to 
look at a planned decision several months before it goes to the Combined 
Authority.  

10.2  Looking at decisions before they are made provides an important means to 
influence those decisions, and to improve them. It gives scrutineers an 
opportunity to challenge assumptions that may have been made as the 
decision was developed; it also gives them the chance to consider how 
decision-makers have considered what risks might arise from the 
implementation of the decision, and how those risks might be mitigated. 
Scrutiny Members bring a different perspective to the decision-making 
process than that provided by Combined Authority Members or Officers, which 
can help decisions to be more robust.  

 
10.3  The way in which the Overview and Scrutiny Committee carries out pre-

decision scrutiny will depend on the decision itself, timing and the level of 
resource available.  

 
10.4 Pre-decision scrutiny work carried out immediately prior to a decision being 

made will inevitably focus on questions being posed to the relevant Officers 
and Members. Work carried out beforehand, with more resources and time, 
can open out evidence gathering to include a wider selection of stakeholders, 
including partners and members of the public. 

 
11 Relationship with Constituent Councils 
 

Page 136



11.1 In exercising, or deciding whether to exercise, any of its functions an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee of a Combined Authority must have regard 
to any guidance for the time being issued by the Secretary of State. 

 
11.2 The Constituent Councils will work together to maximise the exchange of 

information and views, to minimise bureaucracy and make best use of the 
time of Members and Officers of other bodies or agencies. 

 
11.3 Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will, when considering 

reviews, determine whether the issue is more appropriately dealt with by one 
of the Constituent Councils or elsewhere and will not duplicate the work of 

existing bodies or agencies.   
 
12 Evidence gathering 
 
12.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee,  a Sub-Committee or a Task and 

Finish Group may, in fulfilling its functions: 
 

(a)  require the Metro Mayor, Deputy Metro Mayor, Members or Officers of 
the Combined Authority to attend before it to answer questions, and 

 
(b)  invite other persons to attend meetings of the Committee. 

12.2 A person on whom a request is made is not obliged by that requirement to 
answer any question which the person would be entitled to refuse to answer 
in or for the purposes of proceedings in a court in England and Wales. 

 
12.3 Subject to prior notice being given, the Constituent Councils will respond 

positively to requests for information, or for the attendance of a Member or 

Officer for any meetings set up under these arrangements.    
 
12.4 In making an invitation under 12.1(b) above to request the attendance of 

Officers employed by a Constituent Council to answer questions and give 
evidence at any Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings, those requests 
will be made via the Chief Executive of the relevant Constituent Council.  
 

12.5 Whilst it is ultimately for each Constituent Council to decide who it considers 
the most appropriate person(s) to speak on its behalf at any Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meetings in response to that invitation, consideration will 
be given to meeting specific requests. If any invitation is declined by a 
Constituent Council, that Council’s Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 
must state the reasons for so doing.  

 
12.6 Dates and times for Officer and Member attendance at any meetings set up 

under these arrangements should be by agreement wherever possible. 
 
12.7 If a request is made under paragraph 12.1(a) above and it is not complied 

with, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Sub-Committee or a Task and 
Finish Group can require the attendance of the said individual to aid with 
fulfilment of their functions.  

 

Page 137



13.  Call In 
 
13.1 The following sets out the details of how the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee proposes to exercise its powers in relation to the review and 
scrutiny of decisions made, but not yet implemented and its arrangements in 
connection with the exercise of those powers. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may change these at any time but must first:-  
 
 (a) obtain the consent of the Combined Authority to the proposals and 

arrangements; and  
(b) publish any changes. 

 
13.2 When a decision is made by the Combined Authority or the Mayor, or a key 

decision is made by an Officer under delegated authority, the decision shall be 
published, including, where possible, by electronic means, and shall be 
available at the Combined Authority’s offices normally within two days of being 
made.  Members of all Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be sent copies 
of the records of all such decisions within the same timescale, by the person 
responsible for publishing the decision.  

 
13.3 That notice of decision will bear the date on which it is published and will 

specify that the decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, 
on the expiry of five working days after the publication of the decision, unless 
it is called in.  

 
13.4 During that period of five working days after the publication, the Head of Paid 

Service shall call-in a decision for scrutiny if so requested in writing by two 
thirds of the Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In submitting 
the request for a decision to be called-in, the requester(s) must specify the 
reasons for wishing to call-in the decision. 

 
13.5 The call-in request will be deemed invalid where, in the view of the Monitoring 

Officer, the reason(s) for the call-in as expressed in the written request fails 
to:- 

 
a)  question the soundness of the decision, based on identified  

 irrelevant factors being taken into account or relevant factors either not 
or not sufficiently being taken into account by the decision-taker;  

b)  identify where the decision or decision-taker did not have sufficient 
regard to the Combined Authority policies or consultee responses in 
being guided to the decision; or 

c)  question whether the decision conforms with agreed policies.  
 
13.6 In identifying the reasons for the call-in request under paragraphs 13.5 (a) to 

(c) above, requester(s) shall provide as much information, detail, explanation, 
evidence and/or facts as possible so as to ensure that the full reasons, 
evidence, rationale and purpose of the call-in are understood. 

 
13.7 On receipt of the written request for call-in that is deemed to be valid, the 

Monitoring Officer shall arrange for a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 138



Committee to be convened at the first available opportunity and in any event 
within seven working days of the request being notified to him/her.  

 
13.8 The decision is then not to be implemented while it remains under review or 

scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
13.9 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider whether or not to 

exercise any of the powers open to it in relation to a matter referred to the 
Committee to:- 
(a) recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the decision-maker; 

and 
(b) recommend that the decision is not implemented until that process of 

reconsideration is completed 
 

13.10 In considering whether or not to exercise any of the powers open to it in 
relation to a matter referred, the Committee: 

 
(a) must have regard to any representations made by the Members 

submitting the call-in as to why it would be appropriate for the Committee 
to exercise any of these powers in relation to the matter; and 
 

(b) should address the following criteria, as to whether: 
 
(i) there are significant legal, financial or propriety issues relating to 

the proposal; 
(ii) the decision taker has failed to seek or to take into account any 

views expressed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
relevant Sub-Committee; 

(iii) the decision is likely to cause significant concern or distress to a 
local community or prejudice to individuals within it; 

(iv) the issue is one which has not been the subject of consultation, or 
has had a significant a process of consultation, as it ought; and 

(v) any damage to the interests of the Combined Authority will be 
caused by delay in taking or implementing the decision and, if so, 
whether that damage will be significant?  

 
14 Outcome of the Call-In 
 
14.1 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee resolves not to exercise any of 

its powers in relation to the matter, it must notify the Members calling-in the 
decision of its decision and the reasons for it and provide a copy for the 
decision maker.  
 

14.2 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee resolves to exercise any of its 
powers in relation to the matter, it must notify the decision-maker and set out 
the basis upon which reconsideration is requested and any other 
recommendations are made 

 
14.3 Upon receipt of a recommendation that the decision be reconsidered, the 

decision-making body will reconsider the decision and that reconsideration shall 

Page 139



take place within seven working  days of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s request. 

 
14.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall provide the Members calling-in the 

decision with a copy of any report or recommendations which it makes under 
14.2 above in connection with the matter referred to it by the Members. This 
publication will not include any confidential information or any relevant exempt 
information that the Committee must or may exclude, save that, where 
information is so excluded, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or the 
Combined Authority, or the Metro Mayor, in publishing, or providing a copy of, 
the document:- 

 
(i) may replace so much of the document as discloses the information with a 

summary which does not disclose that information; and  
(ii) must do so if, in consequence of excluding the information, the document 

published, or copy provided, would be misleading or not reasonably 
comprehensible.  

 
15 Exclusions to Call-In 

 
15.1 The call in procedure set out above shall not apply where, in the view of the 

decision-making body stated when the decision is made, any delay in 
implementing the decision would prejudice the interests of the Combined 
Authority or the interests of the public. To inform the view of the decision 
making body, the Monitoring Officer shall secure the view of the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the proposal to waive the call in 
procedure and duly report this to the decision making body in advance of their 
determination.  

 
15.2 No further requests for reconsideration may be made in cases where 

decisions have been reconsidered and the decision has been affirmed. 
 
15.3 Decisions which have been subject to pre-scrutiny by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee cannot be recommended for reconsideration unless the 
decision taken is, in the view of the Monitoring Officer, significantly different 
from the proposal under contemplation at the pre-scrutiny stage which 
occurred at the  Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting. 

 
16.   Reports and Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
16.1 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee makes a report or 

recommendation to the Combined Authority or the Metro Mayor, it may 
(a)  publish the report or recommendations;  
(b)  by notice in writing, require the Combined Authority to  

(i)   consider the report or recommendation;   
(ii)  provide a response to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

indicating what  action (if any) it proposes to take;   
(iii)   where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has published the 

report or recommendations, publish the response;   
  

Page 140



16.2 A notice under 5.1(b) above will require the Combined Authority and/or the 
Metro Mayor to comply with it within two months, beginning with the date on 
which the Metro Mayor and/or Combined Authority receives the report or 

recommendations or (if later) the notice.   
 
16.3   The Metro Mayor and/or Combined Authority will comply with a notice given 

under 16.1(b).   
 
16.4 The requirements or power to publish contained in 16.1(a) and 16.3 shall not 

apply where the reports contain exempt or confidential information.   
 
17.  The Party Group Whip 

"Any instruction given by or on behalf of a Political Group to any Member 
who is a Member of that Group as to how that Member shall speak or vote 
on any matter before a meeting of the Combined Authority or of any 
Committee or Sub -Committee, or the application or threat to apply any 
sanction by the Group in respect of that Member should he/she speak, vote 
or decide in any particular manner." 

 
17.1 Statutory Guidance and good practice in relation to Overview and Scrutiny 

views whipping as incompatible with the role of the Committee, where whipping 
is defined as  

 
17.2 Accordingly, when considering any matter in respect of which a Member of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a Party Group whip the Member 
must declare the existence of the whip, and the nature of it, before the 
commencement of the committee’s deliberations on the matter. The 
declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. 

 
18. Scrutiny Officer 
 
18.1 The Combined Authority must designate one of its Officers as the Statutory 

Scrutiny Officer of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to discharge the 
functions to: 

(a) promote the role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  

(b) provide support and guidance to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and its Members; and 

(c) provide support and guidance to Members of the Combined Authority and 
to the Metro Mayor in relation to the functions of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, 

(in respect of which the Overview and Scrutiny Committee includes the 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committees and Task and Finish Groups) 
 

18.2 The Combined Authority may not designate as the scrutiny Officer any Officer 
of a Constituent Council. 

 
 

Page 141



19 Constituent Council Support to Overview and Scrutiny 
 
19.1 The Overview and Scrutiny leads from each Constituent Council are to provide 

guidance to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on its work programme, 
advice on the scoping of reviews (at different levels) and ensuring the 
appropriate information and advice is made available during the reviews, where 

appropriate, through the use of expert witnesses.   
 
19.2 The decisions and recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

will be communicated to the Constituent Councils and to Merseytravel as 
appropriate, in addition to the Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor, as 

soon as practicable.   
 
20 Advice to Overview and Scrutiny   
 
20.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may ask individuals or Groups to assist 

it on a review by review basis and may ask independent professionals for 
advice during the course of reviews. Such individuals or Groups will not be able 
to vote.  

 
20.2  The Scrutiny Officer of each Constituent Council is to ensure that the work 

programmes and minutes relating to the work carried out by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in scrutinising the Combined Authority are circulated 
appropriately within their own Constituent Council’s overview and scrutiny 

arrangements.   
 
20.3 Each Constituent Council will nominate one of the Members of that Constituent 

Council who have been appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
act as that Constituent Council’s ‘Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny 
Link’. The Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Link will be responsible 
for reporting back to their own Constituent Council on the Overview and 
Scrutiny work carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and will also 
be responsible for reporting to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee any 
issues identified locally by their own Constituent Council which may warrant 
Overview and Scrutiny at a sub-regional level. The nomination of a Combined 
Authority Overview and Scrutiny Link and the way in which this role will be 
performed will be determined by each Constituent Council.  

Page 142



Part 5 
 

Financial Standing Orders 

 
 

CONTENTS 
 

 Section 
A Funding and Budget Procedures 

B Financial Procedure Rules 

C Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules  

D Land Procedure Rules  

 
 

Page 143

Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 5 - Section A 
 

Funding and Budget Procedure Rules 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 

 
 

No. Section 
A. Funding 

B. Setting of the Combined Authority’s Budget: Metro Mayor’s 

General Function 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 145

Item 5a



A. FUNDING 
 
1 COSTS TO BE MET FROM LEVYING 
 
1.1   Subject to paragraph (2) and to paragraphs (7) and (8) below, the Constituent 

Councils must ensure that any reasonably incurred costs of the Combined 
Authority are met to the extent that the Combined Authority has not decided to 
meet these costs from other resources available to the Combined Authority.  

 
1.2 Subject to paragraph (4), the Constituent Councils must meet the costs of the 

expenditure reasonably incurred by the Metro Mayor in, or in connection with, 
the exercise of the functions specified in (articles 3, 5, 6, 7, 10 and 19(1) of the 
2017 Order (S12017/430) to the extent that the Metro Mayor has not decided to 
meet these costs from other resources available to the Combined Authority.  

 
1.3 Any amount payable by each of the Constituent Councils to ensure that the 

costs of the Combined Authority referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) are met is 
to be determined by apportioning such costs between the Constituent Councils 
in such proportions as they may agree or, in default of such agreement, in 
proportion to the total resident population of the Combined Authority which 
resides in the Local Government area of that council at the relevant date as 
estimated by the UK Statistics Authority (or its successor). 

 
1.4 In relation to the expenditure mentioned in paragraph (2):-  

(a) to the extent to which such expenditure is to be met by amounts payable 
under arrangements made under paragraph (3):-  
(i) the Metro Mayor must agree with the Combined Authority, the total 

expenditure mentioned in paragraph (2) in advance of incurring this 
expenditure; and  

(ii) in the absence of the agreement specified in paragraph (i), no such 
expenditure may be incurred;  

(b) any precept issued in relation to such expenditure under regulations made 
under section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 is to be 
disregarded from any calculation of the costs of the expenditure. 

 
1.5  The functions mentioned in (articles 16 to 18 of the 2017 Order) are to be 

funded out of the levy issued by the Combined Authority to the Constituent 
Councils under section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and in 
accordance with the Transport Levying Bodies Regulations 1992 (SI 1992 
/2789 as amended). 

 
1.6  For the purposes of this article the relevant date in relation to a payment for a 

financial year is 30th June in the financial year which commenced two years 
prior to the financial year in which such payment is made. 

 
1.7 The costs of the Combined Authority reasonably attributable to the exercise of 

its functions relating to transport shall be met by means of two separate levies 
issued by the Authority to— 
(a) the district councils in the county of Merseyside; and 

Page 146



(b) Halton Borough Council under section 74 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988, and in accordance with regulations made thereunder. 

 
1.8 In determining the amount of the levies to be issued to Halton Borough Council 

for a financial year, no account may be taken of the cost of meeting any 
liabilities or expenses, including transferred pension liabilities, incurred by the 
Combined Authority or to be incurred in consequence of the abolition of the 
Integrated Transport Authority and transfer of functions, etc. (Art. 6, 2014 
Order). 

 
2. COSTS OF METRO MAYOR TO BE MET FROM PRECEPTS  
 
2.1 Subject to Section A1 above (and transitional provisions), the costs of the Metro 

Mayor that are incurred in, or in connection with, the exercise of Mayoral 
functions are to be met from precepts issued by the Combined Authority under 
section 40 of the 1992 Act (issue of precepts by major precepting authorities).  

 
B SETTING OF THE COMBINED AUTHORITY’S BUDGET:  

METRO MAYOR’S GENERAL FUNCTIONS 
 
1. Metro Mayor to notify the Combined Authority of proposed budget: 

general component  
 

(1)  The Metro Mayor must, before 1st February in any financial year, notify 
the Combined Authority of the Metro Mayor’s draft budget in relation to the 
following financial year.  

 
(2)  The draft budget must—  

(a) set out the Metro Mayor’s spending plans and how the Metro Mayor 
intends to meet the costs of the Metro Mayor’s general functions; 
and  

(b) include the relevant amounts and calculations.  
 
(3)  In this Section references to “the Combined Authority” are, except in Rule 

4(7) and (8) below, to be construed as references to Members of the 
Combined Authority other than the Metro Mayor.  

  
2  Combined Authority to review budget  
 

(1)  The Combined Authority must review the Metro Mayor’s draft budget 
notified to it under Rule 1.  

 
(2) The Combined Authority may make a report to the Metro Mayor on the 

draft budget.  
 
(3) Any report—  

(a) must set out whether or not the Combined Authority would approve 
the draft budget in its current form; and  

Page 147



(b) may include recommendations, including recommendations as to the 
relevant amounts and calculations that should be used for the 
financial year.  

 
(4)  The Metro Mayor’s draft budget shall be deemed to be approved by the 

Combined Authority unless the authority makes a report under paragraph 
(2) to the Metro Mayor before 8th February.  

 
3 Metro Mayor’s consideration of report  
 

(1) Where the Combined Authority makes a report under Rule 2, it must 
specify a period of at least five working days beginning on the day after 
the day on which the Metro Mayor receives the report within which the 
Metro Mayor may—  
(a) decide whether or not to make any revisions to the draft budget; and  
(b) notify the Combined Authority of the reasons for that decision and, 

where revisions are made to  the revised draft budget.  
 
4 Combined Authority’s decision on budget  
 

(1)  When any period specified under Rule 3 by the Combined Authority has 
expired the Combined Authority must determine whether to—  

 
(a) approve the Metro Mayor’s draft budget (or revised draft budget, as 

the case may be); or  
 

(b) veto the draft budget (or revised draft budget) and approve the Metro 
Mayor’s draft budget, incorporating the Combined Authority’s 
recommendations contained in the report to the Metro Mayor under 
Rule 2.  
 

(2) The Metro Mayor’s draft budget (or revised draft budget) shall be deemed 
to be approved unless vetoed within the relevant period in accordance 
with this Rule.  
 

(3) In making a decision on a question under paragraph (1) the Combined 
Authority must take into account the reasons given by the Metro Mayor 
under Rule 3.  
 

(4) Any decision to veto the Metro Mayor’s draft budget (or draft revised 
budget) and approve the Metro Mayor’s draft budget incorporating the 
Combined Authority’s recommendations contained in the report to the 
Metro Mayor under Rule 2 must be decided by a two-thirds majority of the 
Members, or Substitute Members acting in their place, of the Combined 
Authority present and voting on the question at a meeting of the 
Combined Authority.  
 

(5) In paragraph (2) “relevant period” means the period of five working days 
beginning with the day after the date on which the period specified under 
Rule 3 expires.  

Page 148



(6) Paragraph (7) applies in a case where the Metro Mayor has failed, in 
accordance with article 5(1), to notify the Combined Authority of the Metro 
Mayor’s draft budget before 1st February.  
 

(7) Where this paragraph applies, the Combined Authority must determine 
the relevant amounts and calculations that are to be used for the financial 
year.  
 

(8) Any decision under paragraph (7) must be decided by a two-thirds 
majority of the Members, or Substitute Members acting in their place, of 
the Combined Authority present and voting on the question at a meeting 
of the Combined Authority.  
 

(9) Paragraphs (4) and (8) have effect subject to—  
(a) paragraphs (10) and (11); and  
(b) any provision to the contrary in an order made under Part 6 of the 

2009 Act.  
 

(10) In paragraphs (4) and (8) “Member” and “Substitute Member” does not 
include any person who is not a Member of a Constituent Council.  

 
5 Calculations and amounts to be used in setting precept  
 

(1)  The relevant amounts and calculations which are approved by the 
Combined Authority in accordance with Rule 4 shall be used in making a 
calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute):-  
(a) under the provisions of the 1992 Act mentioned in paragraph (2); 

and  
(b) in calculating the amounts to be stated in a precept under Chapter 4 

of Part 1 of the 1992 Act (precepts).  
 
(2)  The provisions are:-  

(a) section 42A (calculation of council tax requirement by authorities in 
England);  

(b) section 42B (calculation of basic amount of tax by authorities in 
England);  

(c) sections 47 to 49 (calculation of tax for different valuation bands; 
calculation of amount payable by each billing authority; substitute 
calculations); and  

(d) section 52ZJ (major precepting authority’s duty to make substitute 
calculations).  

 
6 Transparency of budget decision  
 

(1) Immediately after any vote is taken at a meeting to consider a question 
under Rule 4, there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of 
that meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or 
against. 

 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION 5 – PART B 
 

FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES  
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. General 

2. The Role of the Treasurer 

3. The Role of Head of Paid Service, Directors and Monitoring 

Officers 

4. Managing Expenditure 

5. Accounting Policies Records and Returns 

6. Financial Management 

7. Financial Planning 

8. Maintenance of Reserves and Balances 

9. Treasury Management 

10. Banking Arrangements and Cheque Security 

11. Arrangements with External Organisations 

12. Income 

13. Ordering of and Payments for Works Goods and Services 

14. Insurance 

15. Internal Audit 

16. External Audit 

17. Inventories/Asset Registers 

18. Write-off Criteria 

 
  

Page 151

Item 5b



1 General 
 

1.1 These Financial Procedure Rules have been prepared in accordance with the 
Combined Authority’s Constitution. 
 

1.2 The Combined Authority is responsible for: 
(a) adopting the Combined Authority’s Constitution, including these 

Financial Procedure Rules; 
(b) setting policy and approving the Combined Authority’s budget; 
(c) approving procedures for the recording and reporting of its decisions 

taken;  
(d) the determination of the Levy to be issued to the Constituent Councils; 

and 
(e) the determination of the Precept to be issued. 

 
1.3 The Metro Mayor is responsible for keeping a fund (to be known as the Metro 

Mayor’s General Fund) in relation to receipts arising, and liabilities incurred, in 
the exercise of the Metro Mayor’s general functions, including the keeping of 
accounts of payments made into or out of the Metro Mayor’s General Fund. 
 

1.4 The Treasurer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of Financial 
Procedure Rules and submitting any changes necessary to the Combined 
Authority for approval.  The Treasurer is also responsible for reporting, where 
appropriate, breaches to the Financial Procedure Rules to the Combined 
Authority. 
 

1.5 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are 
responsible for compliance with these Financial Procedure Rules.  The Head 
of Paid Service, Directors and Monitoring Officer, with delegated authority 
may only delegate to other Officers who have the skills and knowledge 
appropriate to the task.  Officers shall be informed by his/her Head of Paid 
Service, Directors and Monitoring Officer of the extent of any sub-delegation.  
The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall supply 
the Treasurer with a list of sub-delegations which have been made and shall 
review and update this list on a regular basis. 
 

1.6 Where the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominated Officers require further guidance on the interpretation and 
application of these Financial Procedure Rules, this should be obtained from 
the Treasurer. 
 

2 The Role of the Treasurer  
 

2.1 The Treasurer is the responsible Officer for the proper administration of the 
Combined Authority’s financial affairs.  The Treasurer will also fulfil all relevant 
statutory responsibilities, including those set out in Part VIII of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988. 
 

Page 152



2.2 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to 
running the Combined Authority, including the policy framework and budget. 
 

2.3 The Treasurer will determine the standards of financial management to be 
observed by Lead Officers and will monitor compliance with them.  
 

3  The Role of the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring 
Officer 

 
3.1 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall promote 

the financial management standards set by the Treasurer and shall monitor 
adherence to the standards and practices. 
 

3.2 It is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer to consult with the Treasurer and seek advice on any 
matter likely to have a material effect on the Combined Authority’s finances, 
before any decisions are made. 
 

3.3 If the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer or Officer 
acting on behalf of the Combined Authority is aware of any contravention of 
these Financial Procedure Rules, they must immediately notify the Treasurer 
who shall determine appropriate action. 
 

4 Managing Expenditure 
 

4.1 All revenue and capital expenditure must be incurred in accordance with the 
Financial Procedure Rules and Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules or 
Land Procedure Rules of the Combined Authority, Merseytravel or the 
appropriate Constituent Council, unless otherwise determined by the 
Treasurer.  
 

4.2 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are expected 
to plan and manage their expenditure to ensure:- 

 
(a) that resources are used in the most efficient, effective and economic 

way; 
(b) that expenditure does not exceed the overall budget allocated; and 
(c) that future commitments for the Combined Authority are not made for 

which they have not identified future resources.  
 

4.3 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer  shall inform 
the Treasurer as soon as possible of all contracts, agreements, awards or 
other instruments involving the payment or receipt of money on behalf of the 
Combined Authority.  A record shall be maintained of all such transactions in 
a form to be determined by the Treasurer. 
 

5 Accounting Policies Records and Returns 
 

5.1 The Treasurer will determine the Combined Authority’s required accounting 
policies and procedures taking into account prevailing national and 

Page 153



international accounting requirements.  
 

5.2 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer and their 
Officers will adhere to the accounting policies and procedures as determined 
by the Treasurer. 

 
5.3 All the principal accounting and costing records of the Combined Authority 

shall be determined by the Treasurer and compiled under the Treasurer’s 
direction.  

 
5.4 The Treasurer shall exercise overall supervision and control over the form and 

standard of all financial records, financial statements and accounts kept by 
the Combined Authority and its Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer, and will determine the period for which such documents 
shall be kept.  

5.5 As soon as possible after the end of Combined Authority’s financial year in 
each year, the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer 
shall, in line with the guidance of the Treasurer, account for all income due to 
the Combined Authority for works goods and services supplied in the previous 
financial year (debtors), and all payments due for works goods and services 
received in the previous financial year (creditors). 

 
5.6 The Treasurer is responsible for preparation of the Combined Authority's 

annual statement of accounts in accordance with the Combined Authority’s 
accounting policies.  The Treasurer will:- 

 
(a) draw up the timetable for final accounts preparation;  
(b) make proper arrangements for the completion of the Combined 

Authority's accounts; 
(c) make proper arrangements for the audit of the Combined Authority's 

accounts; and 
(d) publish the audited accounts in accordance with the statutory 

timetable.  
 

5.7 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must maintain 
appropriate reconciliations and working papers to support the production of 
the annual statement of accounts in accordance with guidance issued by the 
Treasurer. 

 
5.8 The Combined Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee is responsible 

for the scrutiny and approval of the annual statement of accounts prior to their 
certification by the external auditor. Should the Audit and Governance 
Committee not be able to conclude this function for any reason, then it will be 
carried out by the Combined Authority.  

 
          The accounts will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee for 

sign off and will then be received by the Combined Authority accordingly.  
 
 
 

Page 154



6 Financial Management 
 

Budget Monitoring and Control – Revenue and Capital 
 

6.1 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are 
responsible for monitoring their income and expenditure against the revenue 
and capital budgets approved by the Combined Authority. 
 

6.2 The Treasurer will establish an appropriate framework of financial 
management and control for the Combined Authority which ensures that:-  
(a) budget management is exercised within approved Combined Authority 

revenue and capital budgets;  
(b) expenditure and income is monitored using information held on the 

Combined Authority’s corporate financial information system; and 
(c) timely and sufficient information on receipts and payments on each 

budget is available to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary 
responsibilities. 
 

6.3 Unless otherwise determined by the Treasurer, each of the Head of Paid 
Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall make appropriate 
arrangements for compliance with the Combined Authority’s Financial 
Procedure Rules for the proper management and monitoring of revenue and 
capital income and expenditure. 

 
6.4 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must 

personally ensure that any information which suggests a potentially significant 
variation against their approved budget (both overspends and underspends) 
is notified at the earliest opportunity to the Treasurer. Where appropriate, the 
Treasurer shall prepare a specific report for the Combined Authority to 
consider the proposed approach to mitigate the effects of such variation. 

 
6.5 In respect of a forecast overspend that cannot be contained within the 

relevant approved budget, the  Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring  Officer should seek to identify proposed corrective action or 
alternative funding options.  The Treasurer will work with the Head of Paid 
Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer to consider these options.  
Wherever possible, action should be taken by the Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring Officer to reduce planned levels of expenditure.  
 

6.6 Where additional revenue or capital resources become available, or are 
forecast to become available, the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer must notify the Treasurer at the earliest opportunity.  If 
deemed appropriate, the Treasurer shall prepare a specific report for the 
Combined Authority to consider the allocation of the additional available 
resources. 
 

6.7 At the end of each financial year, the Treasurer will report to the Combined 
Authority on the treatment of any residual overspending or underspending 
against the Combined Authority’s revenue and capital budgets. 
 

Page 155



Reporting of Budget Monitoring 
 

6.8 The Treasurer will prepare revenue and capital budget monitoring reports in 
conjunction with the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring 
Officer for presentation to the Combined Authority on a regular basis.  The 
frequency and content of these reports shall be determined by the Treasurer, 
in consultation with the Combined Authority. 
 
Approval for Capital Expenditure 
 

6.9 Where the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer wish to 
propose new capital schemes or blocks for inclusion in the Combined 
Authority’s capital programme, they must first consult the Treasurer who will 
determine the approach to be taken for approval of the proposal. 
 
The Capital Programme 
 

6.10 The Capital Programme will be reported to the Combined Authority at regular 
intervals as determined by the Treasurer. 
  

6.11 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must ensure 
that capital expenditure plans are phased as accurately as possible, and as 
soon as possible.  These should be based on estimates if there is uncertainty 
regarding confirmation of funding sources or scheme details. 
 

6.12 Any proposal to re-phase (i.e. delay or bring forward) programmed capital 
expenditure should be notified by the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer to the Treasurer at the earliest opportunity.  If deemed 
appropriate, the Treasurer shall prepare a report for the Combined Authority 
to consider the proposal.  

 
7 Financial Planning  

 
Budget Preparation  
 

7.1 The Combined Authority is required to establish an annual budget in line with 
its strategic plan.  The Treasurer shall determine the appropriate timetable for 
the preparation of the annual budget that conforms to the statutory deadlines, 
including those in relation to setting the Levy for Constituent Councils. 
 

7.2 The annual budget must take proper account of available resources and 
financial risk. 
 

7.3 Each financial year, as part of the Combined Authority’s ongoing Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, the Head of Paid Service, Directors and the 
Monitoring Officer will develop annual revenue and capital budget proposals 
in consultation with the Treasurer for consideration by the Combined 
Authority. 
 

Page 156



7.4 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall also 
prepare a rolling three-year programme of capital expenditure, identifying 
realistic phasing of all approved schemes. 
 

7.5 The Treasurer will advise the Combined Authority on the robustness of budget 
proposals and the adequacy of reserves in accordance with his/her 
responsibilities under these Financial Procedure Rules.  
 

8 Maintenance of Reserves and Balances 
 

8.1 All revenue reserves held by the Combined Authority will be kept under review 
by the Treasurer with a view to ensuring that they are spent on their specified 
purposes and that planned expenditure is properly phased. 
 

8.2 The Treasurer will advise the Combined Authority on prudent levels of 
reserves and general balances for the Combined Authority. 
 

8.3 The Combined Authority will determine a reserves strategy as part of its 
Medium Term Financial Strategy on advice provided by the Treasurer. 
 

8.4 In establishing its reserves strategy, the Combined Authority must consider all 
known financial risks and future liabilities of the Combined Authority. 
 

9 Treasury Management 
 

9.1 The Combined Authority’s treasury management activities shall be defined as 
the management of its investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks. 
 

9.2 All treasury management activity shall be undertaken in full compliance with 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of Practice: 
Treasury Management in Public Services (revised 2011) as may be revised 
from time to time or such other practices and procedures as may be approved 
by the Combined Authority. 
 

9.3 All investments and borrowings shall be made in the name of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
9.4 All of the Combined Authority’s funds shall be aggregated for the purposes of 

the treasury management and shall be under the control of the Treasurer. 
 

9.5 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall ensure 
that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in 
companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the prior approval of the 
Treasurer and the Combined Authority. 
 

Page 157



9.6 Credit arrangements, such as finance leases, operating leases, and borrowing 
cannot be entered into without the approval of the Treasurer. 
 

10 Banking Arrangements and Cheque Security 
 

10.1 No Officer other than the Treasurer may open any bank account in the name 
of the Combined Authority. 
 

10.2 The Combined Authority’s banking terms and overdraft arrangements shall be 
agreed by the Treasurer. 
 

10.3 All arrangements for the ordering and issuing of cheques shall be made by 
the Treasurer, who shall make proper arrangements for their custody. 
 

10.4 All cheques drawn on behalf of the Combined Authority shall be signed by the 
Treasurer. 
 

11 Arrangements with External Organisations 
 
Partnerships 

 
11.1 The Treasurer must be consulted prior to the establishment of any financial 

arrangements as part of partnerships or joint arrangements with external 
companies, other public organisations and Community and Voluntary Groups.   
No partnership or joint arrangements shall be entered into without the 
approval of the Combined Authority. 
 

11.2 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must confirm 
whether any arrangement requires the Combined Authority to be designated 
an ‘Accountable Body’.  Where this is the case, the Treasurer must be 
consulted and approval of the Combined Authority must be obtained prior to 
the arrangement becoming operational. 
 

11.3 The financial arrangements of all partnerships where the Combined Authority 
is the Accountable Body should meet the requirements of the Combined 
Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules and Procurement and Contract 
Procedure Rules.  
 

11.4 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must ensure 
that the accounting and monitoring arrangements to be adopted relating to 
partnerships and joint arrangements are in accordance with the requirements 
of the Treasurer. 
 
External Funding 
 

11.5 The Treasurer must be consulted on all submissions to Central Government 
and external agencies for funding.  Prior to making any submission in relation 
to external funding, The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring 
Officer must ensure that: 

 

Page 158



(a) an exit strategy is identified to manage the ultimate cessation of the 
funding stream with no adverse impact on the Combined Authority; 

(b) any match-funding requirements are given due consideration prior to 
entering into long-term agreements and that future revenue budgets 
reflect these requirements; and 

(c) they are able to comply with the terms and conditions of a grant 
scheme, including auditor certification requirements, before accepting 
them. 
 

11.6 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must seek 
approval from the Treasurer before accepting any offer of funding from 
external bodies. 
 

11.7 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must ensure 
that all funding from external bodies is recorded, monitored and accounted for 
in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules and also the requirements of 
the funding body.  
 

11.8 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are 
responsible for ensuring that all expenditure to be funded by grant is properly 
incurred in accordance with the requirements and conditions of the funding 
body, and is supported by adequate evidence. 
 

11.9 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are 
responsible for ensuring the completion and submission of grant claims.  The 
Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must also ensure 
that grant claims comply with the requirements and grant conditions of the 
funding body, and are submitted promptly and supported by adequate 
evidence.  The Treasurer will provide guidance and advice on compliance 
with general and specific grant conditions and the requirements for 
submission.   
 

11.10 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer must ensure 
that all income and expenditure relating to external funding approvals is 
properly budgeted for.  These budgets should be monitored as part of the 
budget monitoring arrangements set out in these Financial Procedure Rules. 
 

11.11 The Treasurer will maintain a register of bids submitted to external bodies 
together with a register of all grant arrangements entered into with external 
bodies.  The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer are 
responsible for ensuring that the information held on these registers is 
accurate and up to date in accordance with the Combined Authority’s External 
Funding Strategy.  
 

12 Income 
 

12.1 All monies received on behalf of the Combined Authority shall be paid in full 
into the Combined Authority’s bank account or, where approved by the 
Treasurer, Merseytravel or the relevant Constituent Council’s bank account. 
 

Page 159



12.2 Any Value Added Tax should be accounted for separately. 
 

12.3 The write off of unrecoverable debt should be in accordance with the 
Treasurer’s write off criteria (see Financial Procedure Rule 19 below).  

 
Fees and Charges (including Tunnel Tolls) 

 
12.4 Any proposal to introduce new charges or make changes in existing charges 

for the provision of services by the Combined Authority must be in line with 
the guidance of the Treasurer and must be agreed by the Combined 
Authority. 
 

12.5 A schedule of all fees and charges for the provision of services will be 
presented by the Treasurer for approval by the Combined Authority on an 
annual basis. 
 

13 Ordering of and Payments for Works Goods and Services 
 

General Ordering Procedures 
 
13.1 All orders for works goods and services must be made in accordance with the 

Combined Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules and Procurement and 
Contract Procedure Rules.   

 
Contract Payments and Variations 

 
13.2 Payments to contractors on account of contracts must be made in accordance 

with the requirements of the Combined Authority’s Financial Procedure Rules 
and Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
13.3 Where a breach of contract occurs, the Head of Paid Service, Directors and 

the Monitoring Officer concerned shall seek appropriate legal advice and, in 
consultation with the Treasurer, shall prepare a statement of any liquidated 
and ascertained damages, or such other penalties stipulated in the contract.  
Any breach that may lead to termination of the contract shall be reported to 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 
13.4 Any variation in the amount of a contract must be notified to the Treasurer. 

Where appropriate the Treasurer may require the matter to be reported to the 
Combined Authority. 

 
14 Insurance 
 
14.1 The Treasurer, in consultation with the Head of Paid Service, Directors and 

the Monitoring  Officer, shall be responsible for ensuring that all insurable 
risks of the Combined Authority are adequately covered, for maintaining the 
necessary records and for making all claims on behalf of the Combined 
Authority. 

 

Page 160



14.2 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall notify the 
Treasurer promptly of all risks, liabilities, properties or vehicles which are 
required to be insured, and of any alterations affecting risk or insurances 
indicating the amount of cover required.  

 
14.3 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall 

immediately notify the Treasurer of any fire, loss, accident or other event that 
may give rise to a claim against the Combined Authority's insurers. 

 
15 Internal Audit 
 
15.1 The Treasurer shall be responsible for maintaining an independent continuous 

audit of the financial records, operations and systems of internal control as 
laid down in the Accounts and Audit Regulations and the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.  

 
15.2 The Treasurer, or nominated individuals undertaking internal audit functions, 

shall have authority to visit all establishments of the Combined Authority, shall 
have access to all relevant records of any Service, and shall be entitled to 
require the production of all cash, stores and other property and to obtain 
information or explanations with regard to any matters under examination. 

 
15.3 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall notify the 

Treasurer immediately of any circumstances which may suggest the 
possibility of irregularity or loss affecting cash, stores, property or transactions 
of the Combined Authority.  Where the Treasurer considers that an irregularity 
may have occurred, action shall be taken by way of an investigation and 
report. 

 
15.4 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall consider 

and respond promptly to recommendations in audit reports and ensure that 
any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are implemented in a 
timely manner. 

 
16 External Audit 

 
16.1 The Treasurer will ensure that external auditors are given reasonable access 

to premises, personnel, documentation and assets considered necessary for 
the purposes of their work and to ensure effective liaison with the Combined 
Authority’s internal audit function. 
 

16.2 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall ensure 
all records and systems are up to date and available for inspection by the 
external auditor. 
 

17 Inventories/Asset Registers 
 
17.1 The Head of Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer shall ensure 

that an inventory is prepared and maintained in a manner agreed with the 
Treasurer. 

Page 161



 
17.2 Write off of any assets should be in accordance with the Treasurer’s write off 

criteria (see Financial Procedure Rule 18 below).  
 

17.3 The disposal of surplus, obsolete, or redundant equipment shall be effected in 
accordance with the procedures laid down by the Treasurer.  

 
18 Write-Off Criteria 
 
18.1 Any write offs shall be in accordance with the following write off criteria: 
 

Value of Individual 
Item to be Written 
off 

Authorisation Required 

Up to and including 
£50,000 

Appropriate the Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring  Officer and the 
Treasurer  (unless considered by the 
appropriate the Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring  Officer and/or 
the Treasurer that the item should be 
referred to the Combined Authority) 

Above £50,000 Appropriate the Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring Officer and the 
Treasurer in consultation with the Chair of 
the Authority (unless considered by the 
appropriate the Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring Officer and/or 
the Treasurer that the item should be 
referred to the Combined Authority). 

 
 

Page 162



SECTION 5 PART C 
 

PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES  
 

Contents  
 

No. Section 

 

1. Definitions 
2. General 
3. Scope 
4. Commissioning 
5. Pre-tender Market Research and Consultation 
6. Procedures Applicable to All Procurements after 

Commissioning 
7. Procedure Applicable to Low Value Procurements 
8. Procedure Applicable to Intermediate Value 

Procurements 
9. Procedures Applicable to High Value and High Risk 

Procurements 
10. Absolute Exemptions from Procurement Procedure Rules 
11. Qualified Exemption from Procurement Procedure Rules 
12. Tenders 
13. Award of Contract 
14. 
15. 
16. 
17. 

Form of Contract 
Authentication of Documents 
Termination of Contract 
Legal Proceedings 

 
  

Page 163

Item 5c



1.         Definitions 
 
           Within these Procurement and Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules 
 (PPR):- 
 

(a)      Central Purchasing Body” means contracting authorities that acquire 
goods, services or works intended for one or more contracting 
authorities, award contracts intended for one or more contracting 
authorities and / or conclude framework agreements for goods, 
services or works intended for one or more contracting authorities 
including without limitation Crown Commercial Services and Yorkshire 
Purchasing Organisation; 

 
(b)      Combined Authority” means the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority or Merseytravel as appropriate; 
 
(c)      Commissioning” means the process of specifying, consulting with 

affected Officers and monitoring of services to meet service needs both 
in the short and long term as outlined in more detail in paragraph 4 
below; 

 
(d)     “Contract Review” means a process to assess the performance/delivery 

and value for money of an existing contract from both a commercial 
and outcome based approach which will influence the future 
contractual relationship with any incumbent contractor; 

 
(e)     “Contracts Finder” means a web based portal provided for the purposes 

of the Regulations; 
 
(f)      “Delegated Decision” means a decision named as such in the 

Combined Authority‟s or Merseytravel‟s Scheme of Delegation; 
 
(g)     “Decision” means a decision named as such in the Combined 

Authority‟s or Merseytravel‟s Scheme of Delegation; 
 
(h)      Director” means a Director of the Combined Authority or Merseytravel 

as appropriate; 
 
(i)      “Dynamic Purchasing System” means an electronic process for making 

commonly used purchases, the characteristics of which are generally 
available on the market.  Throughout the validity it is open to any 
suppliers which satisfy the selection criteria;  

 
(j)       EPS” means the Combined Authority‟s electronic process of tendering 

for goods, services and works; 
 
(k)      Electronic Auction” means an electronic auction conducted in 

accordance with procedures determined by the Monitoring Officer; 
 

Page 164



(l)      “Framework Agreement” means an agreement between one or more 
contracting authorities  and one or more contractors, the purpose of 
which is to establish the terms governing contracts to be available 
during a given period in particular with regard to price, as detailed in 
the Regulations; 

 
(m)    “Head of Service” means those Officers who are so designated by the 

Combined Authority as a Head of Service, Senior Head of Service or 
Rolling Stock Project Director; 

 
(n)     “High Risk Procurement” means a procurement that:- 

 
(i)        has potential implications for the health and safety of 

employees, service users, residents of the Liverpool City 
Region, contractors or other stakeholders; 

(ii)       has potential business continuity implications, for example 
where failure of supply would have implications on the 
Combined Authority‟s ability to deliver proper services; 

(iii)      is for goods, services or works that are provided directly to 
children and/or other vulnerable Members of the community; 

(iv)      is for goods, services or works where there is a potential 
environmental impact;  

(v)       is for goods, services or works where there is any other 
identifiable risk either to the reputation, financial standing or 
ability to deliver services on the part of the Combined Authority;  

           and/or 
(vii)     is determined to be such once assessed in accordance with the 

Combined Authority Corporate Risk Impact Ratings;  
 
(o)      High Value Procurement” means a procurement with a total aggregated 

value over £150,000 calculated in accordance with paragraph 6 below 
(exclusive of VAT);  

 
(p)     “Intermediate Value Procurement” means a procurement with a total 

aggregated value between £20,000 and £150,000 calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 6 below (exclusive of VAT); 

 
(q)      “ITT” means an Invitation to Tender or an Invitation to Quote; 
 
(r)      “Low Value Procurement” means a procurement with a total aggregated 

value under £20,000 calculated in accordance with paragraph 6 below 
(exclusive of VAT); 

 
(s)      “Monitoring Officer” means the Monitoring Officer of the Combined 

Authority or the Secretary of Merseytravel as appropriate; 
 
(t)      “Officers” means any officer employed by the Combined Authority; 
 
(u)     “One Place” means the Combined Authority‟s corporate intranet; 
 

Page 165



(v)     “Purchase Order” shall mean a purchase order in the format prescribed 
by the Treasurer of the Combined Authority; 

 
(w)     “Register” means a register of Bus Service Operators maintained in 

accordance with the Transport Act 1985; 
 
(x)     “Regulations” means The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, The 

Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 and/or the Concession Contract 
Regulations 2016 (as appropriate and as amended or replaced); 

 
(y)     “Select List” means lists of approved contractors for the provision of 

goods services and/or works established under these PPR and as 
approved by the Combined Authority; 

 
(z)     “SME‟s” means an enterprise falling within the category of micro, small 

or medium sized enterprises defined by the EU Commission 
Recommendation of 6 May 2003; 

 
(aa)   “Social Value” means having regard to economic, social and 

environmental wellbeing as set out in the Public Service (Social Value) 
Act 2012 (as amended or replaced) in relation to public services 
contracts; 

 
(bb)    “Subsidised Service Contract” means an agreement providing for bus 

service subsidy within the meaning of Section 63(10)(b) of the 
Transport Act 1985; 

 
(cc)    “Tender” means a document prepared by a potential supplier setting out 

it‟s bid for the work in response to an Invitation to Tender; 
 
(dd) “Treasurer” means the Treasurer of the Combined Authority or the 

Executive Director of Corporate Services of Merseytravel (as 
appropriate); 

 
(ee)    “Value for Money” means ensuring that the same quality goods, 

services and works cannot be achieved at a substantially lower price 
elsewhere.  The quality of related services i.e. delivery, maintenance, 
after sales support should be taken into account along with the direct 
costs of the goods, services or works.  Ways of ensuring Value for 
Money include:- 

 
(i)        obtaining a number of informal quotations from different 

suppliers; 
(ii)       comparing prices in supplier‟s brochures, sales literature; 
(iii)      benchmarking prices with other authorities or organisations;  
(iv)      comparing prices with those previously paid, taking into account 

inflationary and deflationary factors; and 
(v)      making use of existing framework arrangements, existing 

dynamic purchasing systems, call-off arrangements or approved 

Page 166



lists of suppliers involving the Procurement Team in 
the  process. 

 
2.        General 
 
2.1      These PPR apply in respect of any procurements by the Combined Authority. 
 
2.2      Every contract entered into by the Combined Authority shall be entered into 

pursuant to or in connection with the Combined Authority‟s functions (as 
appropriate) and shall comply with: 
 
(a) all relevant statutory provisions including but not limited to Section 

149 of the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Service (Social Value) Act 
2012 ( as amended or replaced); 

(b) the Regulations, the Treaty of Rome and the general principles of 
national and EU legislation (if applicable);  

(c) the Combined Authority Constitution including these PPR‟s, the 
Financial Regulations and the Scheme of Delegation; 

(d) the Combined Authority Transport Plan for the Combined Authority 
area;  

(e) the Combined Authority Procurement Strategy; 
(f)  the Combined Authority Equalities Policy; and  
(g) any other relevant Combined Authority strategies and/or policies. 

 
Where any PPR conflicts with any statutory provision, any statutory 
modification or re-enactment thereof or any regulations made thereunder, that 
provision or regulation shall prevail. 

 
2.3      The purpose of the PPR‟s is to ensure: 
 

(a) competition and propriety are present in the tendering and the award 
of contracts for the provision of all supplies, services and the 
execution of works; 

(b) a transparent, lawful and fair procurement process;  
(c) Value for Money for the Combined Authority; 
(d) the thresholds and level of authority for approvals is consistent with 

the Combined Authority‟s approved Scheme of Delegation; 
(e) the procedures for enabling competition and regulating the manner in 

which quotations and Tenders are invited, evaluated and contracts 
awarded are clear; 

(f) relevant legislation is complied with; and 
(g) relevant approvals are sought. 

 
2.4 One Place will assist in ensuring consistency of approach to procurement 

across the Combined Authority.  A dedicated procurement resource will be 
maintained on One Place and will contain guidance and good practice to 
assist Officers in following best procurement practice.  The contents of the 
procurement guidance on One Place will be reviewed at regular intervals by 
the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Page 167



2.5 The Combined Authority has a Confidential Reporting Code that applies to all 
Officers and includes those contractors working for the Combined 
Authority.  Officers must be proactive in ensuring that its policies and 
procedures, culture and stance in relation to the prevention, detection and 
action against fraud are communicated to all relevant parties. 
 

2.6 Any breach or non-compliance with these PPR must on discovery be reported 
immediately to the Head of Audit.  The Head of Audit shall determine whether 
such breach or non-compliance presents a significant risk of harm to the 
Combined Authority and if satisfied that such risk exists shall undertake any 
necessary investigation and report the findings to the Combined Authority.   
 

2.7   (a)  the Combined Authority will conduct its business and operations in 
accordance with the highest professional and ethical standards; 

(b) the Combined Authority will take appropriate action to ensure that its 
resources are not spent on practices that lead to unlawful 
discrimination, unlawful activity and/or breach of the Combined 
Authority‟s equality duty; 

(c)      the Combined Authority will consider any failure by Officers to comply 
with the Constitution and if necessary will address such through the 
Combined Authority‟s disciplinary processes; 

(d)      the Monitoring Officer shall undertake a continuous review of the 
Constitution and submit any additions or changes necessary to the 
Combined Authority for approval; 

(e)      the Treasurer shall, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer be 
responsible for ensuring that all contract activity undertaken by the 
Combined Authority is done so in accordance with these PPR and the 
Regulations; 

(f)       the Directors and Heads of Service shall ensure that all Officers in their 
directorates are aware of the existence and content of the Constitution 
and other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with 
them;  

(g)      the Monitoring Officer shall advertise all contracts/anticipated contracts 
in excess of £25,000 on Contracts Finder if they are advertised 
elsewhere; 

(h)      the Monitoring Officer shall maintain a register of all Combined 
Authority contracts in excess of £20,000;  

(i)       the Monitoring Officer shall make an appropriate EPS available; This 
system shall:- 

 
(i)  evidence that any transmission was successfully completed and 

 recorded; 
(ii)  keep Tenders in a separate secure electronic folder which is not 

opened until the deadline has passed for receipt of Tenders; 
(iii)      keep a record of all Tenders received; 
(iv)      keep a record via EPS of all correspondence between the 

Combined Authority and the tenderers;  
(j)       the Combined Authority shall expect that individuals and organisations, 

including the suppliers, contractors and service providers, with whom it 

Page 168



deals, will act towards the Combined Authority with integrity and without 
thought or actions involving fraud and corruption; and 

(k)       the Combined Authority shall maintain the principles of non-
discrimination, equal treatment and transparency. 

 
2.8 Officers will work to ensure:-  

 
(a)      they lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, 

rules, procedures and practices; 
(b)      they allow sufficient time to provide for all the various elements for the 

fulfilment of the appropriate procurement process giving due regard to 
statutory timescales; 

(c)      they work with relevant Officers to fully engage them in the process and 
thereby develop a realistic procurement/decision making/mobilisation of 
the new contractor and demobilisation of any existing contractor; 

(d)      they undertake Commissioning as required by these PPR; 
(e)      when procuring goods services or works focus on the principles of 

efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability,  economy and shall consider 
collaborating as a procurement option (if appropriate); 

(f)       that those responsible for procuring goods services or works on behalf 
of the Combined Authority shall comply with these PPR;  

(g)      that all specifications for IT goods or services are ratified during 
Commissioning by the Head of IT; 

(h)      they consider and implement the principles of non-discrimination, equal 
treatment and transparency and the highest standards of probity; 

(i)       they do not seek to procure goods, services or works without the 
engagement of the relevant Head of Service and the Monitoring Officer 
as per the requirements of this Constitution; 

(j)       they do not distort competition but also consider with the Monitoring 
Officer the potential of aggregating and disaggregating contracts to 
encourage SME participation in procurements; but not in order to avoid 
the requirements of the Regulations and these PPR; 

(k)      they accurately determine the aggregate value of contracts (including 
any anticipated extensions or additional work) to calculate the 
estimated contract value and the appropriate route to market as 
advised in these PPR, advice can be provided by the Monitoring Officer 
to undertake this review; 

(l)       they do not use any information received during the course of business 
and in particular, the quotations or tendering procedure for personal 
advantage; and 

(m)     they do not disclose to a third party information except for anti-fraud 
purposes or in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 or other relevant legislation.  In cases where there 
is uncertainty as to whether a particular course of action complies with 
the ethical standards, the advice of the Monitoring Officer must be 
sought. 

 
3.         Scope  
 
3.1      These PPR apply to: 

Page 169



 
(a)            the purchase, leasing and hiring of goods, provision of services and the 

execution of works for and on behalf of the Combined Authority; 
(b)             any procurement where Tenders are invited by the Combined Authority 

on behalf of any partnership, consortium, collaboration group, 
association or similar body of which the Combined Authority is a 
Member;  

(c)            all procurement activity, including activity where third parties are 
involved in spending public monies on behalf of the Combined Authority 
(unless agreed otherwise); and  

(d)            all contracts entered into by the Combined Authority by an Officer on 
behalf of the Combined Authority. 

 
3.2      These PPR shall not apply to: 
 

(a)            employment contracts; 
(b)            contracts relating solely to the acquisition or disposal of land or any 

other estates matters.  (The Land Procedure Rules shall apply in such 
circumstances); 

(c)            contracts relating to the disposal of furniture, goods, vehicles, plant and 
equipment which are deemed surplus to requirements.  (The Corporate 
Disposal Procedures shall apply in such circumstances); 

(d)      Treasury management activity.  (The Treasury Management Policy 
shall apply in such circumstances); and/or 

(e)      any contract referenced in paragraph 10 below. 
 

3.3        All procurement activity and any procurement exemptions may NOT be 
made retrospectively and no exemption can be used if the Regulations apply 
to the contract unless such exemption is permitted under such Regulations; 

 
3.4        NO exceptions from any of the provisions contained herein shall be made 

otherwise than as set out in these PPR or the Scheme of Delegation or by 
the direction of the Combined Authority duly noted in their minutes.   

             
4.        Commissioning  
 
4.1      Commissioning IS NOT procurement.   
 
4.2      Officers must undertake Commissioning for all purchases of goods services 

and works over £20,000. 
 
4.3      The Officer responsible for Commissioning MUST:- 

 
(a)  undertake consultation with other Officers affected by the project; 
(b)                undertake a Contract Review if a contract has been or is currently 

being provided; 
(c)               take appropriate advices from the Head of Service for the area 

affected and the relevant support functions i.e. Legal, IT, Finance, HR 
and PMO; 

Page 170



(d)              have prepared and documented an estimate of the cost of the contract 
including, where appropriate, any maintenance ongoing and future 
costs; 

(e)              consulted with Finance and be satisfied that adequate budget 
provision for the contract (and the future costs for the life of the goods, 
services or works to be procured) exists; 

(f)         prepare a specification that will form the basis of the contract; 
(g)        consider the potential staffing implications of the contract and in 

particular TUPE considerations, and discuss with the Head of People 
and Organisational Development and the Monitoring Officer; 

(h)        consider risk, including any risks to the Combined Authority‟s broader 
strategic objectives, reputational risks and risks to the local economy 
and supply chain; 

(i)                for contracts where there is evident risk and for all High Value and 
High Risk Procurements produce and maintain a risk register for the 
procurement process and the eventual contractual relationship.  As a 
minimum this should analyse all risks, identify how the risks will be 
managed and the responsible Officer; 

(j)        comply with all statutory requirements in respect of completion of 
equality impact assessments; 

(k)       consider dividing any potential contracts into lots to encourage SME 
participation;  

(l)        ensure that all specifications for IT goods, services or works are 
ratified at the Commissioning Stage by the Head of IT; and  

(m)      consider any mechanisms to recover Social Value from the contract.  
 

5. Pre-tender Market Research and Consultation 
 
5.1     Prior to the issue of an ITT Officers may, with the agreement and support of 

the Monitoring Officer, consult potential tenderers in  general terms about the 
nature, level and standard of the goods services or works to be provided, 
contract packaging and other relevant matters.  Such consultation must not be 
anti-competitive or a breach of transparency and non-discrimination principles 
and must be in compliance with the Regulations. 

 
5.2     Officers must ensure that where a potential tenderer has been involved in pre-

tender market research to help inform a procurement all such relevant 
information must be shared with all tenderers to ensure a level playing field.   
 

6.        Procedures Applicable to all Procurements after Commissioning 
 
6.1     The application of PPR is dependent on value thresholds and risk.  Officers 

shall calculate the anticipated value of the contract i.e. its “whole life” costs to 
determine the correct category of PPR.  For support in determining whole life 
costs the advices of the Monitoring Officer can be sought. 

 
6.2      There are 3 categories of procurements:- 
 

(a)        Low Value Procurements; 
(b)        Intermediate Value Procurements; and 

Page 171



(c)        High Value and High Risk Procurements. 
 

The EPS shall be utilised for all Intermediate Value Procurements and High 
Value Procurements.   

 
6.3 Officers shall after the completion of Commissioning, consult the Monitoring 

Officer at an early stage in determining the most appropriate route to market 
for contracts likely to be economically significant in regard to the regional or 
national economy. 
 

6.4 All contracts should be let for a clearly defined period or with appropriate 
termination provisions.  Where a service has no definable end date, the 
contract value shall normally be determined as the total value of the service 
estimated over a four year period. 
 

6.5      In the case of joint purchasing arrangements the value shall be the value of 
both parties‟ purchases.  Officers shall not seek to divide potential 
procurements in order to avoid the requirements of the Regulations and these 
PPR. 
 

6.6      Procurements will impact on other areas of the organisation.  It is important, 
therefore that goods services and works are only procured after effective 
Commissioning and due consultation with the relevant Head of Service 
regardless of value.  The relevant Head of Service shall be responsible for the 
procurement of the following Services: 
 
(a) a ll IT equipment and IT services, whether hardware or software 

infrastructure or services by the Head of IT; 
(b)        communication and marketing services by the Head of 

Communications, Engagement and Marketing; 
(c)        Health and Safety equipment by the Head of People and 

Organisational Development/Head of Asset Management (as 
appropriate); 

(d)        professional services (consultancy) by the relevant Head of Service 
for the discipline concerned; 

(e)        training by the Head of People and Organisational Development; 
(f)         Asset Management Services, including electrical, plumbing, 

construction or other construction and maintenance services by the 
Head of Asset Management; 

(g)        Legal services including advices on employment law matters by the 
Monitoring Officer (as appropriate); and 

(h)        financial matters by the Head of Finance. 
 
6.7      Goods, services or works should in appropriate circumstances, be obtained 

via existing arrangements wherever possible.  These arrangements include:- 
 

(a)       in-house services; 
(b)       existing Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

(internal or external); 
(c)       existing Select Lists or Register; and 

Page 172



(d)       established corporate contracts. 
 

6.8      Officers shall consult and obtain approval from the Monitoring Officer if they 
do not consider an existing arrangement to be suitable.   

 
6.9      Nominated sub contracts shall be awarded in accordance with the procedures 

outlined above.   
 
6.10    Officers shall give due consideration to the provisions of the Public Services 

(Social Value) Act 2012 prior to the commencement of a procurement process 
for any services contracts. 

 
6.11    The Heads of Service shall notify the Monitoring Officer of any planned 

Intermediate and High Value Procurement at the commencement of each 
financial year. 

 
7.         Procedure Applicable to Low Value Procurements 
 
7.1       For Low Value Procurements, Officers are obliged to:-  

 
(a)      anticipate purchases in good time and make use of existing 

arrangements through the Monitoring Officer; 
(b)      ensure that Value for Money is obtained; 
(c)      ensure that a transparent and fair procurement process is applied; 
(d)      consider that a Low Value Procurement may still be extremely 

significant for potential suppliers and could be subject to challenge;  
(e)      retain evidence to be able to demonstrate, if required, how Value for 

Money has been secured or by demonstrating that the goods, 
services or works to be procured is proprietary or otherwise unique in 
nature; and   

(f)       consider using the EPS.   
 
7.2      All Low Value Procurements require the approval of the Head of 

Service.  Such approval shall be obtained using the Purchase Order system.   
 
8.        Procedure Applicable to Intermediate Value Procurements 
 
8.1      Officers are required to notify the Monitoring Officer of all Intermediate Value 

Procurements prior to commencement of the procurement.  This is so that, 
where possible, the Combined Authority can make use of existing 
arrangements such as Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing 
Systems as this greatly reduces the cost of procurement activity while still 
providing the optimum balance of Value for Money and risk.  All Intermediate 
Value Procurements shall be undertaken by the Procurement team.   

 
8.2 For Intermediate Value Procurements a minimum number of three separate 

quotations or Tenders shall be invited from suppliers in the relevant 
market.  More quotations/Tenders should be obtained where the Monitoring 
Officer and the relevant Head of Service believes there is a reasonable level 
of competition or variety of solutions.  If less than three quotations or Tenders 

Page 173



are received then Officers shall (in consultation with the relevant Head of 
Service and the Monitoring Officer) ensure that they can demonstrate Value 
for Money before proceeding to award of contract. 
 

8.3      (a)     Officers shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer in respect of the 
most appropriate route to market, this could be using a Framework 
Agreement, Dynamic Purchasing System, Central Purchasing Body, 
collaborative arrangement, Electronic Auction or Select List; 

(b)      Officers shall prepare a clear specification of requirements; 
(c)      Officers shall specify the outcomes and outputs.  Inputs should only be 

included in specifications where these are material to the contract or 
where social and environmental considerations apply; 

(d)      Officers shall specify the goods, services or works to be provided 
approved by the relevant Head of Service and outline the terms and 
conditions of contract determined by the Monitoring Officer; 

(e)      Officers shall prepare evaluation criteria and undertake such 
evaluations; 

(f)       Officers shall determine the risk to the Combined Authority posed by a 
contract and, where applicable shall only invite to tender or enter into a 
contract with a supplier if it is satisfied as to the supplier's financial 
standing; 

(g)      In the event that there are any concerns about any of the tenderers 
Officers shall seek advice on:- 
(i)       economic and financial standing from the Head of Audit; 
(ii)      technical and/or professional ability by references; and 
(iii)     insurance from the Head of Audit . 

(h)      If an Absolute or Qualified Exemption from PPR is required, the advice 
of the Monitoring Officer should be sought, it shall be clearly stated and 
the justification for the exemption and demonstrate how Value for 
Money has been assured. 

 
8.4      The Monitoring Officer shall: 

 
(a)      ensure that all Intermediate Value Procurements over £25,000 are 

advertised on Contracts Finder; 
(b)      determine the appropriate procurement route to secure the best value; 
(c)      assist the Officers in determining the basis for evaluating the Tenders if 

requested to do so; 
(d)     determine appropriate terms and conditions of contract; and 
(e)     Administer the EPS. 

 
8.5      All Intermediate Value Procurements require approval by a Delegated 

Decision of the Combined Authority.  This will be completed in a manner that 
is consistent with the Combined Authority‟s Scheme of Delegation and will 
demonstrate due consultation with the relevant Officers, Heads of Service and 
Directors. 

 
8.6 The Officer (or the Monitoring Officer if EPS is used) shall retain a formal 

record of the process, to include: 
 

Page 174



(a)        the Officer(s) undertaking the procurement; 
(b)        the rationale for the procurement route chosen; 
(c)     a copy of the specification; 
(d)    all quotations or Tenders; 
(e)    a copy of the evaluation process and reasons for the decision as   to the 

acceptance or rejection of a tenderer‟s quotation or Tender; 
(f)     the award letter and any communications to unsuccessful tenderers; 
(g)    copy of the final contract; 
(h)    ongoing review and monitoring documentation; 
(i)     an appropriate record of the decision; and  
(j)     any supporting evidence in respect of 8.3 above. 

 
9.       Procedures Applicable to High Value and High Risk Procurements 
 
9.1      All High Value Procurements must be notified to the Monitoring Officer prior to 

commencement of the procurement.  This is so that, where possible, the 
Combined Authority can make use of existing arrangements such as 
Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems as this greatly 
reduces the cost of procurement activity while still providing the optimum 
balance of Value for Money and risk.  All High Value Procurements shall be 
undertaken by the Procurement team.   

 
9.2     Officers shall carry out the following steps:- 

 
(a)      undertake a formal risk assessment prior to commencement of the 

procurement process to identify any risks relevant and proportionate to 
the goods, services or works to be procured by the Combined Authority 
such risk assessment shall be continually reviewed, copies retained 
and updated during the tender process and the contract period; 

(b)      take advice from the Monitoring Officer in respect of the most 
appropriate route to market, this could be using a Framework 
Agreement, Dynamic Purchasing System Central Purchasing Body, 
collaborative arrangement, Electronic Auction or Select List; 

(c) consult with the Monitoring Officer in respect of other required 
documentation to enable the Monitoring Officer to undertake the 
Procurement utilising the EPS;  

(d)      prepare a clear specification of requirements; 
(e)      specify the outcomes and outputs.  Inputs should only be included in 

specifications where these are material to the contract or where social 
and environmental considerations apply and the Monitoring Officer has 
agreed; 

(f)       specify the goods, services or works to be provided approved by the 
relevant Head of Service and outline the terms and conditions of 
contract determined by the Monitoring Officer; 

(g)      comply with the Regulations in addition to these PPR.  Guidance on the 
Regulations including the relevant thresholds is available through One 
Place or by contacting the Monitoring Officer; 

(h)      prepare evaluation criteria and undertake such evaluations; 
(i)        in the event that there are any concerns about any of the tenderers 

shall seek advice in respect of: 

Page 175



(i)        economic and financial standing from Head of Audit of 
Merseytravel; 

(ii)       technical and/or professional ability by references; and 
(iii)      insurance from the Head of Audit; 

(j)        if an Absolute or Qualified Exemption from PPR is required, the advice 
of the Monitoring Officer should be sought, it shall be clearly stated and 
the justification for the exemption and demonstrate how Value for 
Money has been assured. 
 

9.3     The Monitoring Officer shall: 
 
(a)      ensure that all High Value Procurement shall be advertised on 

Contracts Finder when advertised elsewhere; 
(b)      determine the appropriate procurement route and the mechanism in the 

Regulations to secure the best value for the Combined Authority; 
(c)       assist the Officers in determining the basis for evaluating the Tenders; 
(d)      determine appropriate terms and conditions of contract; and 
(e)      Administer the EPS.  

 
9.4      All High Value Procurements require the approval of the Combined 

Authority.  This will be completed in a manner that is consistent with the 
Combined Authority‟s Scheme of Delegation (as appropriate) and will 
demonstrate due consultation with the relevant Officers, the Head of Service 
and Directors. 

 
9.5      Officers shall, unless a report has been submitted in accordance with 

paragraph 9.6 below, prepare a formal report through the Modern.Gov system 
to seek approval by a Decision of the Combined Authority to award a contract 
for all High Value Procurements.  The Monitoring Officer will provide a 
Procurement Summary which must be attached to the report. 
 

9.6      At the commencement of the procurement process an Officer can submit a 
Pre-Procurement Report to the Combined Authority outlining the proposed 
project with outline specification, budget, procurement route, evaluation 
criteria and respective weightings and a detailed breakdown of expenditure in 
respect of a project. If such a report was submitted and endorsed by the 
Combined Authority then Officers are only required to obtain a Delegated 
Decision of Combined Authority to seek approval to award a contract for such 
High Value Procurements. 
 

9.7      The Monitoring Officer shall retain a formal record of the process, to include: 
 
(a)       the Officer(s) undertaking the procurement; 
(b)       the rationale for the procurement route chosen; 
(c)       a copy of the specification; 
(d)       all Tenders; 
(e)       a copy of the evaluation process and reasons for the decision as to the 

acceptance or rejection of a Tender; 
(f)        the award letter and communications to unsuccessful tenderers; 
(g)       copy of the final contract; 

Page 176



(h)       ongoing review and monitoring documentation; 
(i)        an appropriate record of the decision; and  
(j)       any supporting evidence in respect of  9.2 above. 

 
10.       Absolute Exemptions from PPR 
 
10.1     The following procurements are Absolute Exemptions from the requirement 

to obtain quotations or Tenders under these PPR: 
 

(a)      contracts specified in 3.2 above; 
(b)      the execution of work or the supply of services which must be carried 

out by a particular public utility undertaking, statutory undertaker, local 
authority or similar body; and  

(c)      any contract that is exempt under the Regulations. 
 

10.2    Absolute Exemptions under 10.1 (b) shall be supported by a formal Decision 
depending on the value of the contract being exempt.  A Delegated Decision 
of the Combined Authority is required for Absolute Exemptions for 
Intermediate Value Procurements.  A Decision of the Combined Authority is 
required for Absolute Exemptions for High Value Procurements.  The 
Treasurer of the Combined Authority shall be consulted on all Absolute 
Exemptions for High Value or High Risk Procurements and such shall be 
subject to a Decision of the Combined Authority.   

 
11.     Qualified Exemptions from PPR  
 
11.1 Qualified Exemptions shall apply in certain circumstances and should be 

supported by a formal decision, depending on the value of the contract being 
exempt from PPR.   
 
The following procurements are Qualified Exemptions from the requirement 
to obtain quotations or Tenders under  these PPR:- 
 
(a)      contracts where the goods, services or works are proprietary articles 

which (and any acceptable substitutes for which) are supplied only by 
one person or firm or are sold at a fixed price and where the relevant 
Head of Service is satisfied that there is no reasonable satisfactory 
alternative; 

(b)      contracts where the price of the goods is wholly controlled by 
Government order/statutory body or otherwise and no reasonably 
satisfactory alternative is available; 

(c)       for other reasons there would be no genuine competition or where the 
requirements of competition as required by statute have already been 
met; 

(d)       the goods, services or works are to be supplied constitutes an 
extension to an existing contract and subject to the Head of Service 
deciding that it would not be in the interests of the Combined Authority 
to tender the contract provided that:- 
(i) the amount being considered shall not exceed  the original value 

of   the contract (unless approved by the Head of Service);   

Page 177



(ii)       the Officer is satisfied that such extension will achieve Value for 
Money and is reasonable in all the circumstances; 

(iii)      the Officer ensures that any additional funding required is 
available; 

(iv)      if the original contract was subject to the Regulations, the 
contract is only being extended within the parameters identified 
in the original OJEU advert; 

(v)       if the contract was not subject to the Regulations, the extension 
must not take the total value of the contract above the EU 
thresholds;  

(vi)      if the contract was awarded as a Framework Agreement, the 
total contract period, including the extension, does not exceed 
four years;  

(vii)     the decision making route relates to the total amount of the 
contract including all extension(s); and   

(viii)    due consideration has  been given to alternative market 
competition. 

(e)      the contract is for the execution of work or the supply of goods or 
services certified by the appropriate Head of Service to be required so 
urgently as to preclude a competitive exercise.  This Qualified 
Exemption shall only apply to unforeseen and unforeseeable events 
and  does not apply where there has been a failing to act in a manner 
which would have permitted a full competitive exercise to take place; 

(f)       the purchase of a named or propriety product required to be compatible 
with an existing installation; and 

(g)       urgent action under Section 91(2) of the Transport Act 1985 for 
Subsidised Service Contracts. 

 
12.       Tenders 
 
12.1     ITT shall include:- 

 
(a)      all details of the specification  as determined by the Officer reviewed 

by the relevant Head of Service or if required by the relevant 
support  service;   

(b)      terms and conditions of contract as determined by the Monitoring 
Officer; 

(c)       a specific date and time by which Tenders must be returned; 
(d)      advice to tenderers that quotation documents, responses and any 

communication in respect of an ITT must be submitted utilising the 
mechanism specified in the documentation; 

(e)      advice to tenderers that Tenders and any communication in respect of 
an ITT must be submitted utilising the EPS; 

(f)       explicit instructions to tenderers on the basis of Tenders requested; 
(g)      the criteria to be used to evaluate Tenders and the basis of award, 

which shall have been agreed in advance by the Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer; and  

(h)      the capacity to receive alternate Tenders if required and agreed in 
advance by the Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 

 

Page 178



12.2     Late Tenders 
 
No Tender received after the closing date and time shall be considered 
unless there are exceptional circumstances  in which case it may be 
considered at the discretion of the  Head of Audit in conjunction with the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
12.3     Tender Evaluation 
 

Tenders 
 
(a)    received for contracts that are subject to the Regulations must be 

evaluated only in accordance with the Regulations and the evaluation 
criteria set out in the ITT or Contract Notice; 

(b)    received for contracts not subject to the Regulations whether by value 
or by the nature of the contract, shall similarly be evaluated in 
accordance only with the evaluation criteria notified to tenderers in the 
ITT; 

(c)    shall only be evaluated using the predetermined and advertised 
evaluation criteria, in order of importance and incorporating appropriate 
weightings (where possible or where required by the Regulations); 

(d)       evaluation shall only be evaluated by suitably experienced Officers or 
other experienced persons  and shall not be conducted by anyone who 
has any conflict of interest with a tenderer.  Officers should, in such 
circumstances, comply with the Code of Conduct for Employees and 
declare such conflict and take no further part in the procurement 
process. 

 
12.4    Quotations/Tenders shall be accepted as follows: 
 

(a)       the lowest quotation/Tender if payment is to be made by the Combined 
Authority; 

(b)       the highest if payment is to be received by the Combined Authority;  
(c)       the quotation/Tender which represents the Most Economically 

Advantageous Offer (MEAT)  to the Combined Authority where 
specified in the ITT; or 

(d)       under any such alternative evaluation criteria as will achieve best value 
for the Combined Authority in such circumstances, subject to the 
approval of the Monitoring Officer 

 
13       Award of Contract 
 
13.1     Award of Contract shall only take place if  

 
(a)      sufficient budget provision exists, and that such sums of money have 

been notionally identified to be spent on that service/good in advance; 

(b)      the terms and conditions of contract have been agreed to by the 
tenderer;  

Page 179



(c)      a decision to award has been made in accordance with this 
Constitution; and 

 
(d)      for a contract  tendered pursuant to the Regulations the „standstill‟ 

period has been complied with and there has not been a legal 
challenge or other such obstacle preventing the award. 

13.2    For a contract that has been tendered pursuant to the Regulations that a 
contract award notice will be published in the OJEU no later than 30 days 
after the date of award of the contract; 

 
13.3   The Monitoring Officer shall provide feedback to unsuccessful tenderers for 

contracts subject to the Regulations on written request.  The relevant Head of 
Service shall provide the necessary information to the Monitoring Officer to 
provide this feedback. 
 

14.       Form of Contract 
 
14.1    Every contract which exceeds £20,000 shall be in writing in a form approved 

by the Monitoring Officer. 
 
14.2    An Officer shall not instruct a contractor to commence works, supply goods or 

provide services which is subject to a contract in writing until the contract has 
been signed and any performance bond secured.   However if a Head of 
Service, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, determines that there is an 
urgent need for the supply of goods, provision of services or execution of 
works which does not permit time for the execution of a written contract then 
the contract can be commenced.  However, the Officer shall ensure that a 
contract in writing in put into place as soon as practicable.   
 

14.3     All written contracts shall: 
 

(a) specify the goods services or works to be provided; 
(b)      provide details of prices to be paid including a statement of discounts 

or other reductions; 
(c)      state the period or times within which the contract is to be performed 

and, where appropriate, the amount of liquidated damages that may 
otherwise become due;  and 

(d)      contain the terms and conditions of contract which are applicable. 
 

15.       Authentication of Documentation 
 
15.1    Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on 

behalf of the Combined Authority it will be signed by the Monitoring Officer 
unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires . 

 
15.2    Any contracts over £150,000 shall be a formal agreement made in writing and 

executed as a Deed by the affixing of the Common Seal of the Combined 
Authority in the presence of the Monitoring Officer.          
 

Page 180



15.3    The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to delegate signature of such 
 documentation provided such delegation is in writing. 
 
15.4 All other contracts may be signed by the Monitoring Officer or Directors of the 

Combined Authority. 
 
15.5    If the Common Seal is to accompany the signature of the Monitoring Officer, 

an entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively 
numbered in a book provided for the purpose and open to inspection by every 
Member of the Combined Authority.  Each entry shall be signed by the 
signatory who signed the sealed document. 

 
15.6    If any Directors sign contracts on behalf of the Combined Authority a copy of 

the contract shall be forwarded to the Monitoring Officer of the Combined 
Authority for their records. 

 
16.      Termination of Contract 
 
           Any termination of a contract arising from a High Value Procurement shall be 

approved by the Monitoring Officer.  Contracts of a lesser value may be 
terminated earlier than the expiry date by agreement or in accordance with 
the termination provisions in the contract.  Legal advice should be sought as 
appropriate. 

 
17.       Legal Proceedings 
 
           The Monitoring Officer of the Combined Authority is authorised to institute, 

defend or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action 
is considered necessary to give effect to decisions of the Combined Authority 
or in any case where such action is considered necessary to protect the 
Combined Authority‟s interests. 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION 5 - PART D 
 

LAND PROCEDURE RULES  
 

1.       Definitions 
 

(a)  “Combined Authority” means the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority or 
Merseytravel as appropriate; 

 
(b) “Decision” means a decision named as such in the Combined Authority or 

Merseytravel’s Scheme of Delegation: 
 
(c)      “Delegated Decision” means a decision named as such in the Combined 

Authority or Merseytravel’s Scheme of Delegation: 
 
(d)     “Head of Service” shall mean those Officers who are so designated by the 

Combined Authority as a Head of Service  or Rolling Stock Project Director: 
 
(e)     “High Value Land Transaction” shall mean a Land Transaction where the total 

value of the Land Transaction is over £250,000 or where statutory protection 
attaches to the Land Transaction under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954: 

 
(f)       “Intermediate Value Land Transaction” shall mean a Land Transaction where 

the total value of the Land Transaction payable to or by the Combined 
Authority is between £20,000 and £250,000 and where no statutory protection 
attaches to the Land Transaction under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954: 
 

(g)      “Land Transaction” shall mean any land transaction as detailed in paragraph 2 
hereof: 
 

(h)      “Low Value Land Transaction” shall mean a Land Transaction where the total 
value of the Land Transaction does not exceed £20,000 and where no 
statutory protection attaches to the Land Transaction under the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1954: 
 

2.       These Land Procedure Rules apply to any Land Transaction which includes the 
following:- 
 

(a) acquisition, disposal of or other dealing with land, buildings or other property 
assets held by the Combined Authority or the allocation of the proceeds thereof; 

(b) entering into of any licences, tenancies, leases, change of use, wayleaves and  
easements for property owned by another party; 

(c) the renewal of leases protected by the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954; 
(d)     assignment, underletting or change of use requests of leases or licences 

granted by the Combined Authority; 
(e)     licences to commercial advertisers for the display of advertisements on 

Combined Authority properties;  
(f)      easements over Combined Authority land; 
(g)     wayleaves for the laying of services under on or through land and premises 

owned by the Combined Authority; 

Page 183

Item 5d



(h)     termination/surrender of any licences, tenancies and leases of land or property 
taken by the Combined Authority which are no longer required; and 

(i)      a legal mortgage or charge over a property in favour of the Combined Authority. 
 
3.      The Head of Asset Management shall:- 
 

(a)     ensure that rent reviews for leases of land/premises are carried out as they 
fall due and take appropriate action to protect Combined Authority property 
assets;  

 
(b)     Arrange for properties falling vacant to be relet expeditiously or  considered 

for disposal.  
 
(c)     Periodically review whether the return from individual property assets.          

 
In doing so the Head of Asset Management shall ensure that Value for Money is 
obtained in respect of the Land Transaction.  The provisions set out in 
Procurement Procedure 7.1 shall be considered when determining such matter.  

 
4.      Subject to paragraph 7 below, a Delegated Decision of the Combined Authority 

is required in respect of any Intermediate Value Land Transaction.  
 
5.      Subject to paragraph 7 below, Head of Service approval is required for any Low 

Value Land Transaction. 
 
6.      Subject to paragraph 7 below, a Decision of the Combined Authority is required 

in respect of any High Value Land Transaction except for any High Value Land 
Transaction relating to land owned by the Combined Authority and operated by 
Merseytravel e.g. No 1 Mann Island.  Approval for any High Value Land 
Transaction relating to land owned by the Combined Authority and operated by 
shall be approved by Merseytravel.     

 
When determining a disposal of land for a High Value Land Transaction the 
Combined Authority shall consider a report which:- 

 
(a)   specifies the land to be disposed of; 
(b)   confirms whether the land has been declared surplus to requirements; 
(c)    advises upon the proposed method of disposal and provides the reasons 

for selecting that method; 
(d)  confirms whether or not the proposed method of disposal is likely to 

achieve best consideration and, where other than open competition is 
recommended, describes how this will be satisfied/evidenced; and 

(e)   in matters where it is proposed that the disposal should be for less than 
best consideration gives reasons for and against seeking best 
consideration. 

 
7.       In determining the amount of a Land Transaction for the purposes of 

paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 above, Officers should consider the total cost or loss 
to the Combined Authority as a result of such Land Transaction.  Thus in the 
case of a lease or licence the total cost would be the rent or fees payable 

Page 184



added up over the full term of the lease or licence plus any profit sharing or 
turnover payment that could be payable.  Guidance from the Monitoring 
Officer should be sought in the event of any query on this matter.   

 
8.       In addition to any approval set out above the approval of the Combined 

Authority shall be obtained in respect of any Merseytravel land/estates 
transactions which require Combined Authority approval under Section 10(1) of 
the Transport Act 1968 including any land surplus to requirements. 

9.       The Head of Asset Management shall keep a record of all land and buildings 
owned by the Combined Authority.  The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible 
for the safe keeping and retention of all property deeds.   

 
10.     In relation to land and buildings all Heads of Service shall:- 
 

(a)      ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of Combined 
Authority land are not allowed to take possession or enter the land until 
a lease or agreement, in a form approved by the Monitoring Officer of 
the Combined Authority has been established as appropriate; 

(b)      ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under their 
control; and take the appropriate action in any case where security is 
thought to be defective or where it is considered that special security 
arrangements may be needed; 

(c)      identify land or buildings which are surplus to requirements; 
(d)      pass title deeds to the Monitoring Officer who is responsible for custody 

of all title deeds; 
(e)      ensure that no Combined Authority owned land or building is subject to 

personal use or any other use other than in pursuance of approved 
service delivery without proper authority and where appropriate, 
documentation identifying terms, responsibilities and duration of use;  

(f)       arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet 
requirements specified by the Treasurer of the Combined Authority; 
and 

(g)      only dispose of any land or property or any interest therein in 
accordance with the Corporate Disposal Procedures. 

 
11.    All contracts and other documentation relating to land transactions shall be in 

writing, signed or sealed (as appropriate) as determined by the procedures set 
out in paragraph 15 of the Procurement and Procurement and Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 6  
 

CODES AND PROTOCOLS  
 

CONTENTS 
 

 Section 
A. Members Code of Conduct 

B.. Officers Code of Conduct  

C.  Members Code on Planning Matters  

D.. Protocol on Member and Officer Relations  

   E Code of Corporate Governance  

 

 

Page 187

Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 6 – SECTION A 
 

MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. Introduction  

2. Definitions  

3. Purpose of the Code of Conduct  

4. General Principles of Member Conduct  

5. Application of the Code of Conduct  

6. Standards of Member Conduct  

7. General Conduct  

(1) Respect 

(2) Bullying, harassment and discrimination 

(3) Impartiality of Officers of the Combined Authority  

(4) Confidentiality and Access to Information 

(5) Disrepute 

(6) Use of Position 

(7) Use of Combined Authority Resources  

(8) Complying with the Code of Conduct  

(9) Interests  

(10) Pre Determination or Bias  

(11) Gifts and Hospitality  

Appendix A The Seven Principles of Public Life 

Appendix B Registering Interests  

Table 1   Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Table 2   Other Registrable Interests  

Table 3   Standard Dispensations  

 

 

 

  

Page 189

Item 6a



Introduction 

 
This Combined Authority and those across the Liverpool City Region have adopted 

this Code of  Conduct to promote and maintain high standards of conduct and 

underpin public confidence in the authority and its Members and Co-opted Members. 

It is adapted from the Local Government Association (LGA) Model Councillor Code of 

Conduct 2020 published 19 January 2021. 

 
The LGA Model Code was introduced by a Joint Statement from the Political Groups 

that: 

 
“The role of Councillor across all tiers of Local Government is a vital part of our 

country’s system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be 

held accountable and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated  

with the role. Our conduct as an individual councillor affects the reputation of 

all councillors. We want the role of councillor to be one that people aspire to. 

We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to 

be putting themselves forward to become councillors. 

 
As Councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services 

and deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust  

us to represent our local area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and 

transparently. We have both an individual and collective responsibility to meet  

these expectations by maintaining high standards and demonstrating good 

conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls below expectations. 

 
Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without 

being intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the 

general public. 

 
This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good      

conduct, and safeguard the public’s trust in Local Government.” 

 
The Code sets out general obligations about the standards of conduct expected 

of Members and Co-opted Members of the authority, together with provisions 

about registering and declaring interests. It has been adopted under section 27 

of the Localism Act 2011 by the Combined Authority on 21 January 2022. 

 
The LGA Model Code is to be reviewed annually and is supported by Guidance 

issued in April 2021. 

 
Definitions 

 
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “Member” means a Member or Co-opted 

Member of a local authority [or a directly elected mayor]. A “Co-opted Member” is  

defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a Member of 

the authority but who:- 

 

a) is a Member of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Authority, or; 

b) is a Member of, and represents the Combined Authority on, any Joint 

Committee or joint Sub-Committee of the Combined          Authority; 

Page 190



 
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes the upper tier 

Councils, Town or Parish Councils and the combined authorities across the 

Liverpool City Region. 

 
Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

 
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in modelling the 

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to 

set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also 

to protect you, the public, fellow Members, Combined Authority Officers and the 

reputation of Local Government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 

all Members and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The 

LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to action being 

taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain 

public confidence in the role of Member and Local Government. 

 
General principles of Member Conduct 

 
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 

services, including ministers, civil servants, Members and local authority Officers; 

should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 

Principles. 

 
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 

specifically for the role of Member. 

 
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:- 

 
 I act with integrity and honesty 

 I act lawfully 

 I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the 

role of Member. 

 
In undertaking my role:- 

 
 I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local 

community 

 I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person 

 I avoid conflicts of interest 

 I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my 

local authority‟s requirements and in the public interest. 

 
Application of the Code of Conduct 

 
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of Member or attend your first meeting as a Co-opted 

Page 191

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


Member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Member. 

 
This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 

Member which may include when:- 

 

 you misuse your position as a Member; or 

 your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the 

public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Member. 

 
The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 
 at face-to-face meetings 

 at online or telephone meetings 

 in written communication 

 in verbal communication 

 in non-verbal communication 

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments. 

 
You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at 

all times when acting as a Member. 

 
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the 

Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 

Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 

Members are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to 

the Monitoring Officer. 

 
Standards of Member conduct 

 
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 

required of you as a Member. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 

complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 

 
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 

should be followed. 

 

General Conduct 

 
1. Respect 

 
As a Member: 

 
1.1 I treat other Members and members of the public with respect. 

 
1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with 

respect and respect the role they play. 

 
Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written 

Page 192



word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 

Member, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 

opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject 

individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 

and offensive behaviour lowers the public‟s expectations and confidence in 

Members. 

 
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 

of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any 

conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, 

the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, 

where action could then be taken under the Member Code of Conduct, and local 

authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the Combined      

Authority‟s Member- Officer protocol. 

 
2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination 

 
As a Member: 

 
2.1 I do not bully any person. 

 
2.2 I do not harass any person. 

 
2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person. 

 
The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 

might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on  

social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 

events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

 
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 

causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 

conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 

unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 

expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

 
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 

or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members have a 

central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the Combined 

Authoritiy‟s                 performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and 

public commitment to equality across public services. 

Page 193



3. Impartiality of Officers of the Combined  Authority 

 
As a Member: 

 
3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the Combined Authority. 

 
Officers work for the Combined Authority as a whole and must be politically neutral 

(unless  they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act 

in a way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question Officers in order to 

understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the 

content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them 

to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 

would prejudice their professional integrity. 

 

4. Confidentiality and access to information 

 
As a Member: 

 
4.1 I do not disclose information: 

a given to me in confidence by anyone 

b acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, 

is of a confidential nature, unless:- 

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to 

give it; 

ii I am required by law to do so; 

iii the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third 

party agrees not to disclose the information to any other 

person; or 

iv the disclosure is: 

1 reasonable and in the public interest; and 

2 made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the Combined 

Authority; and 

3 I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its 

release. 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a 

Member for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, 

my employer or my business interests. 

 
4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by 

law. 

 
Combined Authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 

printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 

required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 

by the Combined Authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples 

include personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing 
Page 194



negotiations. 

 

5. Disrepute 

 
As a Member: 

 
5.1 I do not bring my role or Combined Authority into disrepute. 

 
As a Member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 

your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 

members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse 

impact on you, other Members and/or your Combined Authority and may lower the 

public‟s confidence in your or your Combined Authority‟s ability to discharge your/it‟s 

functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can 

bring your Combined Authority into disrepute. 

 
You are able to hold the Combined Authority and fellow Members to account and are 

able to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 

undertaken by the Combined Authority whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of 

this  Code of Conduct. 

 

6. Use of position 

 
As a Member: 

 
6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

 
Your position as a Member of the Combined Authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges and you make choices all the time that 

will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 

further your own or others‟ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 
7. Use of Combined  Authority resources and facilities 

 
As a Member: 

 
7.1 I do not misuse Combined Authority resources. 

 
7.2 I will, when using the resources of the Combined  Authority or authorising 

their use by  others: 

a act in accordance with the Combined Authority's requirements; and 

b ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, 

or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of  the Combined 

Authority or of the office to which I have been elected or appointed. 

 
You may be provided with resources and facilities by the Combined Authority to 

assist you in carrying out your duties as a Member. 

 
Page 195



Examples include: 

 office support 

 stationery 

 equipment such as phones, and computers 

 transport 

 access and use of Combined Authority buildings and rooms. 

 
These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a Member more effectively 

and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the Combined 

Authority‟s own policies regarding their use. 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct 

 
As a Member: 

 
8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my Combined Authority. 

 
8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination. 

 
8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be 

involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 

 
8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have 

breached the Code of Conduct. 

 
It is extremely important for you as a Member to demonstrate high standards, for you 

to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the 

Combined Authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned 

about the Combined Authority‟s processes in handling a complaint you should raise 

this with your Monitoring Officer. 

 
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the Combined authority 

 
9. Interests 

 
As a Member: 

 
9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 

 
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of Members of the Combined Authority. 

 
You need to register your interests so that the public, Combined Authority employees 

and  fellow Members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of 

interest. The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an 

issue arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate 

openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible 

for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be 

helpful for you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is 

Page 196



also important that the public know about any interest that might have to be 

disclosed by you or other Members when making or taking part in decisions, so that 

decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that 

public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

 
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

 
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If 

in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

 
10. Pre-Determination or Bias 

 
As a Member I will: 

 
10.1 Never place myself under any financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations who might seek to influence me in the 

performance of my official duties. 

 
10.2 Consider all matters with an open mind and make decisions based upon 

weighing the best evidence before me, fairly and on merit. 

 
Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue 

which does not impact on your personal and/or professional life, you should not be 

prohibited from participating in a decision in your role as Member. However, you 

must ensure that your integrity is no compromised. 

 
You may be pre-disposed to a number of outcomes to a decision, based upon your, 

philosophy, beliefs or political allegiance (including any application of a Group Whip), 

but this must not predetermine your actions or the outcome of a decision you are to 

make. You must always remain open to the potential for further evidence or argument 

to alter any previously expressed or held viewpoint at the time of making your 

decision. For this reason, particularly in relation to contractual matters or those 

affecting individuals‟ civil rights, it is often best to be cautious about how or if your 

views are expressed before coming to make a decision. 

 
11. Gifts and hospitality 

As a Member: 

11.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 

which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 

reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 

persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the 

Combined Authority or from persons who may apply to the local 

authority for any permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

11.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 

 
11.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant      gift or hospitality 

Page 197



that I have been offered but have refused to accept. 

 
In order to protect your position and the reputation of the Combined Authority, you 

should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 

reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a Member. The 

presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, 

you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

Member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important to 

note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with 

your duties as a Member. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for 

guidance. 

  

Page 198



Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

 
The principles are:- 

 
Selflessness 

 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

 
Integrity 

 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 

or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 

should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests 

and relationships. 

 
Objectivity 

 
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 
Accountability 

 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 

and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 
Openness 

 
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 

and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
Honesty 

 
Holders of public office should be truthful. 

 
Leadership 

 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 

challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

  

Page 199



Appendix B Registering interests 

 
Within 28 days of becoming a Member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 

you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 

categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 

described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 

2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 

within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 

 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 

you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 

below. 

 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 

husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 
“Standard Dispensation” means a dispensation that has been granted by the 

Authority relieving the Member or Co-opted Member from the restrictions or 

obligations under this Code as detailed in Table 3 below. 

 
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 

28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A „sensitive interest‟ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

Member, or a person connected with the Member, being subject to violence 

or intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a „sensitive interest‟ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

Disclosure and Non-participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 

interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation or a 

Standard Dispensation applies. If it is a „sensitive interest‟, you do not have 

to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. 

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to 

participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 

interest. 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be 

considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet Member in exercise 

of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart 

from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 

 
Page 200



Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests and Non-Registerable Interests 

(Personal and Prejudicial Interests) 

 
Personal Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects: 

a. your own financial interest or well being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative, close 

associate; or 

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other 

Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2 

 
 you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you 

can remain in the meeting after disclosing the interest the following 

test should be applied 

 

Prejudicial Interests 

7. In the following instances, you must disclose the interest and you may 

speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion 

or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 

been granted a dispensation. 

If it is a „sensitive interest‟, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 

interest. 

 
a. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of 

your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2). 

 
b. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your 

financial interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a 

relative or close associate. 

c. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:- 

 

1. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the 

majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision; 

and;  

2. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would  

believe that it would affect your view of the wider public 

interest. 

 
8. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and 

you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you 

must make sure that any written statement of that decision records the 

existence and nature of your interest. 

 Page 201



Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
9. You also have a prejudicial interest in any business before an Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee of your Combined Authority (or of a Sub-

Committee of such a Committee) where: 

 
(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or 

not) or action taken by your Combined Authority‟, Board or another 

of     your Authority‟s Committees, Sub-Committees, Joint Committees 

or Joint Sub-Committees; and 

 
(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a 

Member of the  Board, Committee, Sub-Committee, Joint 

Committee or Joint Sub-Committee mentioned in sub-paragraph (a) 

and you were present when that decision was made or action was 

taken. 

 
10. Paragraph 9 does not prevent you attending and participating in a meeting if 

you are required to attend a meeting of an Overview or Scrutiny 

Committee, by such Committee exercising its statutory powers. 

Page 202



Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as 

set out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012 

 

Subject 
 

Description 

Employment, 
office, trade, 
profession or 
vocation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
[Any unpaid directorship. 

 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the local 
authority) made to the Member during the 
previous 12- month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a Member, or towards his/her 
election expenses. 
 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

 

Contracts Any contract made between the Member or 
his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the Member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which     such 
person is a partner, or an incorporated body of 
which such person is a director* or a body that 
such person has a beneficial interest in the 
securities  of*) and the Combined Authority:- 
 
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 
 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

 

Page 203

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the Combined Authority. „Land‟ 
excludes an easement, servitude, interest or 
right in or over land which does not give the 
Member or his/her spouse or civil partner or 
the    person with whom the Member is living as 
if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or 
jointly with another) a right to occupy or to 
receive income. 

. 
 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the Combined 
Authority for  a month or longer. 

 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member‟s 
knowledge):- 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the Member, or 
his/her spouse or civil partner or the person 
with whom the Member is living as if they were 
spouses/ civil partners is a partner of or a 
director* of or has a beneficial 
interest in the securities* of. 

 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member‟s 
knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the Combined 
Authority:-  
(b)  either— 
(i)  the total nominal value of the 
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the Member, 
or his/ her spouse or civil partner or the person 
with whom the Member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 

* „Director‟ includes a Member of the Committee or management of an 

industrial and provident society.  

Page 204



 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates  to or 
is likely to affect: 

 

a) any unpaid Directorships.l  

 
b) any body 

exercising functions of a public nature 
any body directed to charitable purposes or 
one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public    
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of 
which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management. 

 

* „securities‟ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 

bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 

description, other than money deposited with a building society. 

 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 
 

 
  

Page 205



Table 3: Standard Dispensations 
 

1. You will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in any 
business of your Combined Authority in respect of any Other 
Registerable Interest: 

 
(a) where that business relates to:- 

 
(i) another local authority of which you are also a Member; 

 
(ii) another public authority or body exercising functions of a 

public nature in which you hold a position of general 
control or management; 

 
(iii) a body to which you have been elected, appointed or 

nominated by your authority, but only in the circumstance 
where the sole purpose of participating is to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the business at the request of the [Elected Mayor, 
Cabinet, Cabinet Member or] Committee meeting; 

 
(iv) your role as a School Governor, unless it relates particularly 

to the school of which you are a governor; or 
 

(v) your role as a Member of a National Health Service 
Board or Governing Body.  

 

(b) except that no dispensation described in sub-paragraph (a) 
above will apply where the business to be transacted at the 
meeting is the determination of any regulatory approval, consent, 
licence, permission or registration (for example, determination of 
an application for planning permission or consent or licence 
under the Licensing Act 2003). 

 

2. You will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in any 
business where that business relates to:- 

 
(a) the housing functions of your authority where you hold a tenancy or lease 
with your authority, provided that you do not have arrears of rent  with your 
authority of more than two months, and provided that those functions do not 
relate particularly to your tenancy or lease.  
 

 
(b) the functions of your authority in respect of school meals, transport and 
travelling expenses, where you are a guardian, parent, grandparent or have parental 
responsibility (as defined in section 3 of the Children Act 1989) of a child in full time 
education, unless it relates particularly to the school which that child attends; 

 
(c) the functions of your authority in respect of statutory sick pay under      
Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, where 

Page 206



you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of such pay from your 
authority; 
 

(d) the functions of your authority in respect of an allowance or payment made 
under sections 22(5), 24(4) and 173 to 176 of the Local Government Act 1972, an 
allowance or pension under section 18 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 or an allowance or payment under section 100 of the Local Government Act 
2000; 
 
(e) any ceremonial honour given to one or more Members; or 
 
(f) the setting of the Authority‟s council tax requirement, council tax, levy or a 
precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (except that this dispensation 
does not apply if you are two months or more in arrears with their Council Tax you 
must declare this to the meeting and must not vote on budget recommendations, as 
to do otherwise can be a criminal offence). 
 
 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 6 - SECTION B 

 

OFFICERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

 

Contents  

1.     Introduction 

2.     Standards, Values & Expectations 

3.     Disclosure of Information 

4.     Political Neutrality/Activity  

5.     Relationships 

6.     Outside Commitments 

7.     Personal Interests 

8.     Equality Issues 

9.     Separation of Role During Tendering 

10. Corruption 

11. Use of Financial Resources  

12. Use of Combined Authority Facilities 

13. Gifts and Hospitality 

14. Sponsorship – Giving and Receiving 

15. Hospitality Offered by the Combined Authority 

16. Whistleblowing 

  

Page 209

Item 6b



1.   INTRODUCTION  

 

1.1 Any reference to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) is to 

be read as including Merseytravel.  

  

1.2 The NJC (National Joint Council for Local Government Services) National 

Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service incorporates the following 

statements: 

“Employees will maintain conduct of the highest standard such that public 

confidence in their integrity is sustained.  

Local codes of practice will be developed to cover the official conduct and 

the obligations of employees and employers.” 

 

1.3 Combined Authority employees are expected to conduct themselves with 
integrity and honesty in carrying out their duties and must provide the highest 
possible standard of service to the public. Where it is part of their duties to 
provide appropriate advice to Members and fellow employees this must be 
done with impartiality at all times.  

 
1.4 This Code of Conduct is intended as a guide for employees on the standards 

that are expected. It builds on the expectation that Officers will observe the 
general principles of conduct identified by the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life (as set out in Appendix 1 to the Members Code of Conduct at Part 
6A above) as it equally applies to them. 

 
1.5 Employees will be expected, without fear of recrimination, to bring to the 

attention of the appropriate level of management any deficiency in the 
provision of service (see paragraph 16 Whistleblowing). 

 
1.6 Any breach of the terms of this Code will be dealt with in accordance with the 

provisions of the Disciplinary Procedure of the Combined Authority.  
 
1.7 If employees are in any doubt about any of the provisions of the Code they 

should seek advice from their manager. 
 
1.8 Where the following expressions are used for the LCRCA positions, they also 

refer to the Merseytravel positions:- 
  

LCRCA Merseytravel 

       Head of Paid Service        Director General 

       Monitoring Officer/Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

       Secretary 

       Treasurer        Chief Financial Officer 

 

2.   STANDARDS, VALUES AND EXPECTATIONS  

  

2.1 Employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to the 

public, and where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to other 

Page 210



employees and Members with impartiality. Employees should bring to the 

attention of the management any deficiency in the provision of service and 

must report any impropriety or breach of procedure to their Senior Officer.  

 

2.2  The public is entitled to expect the conduct of Combined Authority‟s  employees 
to be of the highest standard and public confidence would be damaged were 
there any suspicion, however ill-founded, suggesting an Officer‟s integrity was 
questionable. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety, employees must, at 
all times, seek to avoid any occasion for suspicion or appearance of improper 
conduct. 

 
2.3   The following values provide the cornerstone for ethical behaviour as an 

Combined Authority employee:- 
 

       Service, Respect & Courtesy; 

       Honesty & Integrity; 

       Accountability; 

       Political Neutrality; and 

       Standards of Professional Conduct. 
 
2.4  The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority expects its employees to:- 
 

 Conduct themselves in a manner that reflects well on the     organisation; 

 comply with all legal and regulatory requirements; 

 treat others with respect and courtesy; 

 behave fairly, honestly and openly; 

 safeguard the assets and property of the organisation; 

 remain politically neutral when undertaking their duties; 

 comply with both the letter of the law (or any Combined Authority policy) 
and   the general spirit of any directive; 

 ensure „commercial expediency‟ does not override or usurp this Code of 
Conduct or any other Combined Authority policy; 

 to report to the appropriate level of management and/or to the relevant 
individuals any impropriety or breach of procedure; 

 recognise that their off-duty hours are their own personal concern but that 
they should not subordinate their duty to their private interests or put 
themselves in a position where their duty and their private interest conflict. 

 

3.   DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION  

  

3.1. The law requires that certain types of information must be available to 

Members, auditors, Government departments, service users and the public.  

 

3.2. Under the Local Government Act 1972, as well as legislation such as the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000, the public have a right to see or obtain 

certain information held by public bodies. 

 

Page 211



3.3. Employees must not use any information obtained in the course of their 

employment for personal gain or benefit, or pass it onto others who might use it 

in such a way.  

 

3.4 All contact with the media, whether being sought proactively or in response to 

media requests, should be referred to the communications team for 

consideration and for agreement of approach. All staff should familiarise 

themselves with the media policy.  

 

3.5 Use of social media, whether on behalf of the organisation as part of an 

employee‟s role, or by an employee personally (should they be able to be 

recognised as an employee of the Combined Authority), should not bring the 

organisation into disrepute or breach confidentiality. All staff should familiarise 

themselves with the social media policy.  

 

3.6 If employees consider that the non-disclosure of certain information is contrary 
to the wider public interest, they should advise the Head of Paid Service, 
Directors and the Monitoring Officer of the information and the issues 
concerned.  

  

4.  POLITICAL NEUTRALITY/ACTIVITY  

  

4.1. Employees serve the Combined Authority as a whole. It follows, therefore, that 

they must serve all Members the Combined Authority as a whole and not just 

Members of any controlling Group and/or the Metro Mayor, and must ensure 

that the individual rights of all Members are respected.  

 

4.2. Some senior employees will be expected, within the Combined Authority‟s 

guidelines, to advise Political Groups. These employees have a duty to advise 

Minority Groups as well as the controlling Group.  

 

4.3. Some employees, who are normally those in more senior positions, are in 

politically restricted posts and by law are prevented from taking part in certain 

political activities outside their work. Employees who are in this position should 

have been told of this in writing and of the rules for claiming exemption, but any 

employee who is any doubt about their position should contact the Monitoring 

Officer or staff in HR. 

 

4.4. If an employee is in any doubt about whether an activity is political activity and 

covered by these rules they should seek advice from the Head of Paid Service, 

Directors and the Monitoring Officer. .  

 

4.5. It is important that all employees are aware of their position in terms of political 

activity because if these statutory provisions are breached this may constitute a 

breach of the Contract of Employment which may be dealt with under the 

Combined Authority‟s disciplinary procedure.  

 

Page 212



4.6. Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every lawful policy 

of the Combined Authority and must not allow their own personal or political 

opinions to interfere with their work.  

  

5.   RELATIONSHIPS  

  

5.1 Members  

  

Some employees are required to give advice to Members as part of their job 
and mutual respect between employees and Members is essential to promote 
good governance.  

  

5.2  The Local Community and Service Users  

  

Employees must always remember their responsibilities to the community they 
serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all 
Groups and individuals within the community.  

  

5.3  Contractors  

  

All relationships with contractors or potential contractors must be made known 

to the appropriate Manager. Orders and contracts must be awarded in line with 

the Combined Authority‟s Financial Procedure Rules.  

  

Employees who engage or supervise contractors or have an official relationship 

with contractors and have previously had or currently have a relationship in a 

private or domestic capacity, must declare that relationship to the appropriate 

manager.  

  

6.   OUTSIDE COMMITMENTS  

  

6.1. An employee‟s off-duty hours are their personal concern, but they must not 

place themselves in a position where their employment and private interests 

conflict. The Combined Authority would not wish to preclude employees 

unreasonably from undertaking additional work unless that work conflicts with 

or detrimentally affects the Combined Authority‟s interests or in any way 

weakens public confidence in the conduct of the Combined Authority‟s 

business, or in any way affects the ability to fulfil the Contract of Employment.  

 

6.2 Officers who are Head of Service Grade or above  are expected to 

devote the whole of their paid employment work to the Combined Authority and 

must not engage in any other business, or take up any other additional 

appointment for financial gain without the agreement in advance of the Head of 

Paid Service, Directors and the Monitoring Officer.  

 

 

 

Page 213



7.   PERSONAL INTERESTS  

  

7.1. Employees must declare to their line manager, non-financial interests that they 

consider could bring conflict with the Combined Authority‟s interests e.g. 

involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid from the Combined 

Authority, membership of an NHS Trust Board, involvement with an 

organisation or Pressure Group which may seek to influence their authority‟s 

policies, personal relationships etc.). Membership of a trade union is exempted 

from this requirement.  

 

7.2. Employees must declare any financial interest, which could conflict with the 

Combined Authority‟s interests. Employees should note that, in addition to the 

provisions of this Code and of conditions of employment, it is criminal offence to 

fail to comply with the following requirement: 

If it comes to the knowledge of an Officer employed by a local authority 

that a contract in which he or she has any pecuniary interest, whether 

direct or indirect (not being a contract to which they are a party), has 

been, or is proposed to be, entered into by the authority or any committee 

thereof, the Officer shall as soon as practicable give notice in writing to 

the authority of the fact that the Officer is interested therein (s.117(1) of the Local 

Government Act 1972).  

 

7.3. Employees who have an interest, financial or non-financial, should not involve 

themselves in any decision on allocation of Combined Authority services or 

resources from which they, their friends or family might benefit, and should 

ensure that the matter is referred immediately to their line manager (e.g. 

allocation of Combined Authority housing or assessment of housing benefit).  

  

8.   EQUALITY ISSUES  

  

8.1 Employees have an obligation to ensure that policies relating to equality issues 

as agreed by the Combined Authority are complied with, as well, of course, as 

the requirements of the law. All members of the local community, customers 

and other employees have a right to be treated with fairness and equity.  

  

9.   SEPARATION OF ROLE DURING TENDERING  

  

9.1. Employees should be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles 

within the Combined Authority. Senior employees who have both a client and 

contractor responsibility must be aware of the need for accountability and 

openness.  

 

9.2. Employees in contractor or provider units must exercise fairness and 

impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and 

sub `contractors.  

 

Page 214



9.3. Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for 

either internal or external contractors must not disclose that information to any 

unauthorised party or organisation. 

  

9.4. Employees must ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent 

former employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding 

contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant 

managerial capacity.  

  

10.   CORRUPTION  

  

10.1 It is a criminal offence for an employee to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, 

reward or advantage for doing or not doing anything or showing favour or dis-

favour to any person in their official capacity. It is for the employee to 

demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly obtained.  

  

11.  USE OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES  

  

11.1 Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a 

responsible and lawful manner, ensuring value for money to the local 

community and avoiding legal challenge to the Combined Authority.  

  

12 USE OF COMBINED AUTHORITY  FACILITIES 
 
12.1 Officers of the Combined Authority are provided with facilities, including office 

equipment, computer facilities, transport, telephones, secretarial services etc., 
to use in carrying out their official duties. Certain facilities, such as telephones 
and photocopiers, are available to staff for limited private incidental with prior 
agreement of the Officers Head of Service. However, Combined Authority work 
must always be given priority. Unauthorised use of equipment will render an 
employee liable to disciplinary action and/or legal proceedings.  

 
12.2 The Combined Authority recognises the importance of information technology in 

delivering efficient, high quality services. All Officers are required to take 
appropriate measures to ensure the security of information, and the protection 
of IT equipment and information from threats such as computer viruses and 
theft. Employees can introduce a virus when utilising their own software and 
this must in no circumstances take place without the prior written approval both 
of the Head of Information Technology and the employee‟s relevant Senior 
Officer.  

 
12.3 The use of IT equipment is regulated by various Procedure Rules including the 

Acceptable Use of IT Policy and acts of parliament including Data Protection 
legislation and the Freedom of Information Act (2000). All employees are 
obliged to act in accordance with these regulations and employees must be 
aware of the requirements of these policies for both business and personal use 
of IT equipment. Details can be accessed through the  Intranet site. 

 

Page 215



12.4 Employees who have responsibility for the use of equipment, machinery, etc. 
must always ensure that routine checks are carried out prior to use. Any defect 
or damage must be reported immediately by the employee to their supervisor.  

 
12.5 Employees who use social media as part of their day-to-day work, including the 

management of council social media accounts to engage with residents, should 
adhere to the Combined Authority‟s Social Media protocol. 

 

13.  GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 

 

13.1 It is acknowledged that Combined Authority employees may be offered gifts and 

hospitality in the course of their work.  

 

13.2 Employees must not seek out offers of gifts or hospitality, nor should the 

receipt, or potential receipt, of gifts or hospitality have any influence on the 

policies, practices, decisions or actions of employees or the Liverpool City 

Region Combined Authority as a corporate body.  

 

13.3 Insofar as Members are concerned, paragraphs 27 to 29 of the National Code 

of Local Government Conduct deal with gifts and hospitality.  Although the 

National Code of Local Government Conduct has been designed specifically for 

Members, employees should be aware of its provisions and operate within 

them. 

 

13.4 In relation to Officers of the Combined Authority specifically, Section 117(2) of 

the Local Government Act 1972 states that an Officer shall not, under colour of 

his/her office, accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than his/her proper 

remuneration. Any breach is a criminal offence. Whilst statutorily this provision 

does not apply to Merseytravel, staff are asked to abide by its terms in any 

event.  

 

13.5 Employees must always be aware that the acceptance of inducements might 

be seen as corruption, which is a criminal offence under the Bribery Act 2010. 

This Act covers the request, agreement to receive, or acceptance of an 

advantage or bribe as well as the offer, promise, or giving of an advantage or 

bribe to another person.  

 

Register to be Maintained 

 

13.6 To demonstrate the openness and integrity of the circumstances relating to the 

offer and acceptance of gifts, hospitality or other favours, HR will maintain a 

register (or registers as appropriate) of favours etc offered, detailing the nature 

of the favour, and indicating whether such favours are declined or accepted. 

Each person will be responsible for entering details of all favours offered to, or 

accepted by, them in the appropriate register. The Head of Paid Service and 

appropriate senior managers will maintain their own registers. The Head of 

Audit is available to provide detailed advice on the format of registers, together 

Page 216



with what should be included within them. 

 

13.7 Registers must be open for inspection at any time, and without prior notice by 

the following: 

 

a. The Head of Paid Service; 

b. Monitoring Officer; 

c. Senior Managers as appropriate when appointed; 

d. Internal Audit Staff; 

e.     The External Auditor. 

 

Gifts  

 

13.8 There are a number of considerations to be taken into account where gifts are 

concerned, which may impact upon the appropriateness of accepting them.  

 

 These include, but are not limited to:- 

 

 (a) The nature of the gift, e.g. its value; 

 (b) The motivation of the person giving the gift; and  

 (c) The frequency of the proposed gift/hospitality.  

 

 

13.9 Most firms, as part of their normal commercial activity, distribute gifts which 

range from the promotional (e.g. calendars, diaries etc.) to the more expensive 

(e.g. wines and spirits). The more expensive gifts are obviously distributed 

where they will have the greatest specific impact.   While this may be 

commonplace and acceptable conduct in some parts of the private sector, the 

requirements of the public sector are very different. 

 

Guidance 

 

(a) Officers must refuse any personal gift offered to them by any person or firm 

who has or seeks dealings with the Combined Authority.   

 

(b) The exception to this is modest promotional material of low value such as 

calendars and diaries, which are, in many cases, unsolicited and simply 

delivered by post. Even here, however, staff must use judgment, and more 

expensive promotional items must be refused and returned. 

 

(c) From time to time, staff may find themselves in a position where they have to 

refuse and/or return gifts. This requires diplomatic handling and staff must not 

behave in ways which donors of gifts might regard as impolite or 

unnecessarily critical of a recognised private sector practice.  

 

Page 217



(d) It is sometimes acceptable to the giver for a gift, which in other circumstances 

would be refused as in (c) to be donated instead to charity.   An arrangement 

of this sort must only be made with a Senior Manager‟s approval, must be 

entered in the Register, and recorded by letter to the giver indicating that the 

gift has been donated to charity. 

 
Hospitality 

 

13.10 Contracts established socially can be helpful in the Combined Authority's 

interests. It is therefore appropriate in certain circumstances for the Combined 

Authority's staff to accept invitations for social involvement with persons or 

bodies, including those who have, or may seek to have, business dealings 

with the Combined Authority. At the same time it is very easy for such 

involvement to be misconstrued as providing an opportunity to bring about 

undue influence and there will, therefore, be occasions when hospitality must 

be declined. 

 

13.11 Where hospitality is offered to staff as representatives of the Combined 
Authority, it may be accepted where it appears reasonable in all the 
circumstances to do so. It is generally more acceptable to join in 
hospitality offered to a Group than to an individual. Where hospitality is 
offered to one employee only, special caution is needed as an employee 
alone may be viewed as more vulnerable than a number of employees. 
Again, this is a matter of judgement. 

 
13.12  When a particular person or body has a matter currently in issue with the 

Combined Authority (e.g. arbitration arising from a contract or an 
industrial development proposal), an offer of hospitality must be refused 
even if in normal times it would be acceptable. 

 
13.13  Staff members must not accept offers of hospitality which might, or might 

reasonably appear to, compromise their personal judgement or integrity 
and place them under an improper obligation. 

 
13.14 However, there are some roles where it would never be appropriate for 

Officers to accept offers of gifts and hospitality. This is particularly true of 
employees who: 
 

 are members of the Procurement team; 

 are involved in commissioning a service or in tender evaluation; 

 undertake a regulatory or contract monitoring function; and 

 are involved in determining payments due to third parties. 
 

13.15  There are also certain types of event that it would not be appropriate for 
Members of the Combined Authority to be seen to be attending. 
Employees should make their own judgement based on this guidance 
and discuss it with their Head of Service, Monitoring Officer, Director 
and/or Head of Paid Service before accepting or declining the gift or the 
offer of hospitality.  It is not possible for the Code to contemplate all 

Page 218



manner of events that might fall to be considered under this category.  A 
type of event that might not be suitable is an event to speak at a political 
party occasion.  Other issues and types of event may fall to be 
considered and the example is not meant to be determinative. 

 
13.16  Where attendance at events given through hospitality is considered 

appropriate, for example in order to represent, support or promote the 
Liverpool City Region, attendance should be authorised by the Head of 
Paid Service. 
 

13.17  Where an offer of hospitality is made to the Head of Paid Service that 
(having regard to this policy) he/she wishes to accept, the authorisation 
of the Treasurer and/or the Monitoring Officer must be obtained. 

 

Favours 

 

13.18 It is accepted that favours may often be offered by outside agencies in good 

faith and to promote a good working relationship and understanding.   

 

13.19 Constant refusals to accept such offers could impair essential working 

relationships and possibly create an atmosphere of distrust with a consequential 

detrimental effect on the business being conducted. Staff can discuss this situation 

with the Head of Paid Service, Director or Monitoring Officer before accepting or 

declining the favour of the offer of the favour.  

 

13.20 However, it is vitally important to be able to demonstrate that Combined 

Authority business is conducted with the utmost integrity, without any taint of 

impropriety or corruption. Accordingly, offers of personal favours by organisations or 

individuals with whom the Combined Authority deals with must be treated by 

employees with due caution. Favours must not affect proper working relationships, or 

allow concern that they are affecting proper working relationships. 

 

13.21 A distinction must be drawn between favours perceived to be offered as 

goodwill gestures, and those which might be seen to be inducements.   Any favour 

which could be regarded as an inducement to influence the business of the 

Combined Authority in an improper manner cannot be accepted. The offer of any 

such favour must immediately be reported to the Head of Paid Service, Director or 

Monitoring Officer.  

 

 13.22 Trade or other discounts, a similar preferential treatment for personal items 

must not be sought or accepted by individual employees as a direct consequence of 

their employment by the Combined Authority. 

 

14.  SPONSORSHIP - GIVING AND RECEIVING  

  

14.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is sought to sponsor a 

Combined Authority activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or 

Page 219



voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality 

apply. Particular care must be taken when dealing with contractors or potential 

contractors.  

  

14.2 Where the Combined Authority wishes to sponsor an event or service neither 

an employee nor any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such 

sponsorship in a direct way without there being full disclosure to an appropriate 

manager of any such interest. Similarly where the Combined Authority through 

sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the 

community, employees must ensure that impartial advice is given and that 

there is no conflict of interest involved.  

 

15.     HOSPITALITY OFFERED BY THE COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 

15.1    The Combined Authority will not normally provide gifts or hospitality in the 

course of its business although there are occasions where low value „gifts‟ may 

be appropriate for marketing purposes. 

 

15.2    The provision of hospitality must be agreed in advance by your Head of 

Service (or immediate line manager for Heads of Service and above). 

 
15.3    The expenses claim form can be used to claim back expenses associated with 

hospitality, provided all receipts are attached to the claim. 

 
15.4     When determining whether or not it is appropriate to offer hospitality to third 

parties, employees should consider the same conditions as they would for 

hospitality received. 

  

16.  WHISTLEBLOWING 

 

16.1 If an employee becomes aware of activities which he/she believes to be illegal, 

improper, unethical or otherwise inconsistent with this Code, the employee 

should report the matter, acting in accordance with the employee‟s rights under 

the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, and with the Combined Authority‟s 

confidential reporting procedure, or any other procedure designed for this 

purpose. 

Page 220



PART 6 - SECTION C 
 

MEMBERS CODE ON PLANNING MATTERS 

CONTENTS 
 
 

No. Section 
1. Background 

2. Introduction 

3. Relationship to the Members‟ Code of Conduct 

4. Development Proposals and Personal Interests 

5. Fettering Discretion in the Planning Process  

6. Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors 

7. Lobbying of Members 

8. Lobbying by Members 

9. Site Visits/Inspections 

10. Public Speaking at Meetings 

11. Officers 

12. Decision Making 

13. Training 

 

  

Page 221

Item 6c



1 Background  

  

1.1 The Members‟ Planning Code of Good Practice was originally prepared in 
response to a series of successful court challenges concerning themselves 
with local planning authorities and the Members‟ conduct or conflicts of 
interests. It replaced what was a number of individual and sometimes 
haphazard approaches in individual authorities at the time.    

  

1.2 The drafting of the model code was subject to consultation and comment from 
a number of local authorities through the machinery of the Lawyers in Local 
Government (ACSeS as was), the Local Government Association, the Local 
Government Ombudsman, Audit Commission and from firms of solicitors or 
counsel acting on their behalf.  

  

1.3 This 2013 update takes into account the update to the Principles of Public Life 
(the „Nolan principles‟) and commentary from the Committee on standards in 
public life, the changes in the approach to codes of conduct and also to 
predetermination introduced by the Localism Act 2011 and the guide on 
„Openness and transparency on personal interests‟ published by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government 2013.  

  

1.4 For further reading please refer to „Probity in Planning‟ issued by the Local 
Government Association.  

  

2 Introduction  

2.1 The aim of this Code: to ensure that in the planning process there are no 
grounds for suggesting that a decision has been biased, partial or not well 
founded in any way.  

  

2.2 One of the key purposes of the planning system is to regulate the development 
and use of land in the public interest. Your role as a Member of the Planning 
Authority is to make planning decisions openly, impartially, with sound 
judgement and for justifiable reasons. You are also a democratically 
accountable decision-taker who had been elected to provide and pursue 
policies.  You are entitled to be predisposed to make planning decisions in 
accordance with your political views and policies provided that you have 
considered all material considerations and have given fair consideration to 
relevant points raised.  

  

2.3 When the Code applies: this code applies to Members at all times when 
involving themselves in the planning process. (This includes when taking part in 
the decision making meetings of the Combined Authority in exercising the 
functions of the Planning Authority or when involved on less formal occasions, 
such as meetings with Officers or the public and consultative meetings). It 
applies as equally to planning enforcement matters or site specific policy issues 
as it does to planning applications.   

  

Page 222



If you have any doubts about the application of this Code to your own 

circumstances you should seek advice early, from the Monitoring Officer or 

one of his or her staff, and preferably well before any meeting takes place.  

  

3. Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct  

 (a) Do apply the rules in the Members‟ Code of Conduct first, which must 
always be complied with. This is both the rules on interest, Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) and any other interests identified by your Authority, 
and the general rules giving effect to the seven principles of public life: 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and 
leadership.   
 

(b) Do then apply the rules in this Members‟ Planning Code, which seek to 
explain and supplement the Members‟ Code of Conduct and the law on 
decision making for the purposes of planning control. If you do not abide by 
this Members‟ Planning Code, you may put:  
i the Authority at risk of proceedings on the legality of the related 

decision or maladministration; and   
ii yourself at risk of being named in a report made to the Authority or, if 

the failure is also likely to be a breach of the interest provisions of 
Localism Act 2011, a complaint being made to the police to consider 
criminal proceedings.  

  

4 Development Proposals and Personal Interests   

(a) Do disclose the existence and nature of your interest as required by 
 your Combined Authority‟s Member Code of Conduct.  
 
(b) Do take into account when approaching a decision that the Principle of 

Integrity is defined in terms that:- 
   

“Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under 

any obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to 
gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 

friends.  

They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships”. 

 

It is therefore advisable that you:  

 

- Don’t seek or accept any preferential treatment, or place yourself in a 

position that could lead the public to think you are receiving preferential 

treatment, because of your position as a Member. This would include, 

where you have a disclosable or other personal conflict of interest in a 

proposal, using your position to discuss that proposal with Officers or 

Members when other members of the public would not have the same 

opportunity to do so.  

Page 223



- Do note that you are not prevented from seeking to explain and justify a 

proposal in which you may have a conflict of interest to an appropriate 

Officer, in person or in writing, but that your role as a Member may place 

additional limitations on you in representing the proposal in which you have 

a personal interest.  

- Do notify the Monitoring Officer in writing where it is clear to you that you 

have a disclosable pecuniary interest or other personal conflict of interest 

and note that:  

 you should send the notification no later than submission of that 
application where you can;   

 the proposal will always be reported to the Committee as a main item 
and not dealt with by Officers under delegated powers;   

 you must not get involved in the processing of the application; and   

 it is advisable that you employ an agent to act on your behalf in respect 
of the proposal when dealing with Officers and in public speaking at 
Committee.  

  

5 Fettering Discretion in the Planning Process   

(natural justice, predisposition and predetermination)  
 

(a) Don’t fetter your discretion by approaching the decision with a closed mind.   
(b) Do be aware that in your role as an Elected Member you are entitled, and are 

often expected, to have expressed views on planning issues and that these 
comments have an added measure of protection under the Localism Act 2011.    

(c) Do keep at the front of your mind that, when you come to make the decision, you   
(i) are entitled to have and to have expressed your own views on the 

matter, provided you are prepared to reconsider your position in the 

light of all the evidence and arguments;  

(ii) must keep an open mind and hear all of the evidence before you, both 

the Officers‟ presentation of the facts and their advice as well as the 

arguments from all sides;   

(iii) are not required to cast aside views on planning policy you held when 

seeking election or otherwise acting as a Member, in giving fair 

consideration to points raised;  

(iv) are required to take account of all material considerations and must 

disregard considerations irrelevant to the question and legal context at 

hand; and   

(v) are to come to a decision after giving what you feel is the right weight 

to those material considerations.   

(d) Do be aware that you can be biased where the Combined Authority or your 

Constituent Council is the landowner, developer or applicant if you have acted 

as, or could be perceived as being, a chief advocate for the proposal. (This is 

more than a matter of membership of both the proposing and planning 

determination committees, but that through your significant personal 

involvement in preparing or advocating the proposal you will be, or perceived 

Page 224



by the public as being, no longer able to act impartially or to determine the 

proposal purely on its planning merits.)  

(e) Do consider yourself able to take part in the debate on a proposal when acting 

as part of a consultee body, including when acting as a Member of a 

Constituent Council (or where you are also a Member of the Parish Council, for 

example), provided:-   

i the proposal does not substantially effect the well being or financial 
standing of the consultee body;  

ii you make it clear to the consultee body that:  
(a) your views are expressed on the limited information before you only;   
(b) you must reserve judgement and the independence to make up your 

own mind on each separate proposal, based on your overriding duty 
to the whole community and not just to the people in that area, ward 
or parish, as and when it comes before the Committee and you hear 
all of the relevant information; and  

(c) you will not in any way commit yourself as to how you or others may 
vote when the proposal comes before the Committee. 

  
(f) Do explain that you do not intend to speak and vote as a Member of the 

Committee because you will be perceived as having judged (or you reserve the 

right to judge) the matter elsewhere, so that this may be recorded in the 

minutes. (Use the disclosure form provided for disclosing interests.)   

(g) Do take the opportunity to exercise your separate speaking rights as a 

Ward/Local Member (where this is granted by the authority’s Standing Orders 

or by the consent from the Chair and Committee) where you have represented 

your views or those of local electors and fettered your discretion, but do not 

have a disclosable or other personal conflict of interest. Where you do:  

i. advise the Monitoring Officer or Chair that you wish to speak in this 
capacity before commencement of the item;  

ii. remove yourself from the seating area for Members of the Committee 
for the duration of that item; and  

iii. ensure that your actions are recorded.  
  

6 Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors  

(a) Do refer those who approach you for planning, procedural or technical advice 

to Officers.  

(b) Don’t agree to any formal meeting with applicants, developers or groups of 

objectors where you can avoid it. Where you feel that a formal meeting would 

be useful in clarifying the issues, you should seek to arrange that meeting 

yourself through a request to the [appropriate Officer to be appointed] to 

organise it. The Officer(s) will then ensure that those present at the meeting are 

advised from the start that the discussions will not bind the Combined Authority 

to any particular course of action, that the meeting is properly recorded on the 

application file and the record of the meeting is disclosed when the application 

is considered by the Committee.  

(c) Do otherwise:  

Page 225



i. follow the Combined Authority‟s rules on lobbying;  

ii consider whether or not it would be prudent in the circumstances to 

make notes when contacted; and  

iii report to the [appropriate Officer to be appointed] any significant contact 

with the applicant and other parties, explaining the nature and purpose 

of the contacts and your involvement in them, and ensure that this is 

recorded on the planning file.  

 

In addition in respect of presentations by applicants/developers:  

(a) Don’t attend a planning presentation without requesting an Officer to be 

present.   

(b) Do ask relevant questions for the purposes of clarifying your 

understanding of the proposals.  

(c) Do remember that the presentation is not part of the formal process of 

debate and determination of any subsequent application, this will be 

carried out by the appropriate Committee of the planning authority.  

(d) Do be aware that a presentation is a form of lobbying and, whilst you 
may express any view on the merits or otherwise of the proposal 
presented, you should never state how you or other Members would 
intend to vote at a committee.  

  

7 Lobbying of Members   

(a) Do explain to those lobbying or attempting to lobby you that, whilst you 

can listen to what is said, it may subsequently prejudice your impartiality, 

and therefore your ability to participate in the Committee‟s decision 

making, to make any sort of promise to vote one way or another or such 

a firm point of view that it amounts to the same thing.  

(b) Do remember that your overriding duty is to city region, not just to the 

people in your Constituent Council and, taking account of the need to 

make decisions impartially, that you should not improperly favour, or 

appear to improperly favour, any person, company, Group or locality.  

(c) Don’t accept gifts or hospitality from any person involved in or affected 

by a planning proposal. If a degree of hospitality is entirely unavoidable, 

ensure it is of a minimum, its acceptance is declared as soon as 

possible, including its addition to your register of interests where 

relevant.    

(d) Do copy or pass on any lobbying correspondence you receive to the 

Development Control Manager at the earliest opportunity.  

(e) Do promptly refer to the [appropriate manager to be appointed] any 

offers made to you of planning gain or constraint of development, 

through a proposed s.106 Planning Obligation or otherwise.  

Page 226



(f) Do inform the Monitoring Officer where you feel you have been exposed 

to undue or excessive lobbying or approaches (including inappropriate 

offers of gifts or hospitality), who will in turn advise the appropriate 

Officers to follow the matter up.  

(g) Do note that, unless you have a disclosable or overriding other personal 

conflict of interest, you will not have fettered your discretion or breached 

this Planning Code through:  

i. listening or receiving viewpoints from residents or other interested 

parties;  

ii. making comments to residents, interested parties, other Members or 

appropriate Officers (making clear that you must keep an open mind 

when it comes to making the decision);   

iii. seeking information through appropriate channels; or  

iv. being a vehicle for the expression of opinion of others in your role as 

a Member of the Combined Authority.  

 

8 Lobbying by Members   

(a) Don’t become a member of, lead or represent an organisation whose 

primary purpose is to lobby to promote or oppose planning proposals 

unless it is your intention to openly campaign on the matter and will 

therefore step away from the Committee when it comes to make its 

decision.  

(b) Do join general interest Groups which reflect your areas of interest and 

which concentrate on issues beyond particular planning proposals (such 

as the Victorian Society, CPRE, Ramblers Association or a local civic 

society), but you should normally seek to disclose that interest on the 

grounds of transparency where the organisation has made 

representations on a particular proposal.  

(c) Don’t excessively lobby fellow Members regarding your concerns or 

views nor attempt to persuade them that they should decide how to vote 

in advance of the meeting at which any planning decision is to be taken.  

(d) Don’t decide or discuss how to vote on any application at any Political 

Group meeting, or lobby any other Member to do so. Political Group 

Meetings should never dictate how Members should vote on a planning 

issue.    

 

9 Site Visits/Inspections  

(a) Do try to attend site visits organised by the Combined Authority where 

possible.  

(b) Don’t request a site visit unless you feel it is strictly necessary because:- 

 

Page 227



i. particular site factors are significant in terms of the weight attached to 

them relative to other factors or the difficulty of their assessment in 

the absence of a site inspection; or   

ii. there are significant policy or precedent implications and specific site 

factors need to be carefully addressed.  

(c) Do ensure that you report back to the Committee any information gained 

from the site visit that you feel would benefit all Members of the 

Committee  

(d) Do ensure that you treat the site visit only as an opportunity to seek 

information and to observe the site.  

(e) Do ask the Officers at the site visit questions or seek clarification from 

them on matters which are relevant to the site inspection.  

(f) Don’t hear representations from any other party, with the exception of the 

Ward Member(s) whose address must focus only on site factors and site 

issues. Where you are approached by the applicant or a third party, 

advise them that they should make representations in writing to the 

Combined Authority and direct them to or inform the Officer present.  

(g) Don’t express opinions or views.  

(h) Don’t enter a site which is subject to a proposal other than as part of an 

official site visit, even in response to an invitation, as this may give the 

impression of bias unless:- 

 

i. you feel it is essential for you to visit the site other than through 

attending the official site visit;   

ii. you have first spoken to the Development Control Manager about 

your intention to do so and why (which will be recorded on the file); 

and   

iii. you can ensure you will comply with these good practice rules on site 

visits.  

10 Public Speaking at Meetings  

(a) Don’t allow members of the public to communicate with you during the 

Committee‟s proceedings (orally or in writing) other than through the 

scheme for public speaking or through the Chair, as this may give the 

appearance of bias.  

(b) Do ensure that you comply with the Combined Authority‟s procedures in 

respect of public speaking.  

  

11 Officers  

(a) Don’t put pressure on Officers to put forward a particular 

recommendation. (This does not prevent you from asking questions or 

Page 228



submitting views to the [appropriate manager to be appointed], which may 

be incorporated into any committee report).  

(b) Do recognise that Officers are part of a management structure and only 

discuss a proposal, outside of any arranged meeting, with the Head of 

Service or those Officers who are authorised by their Head of Service to 

deal with the proposal at a Member level.   

(c) Do recognise and respect that Officers involved in the processing and 

determination of planning matters must act in accordance with the 

Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Officers and their professional 

codes of conduct, primarily the Royal Town Planning Institute‟s Code of 

Professional Conduct. As a result, planning Officers‟ views, opinions and 

recommendations will be presented on the basis of their overriding 

obligation of professional independence, which may on occasion be at 

odds with the views, opinions or decisions of the Committee or its 

Members.  

  

12 Decision Making  

(a) Do ensure that, if you request a proposal to go before the Committee 

rather than be determined through Officer delegation, that your planning 

reasons are recorded and repeated in the report to the Committee.  

(b) Do come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that you are 

open-minded.  

(c) Do comply with section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 and make decisions in accordance with the Development Plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

(d) Do come to your decision only after due consideration of all of the 

information reasonably required upon which to base a decision. If you feel 

there is insufficient time to digest new information or that there is simply 

insufficient information before you request that further information. If 

necessary, defer or refuse.  

(e) Don’t vote or take part in the meeting‟s discussion on a proposal unless 

you have been present to hear the entire debate, including the Officers‟ 

introduction to the matter.  

(f) Do have recorded, the reasons for the Committee‟s decision to defer any 

proposal [and that this is in accordance with the Combined Authority‟s 

protocol on deferrals].  

(g) Do make sure that if you are proposing, seconding or supporting a 

decision contrary to Officer recommendations or the development plan 

that you clearly identify and understand the planning reasons leading to 

this conclusion/decision.  These reasons must be given prior to the vote 

and be recorded.  Be aware that you may have to justify the resulting 

decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge.  

Page 229



13 Training  

(a) Don’t participate in decision making at meetings dealing with planning 

matters if you have not attended the mandatory planning training 

prescribed by the Combined Authority.  

(b) Do endeavour to attend any other specialised training sessions provided, 

since these will be designed to extend your knowledge of planning law, 

regulations, procedures, Codes of Practice and the Development Plans 

beyond the minimum referred to above and thus assist you in carrying out 

your role properly and effectively.  

(c) Do participate in the annual review of a sample of planning decisions to 

ensure that Members` judgements have been based on proper planning 

considerations.  

 

Page 230



PART 6 - SECTION D 

 

PROTOCOL ON MEMBER AND OFFICER RELATIONS  

CONTENTS 
 
 

No. Section 
1. Introduction 

2. Roles of Members 

3. Roles of Officers 

4. Respect and Courtesy 

5. Undue Pressure 

6. Familiarity 

7. Breach of Protocol 

8. Provision of Advice and Information to Members 

9. Confidentiality 

10. Provision of Support Services to Members 

11. Correspondence 

12. Media 

13. The Combined Authority’s Role as Employer  

14. Political Activity 

15. Sanctions 

16. Conclusion 

 

  

Page 231

Item 6d



1 Introduction 

1.1  The purpose of this Protocol is to guide Members and Officers of the Combined 

Authority in their relations with one another.  

1.2  Both Members and Officers are servants of the public and they depend on each 

other in carrying out the work of the Combined Authority, but their 

responsibilities are distinct. Members are responsible to the electorate and 

serve only so long as their term of office lasts. Officers are responsible to the 

Combined Authority and their job is to give advice to the Combined Authority, 

as well as to individual Members, and to carry out the Combined Authority’s 

work under the direction and control of the Combined Authority and its various 

bodies.  

1.3  Mutual respect between Members and Officers is essential to good Local 

Governance. Close personal familiarity between individual Members and 

Officers can damage this relationship and prove embarrassing to other 

Members and Officers.  

1.4  The relationship has to function without compromising the ultimate 

responsibilities of Officers to the Combined Authority as a whole, and with due 

regard to such technical, financial, professional and legal advice that Officers 

can legitimately provide to Members. The Protocol seeks to set a framework 

that assists the working relationships between Members and Officers.  

2 Roles of Members 

2.1 Members undertake many different roles. Broadly these are:-  

(a) Members express political values and support the policies of the Party or 

Group to which they belong (if any).  

(b) Members represent their Constituent Council, electoral ward and are 

advocates for the citizens who live in the area.  

(c) Members are involved in active partnerships with other organisations as 

community leaders.  

(d) Members contribute to the decisions taken by the Combined Authority and 

in its various bodies on which they serve, as well as joint committees, 

outside bodies and partnership organisations.  

(e) Members help develop and review policy and strategy.  

(f) Members monitor and review policy implementation and service quality.  

(g) Members are involved in quasi-judicial work through their membership of 

committees.  

Page 232



3  Roles of Officers 

3.1 Briefly, Officers have the following main roles:  

(a)  Managing and providing the services for which the Combined Authority 

has given them responsibility and being accountable for the efficiency and 

effectiveness of those services.  

(b) Providing advice to the Combined Authority and its various bodies and to 

individual Members in respect of the services provided.  

(c) Initiating policy proposals.  

(d) Implementing agreed policy.  

(e) Ensuring that the Combined Authority always acts in a lawful manner.  

4  Respect and Courtesy 

4.1  For the effective conduct of the Combined Authority’s business there must be 

mutual respect, trust and courtesy in all meetings and contacts, both formal and 

informal, between Members and Officers. This plays a very important part in the 

Combined Authority's reputation and how it is seen in public. It is very important 

that both Members and Officers remember their respective obligations to 

enhance the Combined Authority's reputation and to do what they can to avoid 

criticism of other Members, or other Officers, in public places.  

5  Undue Pressure  

5.1  It is important in any dealings between Members and Officers that neither 

should seek to take unfair advantage of their position.  

5.2 In their dealings with Officers (especially junior Officers) Members need to be 

aware that it is easy for them to be overawed and feel at a disadvantage. Such 

feelings can be intensified where Members hold senior official and/or political 

office.  

5.3  A Member should not apply undue pressure on an Officer either to do anything 

that he or she is not empowered to do or to undertake work outside normal 

duties or outside normal hours. Particular care needs to be taken in connection 

with the use of the Combined Authority property and services.  

5.4  Similarly, an Officer must neither seek to use undue influence on an individual 

Member to make a decision in his or her favour, nor raise personal matters to 

do with their job, nor make claims or allegations about other Officers.  

6 Familiarity  

6.1  Close personal familiarity between individual Members and Officers can 

damage the principle of mutual respect. It could also, intentionally or 

Page 233



accidentally, lead to the passing of confidential information or information which 

should not properly be passed between them, such as personal details.  

6.2  Such familiarity could also cause embarrassment to other Members and/or 

other Officers and even give rise to suspicions of favouritism.  

6.3 For these reasons close personal familiarity must be avoided.  

7 Breach of Protocol  

7.1  If a Member considers that he or she has not been treated with proper respect 

or courtesy they may raise the issue with the Officer’s senior manager. If direct 

discussion with the manager does not resolve the complaint it should be 

referred to the Head of Paid Service or Director, or Monitoring Officer 

responsible for the employee concerned. Breach of the Protocol may give rise 

to disciplinary proceedings against an Officer if the circumstances warrant it.  

7.2  If an Officer considers that a Member has contravened the protocol he should 

consult his line manager who will, if necessary involve the Head of Paid 

Service, Director or Monitoring Officer. In certain circumstances breach of the 

Protocol may also constitute a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. If the 

breach is sufficiently serious this may warrant a formal reference to the 

Monitoring Officer as a complaint to be considered for a potential hearing by the  

Audit and Governance Committee. Many complaints will be capable of informal 

resolution. The Monitoring Officer or the Head of Paid Service will assist in this 

process if necessary.  

8 Provision of Advice and Information to Members  

8.1  Members are free to approach Officers of the Combined Authority to provide 

them with such information and advice as they may reasonably need in order to 

assist them in discharging their role as a Member of the Combined Authority. 

This can range from a request for general information about some aspect of the 

Combined Authority's activities to a request for specific information on behalf of 

a constituent.  

8.2  Officers should always endeavour to respond to requests for information 

promptly and should in any event inform the Member if there is likely to be any 

appreciable delay in dealing with an enquiry. As a minimum the timescale for 

responding to correspondence should be observed i.e. either a full response or, 

if this is not possible, an acknowledgement that fully explains what is happening 

within 5 working days of the receipt of the enquiry.  

8.3  The legal rights of Members to inspect Combined Authority documents are 

covered partly by statute and partly by common law.  

8.4  The Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution explain the 

position with regard to access to papers relating to the business of a Combined 

Authority body.  

Page 234



8.5  The exercise of the common law right depends upon a Member's ability to 

demonstrate a "need to know". In this respect a Member has no right to "a 

roving commission" to examine any documents of the Combined Authority. 

Mere curiosity is not sufficient.  

8.6  The information sought by a Member should only be provided by the respective 

Service, as long as it is within the limits of the Service’s resources. For their 

part, Members should seek to act reasonably in the number and content of the 

requests they make.  

8.7  It is important for Services and their staff to keep Members informed both about 

the major issues concerning the Combined Authority and, more specifically, 

about issues and events affecting the area that they represent.  

8.8  If a Member asks for specific information relating to the work of a particular 

Service, and it appears possible or likely that at a subsequent meeting, an 

issue could be raised or question asked on the basis of the information 

provided, then the Head of Paid Service, Director or the Monitoring Officer as 

appropriate or Committee Chair concerned should be advised about the 

information provided.  

8.9  Officers have to advise Members from time to time that a certain course of 

action cannot be carried out. Members sometimes assume that this is a case of 

Officers deliberately obstructing the wishes of politicians. In fact, this is hardly 

ever the case. Officers are employed to give unbiased professional advice even 

if it is not what Members want to hear. They do this as much for the protection 

of Members as for any other reason. However, the mark of an effective Officer 

is that if they do have to give negative advice, this will be accompanied by 

suggestions as to how Members might achieve some or all of their objectives in 

other ways. Such Officers are invaluable to any Combined Authority.  

8.10 Members may be entitled under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 2000 to 

receive information which falls outside their common law rights based on the 

“need to know”. Officers are encouraged to supply documents to Members 

without the need for a formal FOI request if it is apparent from the Member’s 

enquiry that any individual would be entitled to receive such documentation. 

The Combined Authority will be able to advise in consultation, if necessary with 

the Monitoring Officer on whether any request would fall within the Freedom of 

Information Act.  

9 Confidentiality 

9.1  In accordance with the Code of Conduct for Members, a Member must not 

disclose information given to him/her in confidence by anyone, or information 

acquired which he/she believes, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, except where:-  

(a) he/she has the consent of a person authorised to give it;  

(b) he/she is required by law to do so;  

Page 235



(c) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the 

information to any other person; or  

(d) the disclosure is:-  

(i) reasonable and in the public interest; and  

(ii) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the Combined Authority.  

9.2 Confidential Committee papers are to be treated as confidential information 

unless the relevant Committee resolves not to exclude the press and public. 

Members are reminded that the author of the report makes the initial decision 

as to whether or not the papers are to be treated as confidential. The decision 

as to whether they remain confidential is for the Committee. Other information 

may be confidential, because to disclose it, would be against the Combined 

Authority's or the public interest. Information may also be confidential because 

of the circumstances in which it was obtained.  

9.3 Information and correspondence about an individual's private or business 

affairs will normally be confidential.  

9.4 Officers should make it clear to Members if they are giving them confidential 

information. If a Member is not sure whether the information is confidential, he 

or she should ask the relevant Officer, but treat the information as confidential 

in the meantime.  

9.5 Any Combined Authority information provided to a Member must only be used 

by the Member in connection with the proper performance of the Member's 

duties as a Member of the Combined Authority.  

9.6 If a Member receives confidential information and considers it should be 

disclosed to another person because it is reasonable and in the public interest 

to do so, then he or she must first consult with the Monitoring Officer and shall 

not disclose the information without having regard to any advice given by that 

Officer.  

10 Provision of Support Services to Members 

10.1  The only basis on which the Combined Authority can lawfully provide support 

services (e.g. stationery, word processing, printing, photocopying, transport, 

etc.) to Members is to assist them in discharging their role as Members of the 

Combined Authority. Such support services must therefore only be used on 

Combined Authority business. They should never be used in connection with 

party political or campaigning activity or for private purposes. 

  

Page 236



11 Correspondence  

11.1 Official letters on behalf of the Combined Authority should be sent in the name 

of the appropriate Employee, rather than in the name of a Member. There are 

circumstances where a letter sent in the name of a Member is perfectly 

appropriate, for example, in response to a letter of enquiry or complaint sent 

direct to that Member. Letters which, for example, create obligations or give 

instructions on behalf of the Combined Authority should never be sent out in the 

name of a Member.  

12 Media  

12.1 Communication with the media can be an important part of a Member’s 

workload. In general, Members provide comment and views while Officers 

provide factual information. If a Member is unsure about the circumstances of a 

particular issue he/she should contact the Head of Paid Service, Director or 

Monitoring Officer as appropriate, or ask the Press Office to do so.  

13 The Combined Authority’s Role as Employer 

13.1 In their dealings with Officers, Members should recognise and have regard to 

the Combined Authority’s role as employer. Members should be aware that 

Officers could rely on inappropriate behaviour of a Member in an employment 

case against the Combined Authority.  

14 Political Activity 

14.1  There are a number of constraints that apply to an employee who occupies a 

post that is designated as “politically restricted” under the terms of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989. In summary, such Officers are prevented 

from:-  

 

(i) being a Member of Parliament, or local authority;  

(ii) acting as an election agent or sub-agent for a candidate for election as a 

member of any of the bodies referred to above;  

(iii) being an Officer of a political party or any branch of a political party or a  

(iv) Member of any committee or Sub-Committee of such a party or branch, if 

their duties would be likely to require them to:-  

i. participate in the general management of the party or branch; or  

ii. act on behalf of the party or branch in dealings with persons other 

than Members of the party;  

(v) canvassing on behalf of a political party or a candidate for election to any 
of the bodies referred to above;  

(vi) speaking to the public with the apparent intent of affecting public support 
for a political party; and  

(vii) publishing any written or artistic work of which he/she is the author (or one 
of the authors) or acting in an editorial capacity in relation to such works, 
or to cause, authorise or permit any other person to publish such work or 

Page 237



collection, if the work appears to be intended to affect public support for a 
political party.  

 

14.2 It is common for Party Groups to give preliminary consideration to matters of 

Combined Authority business in advance of such matters being considered by 

the relevant decision making body. Officers may properly be called upon to 

support and contribute to such deliberations by Party Groups provided they 

maintain a stance which is politically impartial. Support may include a range of 

activities including briefings for Members relating to their roles e.g. 

chairperson or spokesperson. Officers should be required to give information 

and advice to Political Groups on Combined Authority business only and not 

on matters which are purely of a party political nature. Such advice should be 

available to all Party Groups and not solely to the Majority Group. It is 

important that the political neutrality of Officers is preserved and that Group 

confidentiality is maintained by Officers.  

14.3 Usually the only Officers involved in attending Group meetings will be the 

Head of paid Service, Directors or Monitoring Officer and they will generally 

leave the meeting after making their presentation and answering questions.  

14.4 Officers are employed by the Combined Authority as a whole. They serve the 

Combined Authority and are responsible to the Head of Paid Service and 

senior managers, and not to individual Members of the Combined Authority 

whatever office they might hold.  

14.5 Both Members and Officers are subject to their own Codes of Conduct which 

can be found in the Constitution. This Protocol provides guidance on the 

working relationships between Members and Officers. It is essential that both 

are familiar with the detailed obligations in their respective Codes of Conduct 

which will prevail in the event of any conflict between the Codes and this 

Protocol.  

15 Sanctions  

15.1 Complaints about any breach of this Protocol by a Member may be referred to 

the Monitoring Officer.  It should be noted that certain breaches may also 

amount to breaches of the Code of Conduct for Members.  

15.2 Complaints about any breach of this protocol by an Officer may be referred to 

the relevant senior manager or where appropriate the Head of Paid Service.  

16 Conclusion 

16.1 It is hoped that, by following good practice and securing sensible and practical 

working relationships between Members and Officers, we can provide one of 

the cornerstones of a successful local authority and thereby enhance the 

delivery of high value quality services to the people of the area. Mutual 

understanding, openness and respect are the greatest safeguard of the 

integrity of the Combined Authority, its Members and Officers.  

Page 238



PART 6 - SECTION E 

 

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

 

  

CONTENTS 
 
 
 

No. Section 

1. Purpose 

2 Definition 

3 The Principles of Good Governance 

4 Applying the Principles of Good Governance 

5 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Statement 

 

  

Page 239

Item 6e



1.     Purpose 
 
1.1   It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority and Merseytravel 

(hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) to establish, and maintain 
under regular review, governance arrangements which are robust, 
appropriate and effective. 

 
1.2   The purpose of this Code of Corporate Governance (hereafter referred to 

as the “Code”) is to demonstrate how the organisations demonstrate 
good governance. 

 
1.3   The adoption of a Code is a key requirement of the relevant Statement of 

Recommended Practice: Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government, (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016) (hereafter referred to as “the 
guidance”) and this Code reflects how the principles embodied within 
this guidance have been adopted by the organisations.  

 
1.4   The adoption of, and compliance with, the Code is also one of the key 

areas for comment in the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), which 
the organisations are each required to produce and publish under the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (regulation 6(1)(a)).  The Annual 
Governance Statement is produced by the Executive Director of 
Corporate Services and is based upon a number of sources of 
assurance including a review of effectiveness, the work of Internal Audit 
and other providers of assurance, and through provision of assurance 
from management, all of which provide a commentary on how robust 
and consistently applied the governance framework is in practice. 

 
1.5   All staff have a key role to play in demonstrating good governance, and 

so should be aware of this Code and should seek to demonstrate the 
principles embodied within it in their work, in conjunction with the 
Corporate Behaviours: LCR First, Action Focus and Respect.   

 
2.     Definition  
 
2.1   The guidance defines corporate governance as that which “comprises 

the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved” (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016). 

 
2.2   In order to demonstrate good corporate governance, the organisations 

should carry out their functions in a way that demonstrates 
accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity, and inclusivity. This 
means doing the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a 
timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner.   

 
2.3    This links directly to the Principles of Public Life, known as the Nolan 

Principles, which all public servants are expected to demonstrate in their 
work.  The Committee on Standards in Public Life defines the principles 
as detailed in the table below: 

Page 240



3.     The principles of Good Governance  
 
3.1  The guidance sets out seven Core Principles that detail the key 

requirements for the governance of the organisation. These are 
illustrated in the diagram below: 
 

Achieving the Intended Outcomes While Acting in the Public 
Interest at all Times 

 
Source: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016)  

 
3.2 Under each of the Core Principles detailed in the diagram, the guidance 

sets out a number of supporting principles which detail how the 
organisation should demonstrate good governance.  

 

Page 241



4 APPLYING THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD GOVERNANCE  

  

4.1In order to achieve good governance, the Combined Authority will seek to apply each of the seven Core Principles, along 

with their Sub-Principles, in the following way: 

 

Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

A. Behaving 

with integrity, 

demonstrating 

strong 

commitment to 

ethical values 

and respecting 

the rule of the 

law 

Behaving with 
integrity  

 Ensuring Members and Officers 

behave with integrity and lead a culture 

where acting in the public interest is 

visibly and consistently demonstrated 

thereby protecting the reputation of the 

organisation  

 Ensuring Members take the lead in 

establishing specific standard 

operating principles or values for the 

organisation and its staff and that they 

are communicated and understood.  

These should build on the Seven 

Principles of Public Life (the Nolan 

Principles) 

 Leading by example and using the 

behaviours and values as a framework 

for decision making and other actions  

 Demonstrating, communicating and 

embedding the behaviours or values 

through appropriate policies and 

processes which are reviewed on a 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 

Behaviours. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Employee Ethics Policy. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy; and 

associated Policy Framework: 

Anti Bribery Policy; 

Anti Money Laundering Policy; 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 

Policy; 

Investigation Protocol; 

Surveillance Policy. 

 Declarations of Interest process by 

employees and Members.  

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy. 

 IT Security Policy. 

 Public access to relevant meetings 

(including online public viewing – 

P
age 242



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

regular basis to ensure that they are 

operating effectively   

 

webcasting, and availability of meeting 

agendas and minutes). 

 Freedom of Information and Environment 

Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Grievance Policy. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 Cultural architects and change catalysts in 

place. 

 I4P system utilised to issue all new and 

revised policies to staff and monitor 

completion. 

 E-learning. 

Demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 

 Seeking to establish, monitor and 

maintain the organisation‟s ethical 

standards and performance 

 Underpinning personal behaviour with 

ethical values and ensuring they 

permeate all aspects of the 

organisation‟s culture and operation 

 Developing and maintaining robust 

policies and procedures which place 

emphasis on agreed ethical values 

 Ensuring that external providers of 

services on behalf of the organisation 

are required to act with integrity and in 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 

Behaviours. 

 Employee Ethics Policy. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Dignity at Work Policy. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 

Social Value Policy). 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

P
age 243



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

compliance with ethical standards 

expected by the organisation 

Respecting the 
rule of law 

 Ensuring Members and staff 

demonstrate a strong commitment to 

the rule of the law as well as adhering 

to relevant laws and regulations 

 Creating the conditions to ensure that 

the statutory Officers, other key post 

holders, and Members, are able to fulfil 

their responsibilities in accordance with 

legislative and regulatory requirements 

 Striving to optimise the use of the full 

powers available for the benefit of 

citizens, communities and other 

stakeholders 

 Dealing with breaches of legal and 

regulatory provisions effectively 

 Ensuring corruption and misuse of 

power are dealt with effectively 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Legal team providing general support to 

Officers; specialist advice, where required; 

and available for input at all Committee 

meetings. 

 Monitoring Officer in place (review of reports 

and associated advice). 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process 

 Declarations of Interest process by 

employees and Members. 

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 Section in Committee reports to consider 

legal implications. 

 Review of reports via Modern.Gov and Legal 

sign off required for all delegated decisions 

and Committee reports. 

 

B. Ensuring 

openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder 

engagement 

Openness  Ensuring an open culture through 

demonstrating, documenting and 

communicating the organisation‟s 

commitment to openness 

 Making decisions that are open about 

actions, plans, resource use, forecasts, 

 Public access to relevant meetings. 

 Standard format for committee reports.  

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 Public consultations. 

 Statement of Accounts. 

 Freedom of Information and Environment 

P
age 244



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

outputs and outcomes. The 

presumption is for openness. If that is 

not the case, a justification for the 

reasoning for keeping a decision 

confidential should be provided 

 Providing clear reasoning and 

evidence for decisions in both public 

records and explanations to 

stakeholders and being explicit about 

the criteria, rationale and 

considerations used. In due course, 

ensuring that the impact and 

consequences of those decisions are 

clear 

 Using formal and informal consultation 

and engagement to determine the most 

appropriate and effective interventions/ 

courses of action 

Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit. 

 Publishing full business cases of projects 

supported by the Strategic Investment Fund 

(SIF) as well as regular updates on other 

decisions taken. 

 Authors of formal reports seek to identify 

options and alternatives, and weigh up 

considerations. 

 Briefings of relevant Lead Members and 

Mayoral advisors in place. 

 Member induction and training. 

 

Engaging 

comprehensively 

with institutional 

stakeholders 

 

 Effectively engaging with institutional 

stakeholders to ensure that the 

purpose, objectives and intended 

outcomes for each stakeholder 

relationship are clear so that outcomes 

are achieved successfully and 

sustainably 

 Developing formal and informal 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Local Enterprise Partnership. 

 The Audit, Risk and Governance Board has 

an independent chair and a further 

Independent Member. Audit and 

Governance Committee has an Independent 

Member. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to 

P
age 245



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

partnerships to allow for resources to 

be used more efficiently and outcomes 

achieved more effectively 

 Ensuring that partnerships are based 

on: 

o trust 

o a shared commitment to change 

o a culture that promotes and accepts 

challenge among partners and that 

the added value of partnership 

working is explicit 

transport delivery. 

 Stakeholder engagement about what the 

LCRCA does and how it benefits the local 

area.  

 Transport Advisory Group in place. 

 Results of Transport Focus surveys inform 

aims of Bus Alliance. 

 Stakeholder consultation regarding the Local 

Industrial Strategy. 

 LCR Listens. 

 

Engaging with 

individual 

citizens and 

service users 

effectively 

 Establishing a clear policy on the type 

of issues that the organisation will 

meaningfully consult with or involve 

communities, individual citizens, 

service users and other stakeholders to 

ensure that service (or other) provision 

is contributing towards the 

achievement of intended outcomes 

 Ensuring that communication methods 

are effective and that Members and 

Officers are clear about their roles with 

regard to community engagement 

 Encouraging, collecting and evaluating 

the views and experiences of 

communities, citizens, service users 

 Corporate Plan. 

 LCR Listens. 

 Public consultations. 

 Health and Safety Policy. 

 Communications Team. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to 

transport delivery.  

 Merseytravel welcomes public participation 

in formal meetings through the facility for 

public petitions and questions. 

 Stakeholder engagement in relation to bus 

P
age 246



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

and organisations of different 

backgrounds including reference to 

future needs 

 Implementing effective feedback 

mechanisms in order to demonstrate 

how views have been taken into 

account 

 Balancing feedback from more active 

stakeholder Groups with other 

stakeholder Groups to ensure 

inclusivity 

 Taking account of the impact of 

decisions on future generations of tax 

payers and service users 

 

services. 

 Stakeholder engagement about what the 

LCRCA does and how it benefits the local 

area. 

 Customer insight informs marketing 

campaigns. 

 Transport Advisory Group in place. 

 Results of Transport Focus surveys inform 

aims of Bus Alliance. 

 Stakeholder consultation regarding the Local 

Industrial Strategy. 

 Community consultation for Spatial 

Development Strategy. 

 Corporate commercial agreements in place 

with Stadler, Merseyrail and Network Rail in 

relation to the Rolling Stock project, working 

positively in a collaborative manner. 

 Bus Alliance in place to encourage common 

shared view and continuous improvement in 

bus services. 

 Relationship/governance arrangements with 

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  

C. Defining 

outcomes in 

terms of 

sustainable 

Defining 

outcomes 
 Having a clear vision, which is an 

agreed formal statement of the 

organisation‟s purpose and intended 

outcomes containing appropriate 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans in place to translate corporate 

objectives into service objectives. 

 Clear set of approved Corporate 

P
age 247



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

economic, 

social and 

environmental 

benefits 

performance indicators, which provide 

the basis for the organisation‟s overall 

strategy, planning and other decisions 

 Specifying the intended impact on, or 

changes for, stakeholders including 

citizens and service users.  It could be 

immediately or over the course of a 

year or longer  

 Delivering defined outcomes on a 

sustainable basis within the resources 

that will be available 

 Identifying and managing risks to the 

achievement of outcomes 

 Managing expectations effectively with 

regard to determining priorities and 

making the best use of the resources 

available 

Behaviours. 

 Risk Management Policy and associated 

Risk Registers. 

 

Sustainable 

economic, social 

and 

environmental 

benefits 

 Considering and balancing the 

combined economic, social and 

environmental impact of policies and 

plans when taking decisions about 

service provision 

 Taking a longer-term view with regard 

to decision making, taking account of 

risk and acting transparently where 

there are potential conflicts between 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Finance monitoring reports. 

 Public consultations. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 

Social Value Policy). 

 Environmental Policy. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 

Framework. 

P
age 248



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

the organisation‟s intended outcomes 

and short-term factors such as the 

political cycle or financial constraints 

 Determining the wider public interest 

associated with balancing conflicting 

interests between achieving the 

various economic, social and 

environmental benefits, through 

consultation where possible, in order to 

ensure appropriate trade-offs 

 Ensuring fair access to services 

 

 LCRCA has approved long-term strategies 

for Rail, Bus, Ferries, short journeys and 

Tunnels. 

 Integration of evidence and policy teams has 

allowed better evidential decisions, and 

integration of decision-making and forward 

planning across policy teams. 

 Development of Local Industrial Strategy. 

 Spatial Development, Housing and Air 

Quality policies under development. 

 Mayor‟s vision and aims communicated 

through regular briefings and 

communications. 

D. Determining 

the 

interventions 

necessary to 

optimise the 

achievement of 

the intended 

outcomes 

Determining 

interventions 
 Ensuring decision makers receive 

objective and rigorous analysis of a 

variety of options indicating how 

intended outcomes would be achieved 

and associated risks. Therefore 

ensuring best value is achieved 

however services are provided 

 Considering feedback from citizens 

and service users when making 

decisions about service improvements 

or where services are no longer 

required in order to prioritise competing 

demands within limited resources 

 Public consultations – including options 

appraisal. 

 Business case evaluations. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 

Framework. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 

P
age 249



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

available including people, skills, land 

and assets and bearing in mind future 

impacts 

Planning 

interventions 
 Establishing and implementing robust 

planning and control cycles that cover 

strategic and operational plans, 

priorities and targets 

 Engaging with internal and external 

stakeholders in determining how 

services and other courses of action 

should be planned and delivered 

 Considering and monitoring risks 

facing each partner when working 

collaboratively, including shared risks 

 Ensuring arrangements are flexible and 

agile so that the mechanisms for 

delivering goods and services can be 

adapted to changing circumstances 

 Establishing appropriate key 

performance indicators (KPIs) as part 

of the planning process in order to 

identify how the performance of 

services and projects is to be 

measured 

 Ensuring capacity exists to generate 

the information required to review 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Business Continuity Policy (and associated 

plans). 

 Public consultations. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 

Framework. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Delegated decisions system in place to 

record rationale and approval of decisions 

within delegated authority. 

• Briefings by Metro Mayor and senior 

leaders. 

 Regular briefings to Members on the 

Rolling Stock project. 

 Operational and Executive Programme 

Boards in place for Rolling Stock project, 

with dashboard reports presented to these. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 

P
age 250



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

service quality regularly 

 Preparing budgets in accordance with 

objectives, strategies and the medium 

term financial plan 

 Informing medium and long term 

resource planning by drawing up 

realistic estimates of revenue and 

capital expenditure aimed at 

developing a sustainable funding 

strategy 

 

Social Value Policy). 

 Continued management of delivery of 

required outputs under Devolution Deal. 

 Service Area Measures defined and 

reported throughout the year with remedial 

actions being put in place where this is 

falling below target. 

 Customer feedback obtained regarding 

transport and used to feed into plans and 

working with providers, e.g. Bus Alliance. 

Optimising 

achievement of 

intended 

outcomes 

 Ensuring the medium term financial 

strategy integrates and balances 

service priorities, affordability and other 

resource constraints 

 Ensuring the budgeting process is all-

inclusive, taking into account the full 

cost of operations over the medium 

and longer term 

 Ensuring the medium term financial 

strategy sets the context for ongoing 

decisions on significant delivery issues 

or responses to changes in the 

external environment that may arise 

during the budgetary period in order for 

outcomes to be achieved while 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Social Value Group (and development of a 

Social Value Policy). 

 

 

P
age 251



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

optimising resource usage 

 Ensuring the achievement of „social 

value‟ through service planning and 

commissioning 

E. Developing 

the entity‟s 

capacity, 

including the 

capability of its 

leadership and 

the individuals 

within it 

Developing the 

entity‟s capacity 
 Reviewing operations, performance 

and use of assets on a regular basis to 

ensure their continuing effectiveness 

 Improving resource use through 

appropriate application of techniques 

such as benchmarking and other 

options in order to determine how 

resources are allocated so that defined 

outcomes are achieved effectively and 

efficiently 

 Recognising the benefits of 

partnerships and collaborative working 

where added value can be achieved 

 Developing and maintaining an 

effective workforce plan to enhance the 

strategic allocation of resources 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

 Appropriate capacity maintained and 

developed so as to meet the needs of the 

organisation. 

Developing the 

capability of the 

entity‟s 

leadership and 

other individuals 

 Developing protocols to ensure that 

elected and appointed leaders 

negotiate with each other regarding 

their respective roles early on in the 

relationship and that a shared 

understanding of roles and objectives 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Team Plans. 

 Individual Performance Plan (IPP) process. 

P
age 252



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

is maintained 

 Publishing a statement that specifies 

the types of decisions that are 

delegated and those reserved for the 

collective decision making of the 

governing body 

 Ensuring the leader and the chief 

executive have clearly defined and 

distinctive leadership roles within a 

structure whereby the chief executive 

leads in implementing strategy and 

managing the delivery of services and 

other outputs set by Members and 

each provides a check and a balance 

for each other‟s authority  

 Developing the capabilities of Members 

and senior management to achieve 

effective leadership and to enable the 

organisation to respond successfully to 

changing legal and policy demands as 

well as economic, political and 

environmental changes and risks by: 

o ensuring Members and staff have 

access to appropriate induction 

tailored to their role and that ongoing 

training and development matching 

 Regular Heads of Service and Directors 

meetings held along with Management 

Conferences. 

 Learning and Development Procedure. 

 Employee Assistance Programme. 

 Attendance at Work Policy. 

 Job descriptions in place.  

 Management/1:1 meetings in place. 

 Corporate induction/staff handbook. 

 Member training and briefings in place. 

 Chief Executive and Metro Mayor briefings 

for staff. 

 Health and Safety Policy. 

 

P
age 253



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

individual and organisational 

requirements is available and 

encouraged 

o ensuring Members and Officers 

have the appropriate skills, 

knowledge, resources and support 

to fulfil their roles and 

responsibilities and ensuring that 

they are able to update their 

knowledge on a continuing basis 

o ensuring personal, organisational 

and system-wide development 

through shared learning, including 

lessons learnt from governance 

weaknesses both internal and 

external 

 Ensuring that there are structures in 

place to encourage public participation 

 Taking steps to consider the 

leadership‟s own effectiveness and 

ensuring leaders are open to 

constructive feedback from peer review 

and inspections 

 Holding staff to account through 

regular performance reviews which 

take account of training or 

P
age 254



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

development needs 

 Ensuring arrangements are in place to 

maintain the health and wellbeing of 

the workforce and support individuals 

in maintaining their own physical and 

mental wellbeing 

F. Managing 

risks and 

performance 

through robust 

internal control 

and strong 

public financial 

management 

Managing risk  Recognising that risk management is 

an integral part of all activities and 

must be considered in all aspects of 

decision making 

 Implementing robust and integrated 

risk management arrangements and 

ensuring that they are working 

effectively 

 Ensuring that responsibilities for 

managing individual risks are clearly 

allocated 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Risk Group. 

 Corporate and Transport Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 Risk management training sessions.  

 Sessions with Directors to identify key risks 

and produce fully updated Corporate Risk 

Registers. 

Managing 

performance 
 Monitoring service delivery effectively 

including planning, specification, 

execution and independent post 

implementation review 

 Making decisions based on relevant, 

clear objective analysis and advice 

pointing out the implications and risks 

inherent in the organisation‟s financial, 

social and environmental position and 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Business Continuity Policy (and associated 

plans). 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Committee reports and Member briefings. 

 Performance Management Framework. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution.  

P
age 255



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

outlook 

 Ensuring an effective scrutiny or 

oversight function is in place which 

provides constructive challenge and 

debate on policies and objectives 

before, during and after decisions are 

made thereby enhancing the 

organisation‟s performance and that of 

any organisation for which it is 

responsible 

 Providing Members and senior 

management with regular reports on 

service delivery plans and on progress 

towards outcome achievement 

 Ensuring there is consistency between 

specification stages (such as budgets) 

and post implementation reporting (e.g. 

financial statements) 

 

Robust internal 

control 
 Aligning the risk management strategy 

and policies on internal control with 

achieving objectives 

 Evaluating and monitoring risk 

management and internal control on a 

regular basis 

 Ensuring effective counter fraud and 

anti-corruption arrangements are in 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Service Plans. 

 Corporate and Transport Risk Registers. 

 Service Risk Registers. 

 Risk Management Policy. 

 Annual Governance Statement and 

supporting review. 

 Internal Audit review of risk management. 

P
age 256



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

place 

 Ensuring additional assurance on the 

overall adequacy and effectiveness of 

the framework of governance, risk 

management and control is provided 

by the internal auditor 

 Ensuring the audit committee  which is 

independent of the executive and 

accountable to the governing body: 

o provides a further source of effective 

assurance regarding arrangements 

for managing risk and maintaining 

an effective control environment 

o that its recommendations are 

listened to and acted upon 

 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan. 

 Head of Internal Audit – Annual Report and 

Opinion. 

 Head of Internal Audit – regular reports to 

Audit and Governance Committee and 

Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy; and 

associated Policy Framework 

 Policies cover how to report a suspected 

fraud. 

 Whistleblowing policy in place and staff have 

accepted via I4P. 

 Fraud Awareness training available as an e-

learning package. 

 Fraud awareness campaigns – such as 

Fraud Awareness Week. 

 Internal Audit proactive counter-fraud work 

carried out and Fraud Risk Register in place. 

 Participation in the National Fraud Initiative 

(NFI). 

Managing data 

 

 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in 

place for the safe collection, storage, 

use and sharing of data, including 

processes to safeguard personal data 

 Ensuring effective arrangements are in 

place and operating effectively when 

 Data Protection Policy. 

 CCTV Code of Practice. 

 Freedom of Information 

 Environment Regulations Policy. 

 Publication Scheme. 

 Records Management Policy and 

P
age 257



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

sharing data with other bodies 

 Reviewing and auditing regularly the 

quality and accuracy of data used in 

decision making and performance 

monitoring 

 

Procedures. 

 Off-site Records Retrieval Guidance. 

 Record Retention Schedule and Guidance. 

 Social Media Policy. 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy. 

 IT Security Policy. 

 PCI Compliance Policy. 

 Data Protection/GDPR training including e-

learning packages being available. 

 Portal for reporting data breaches 

maintained. 

 SIMO and SIRO in place.  Annual self-

assessment undertaken in relation to the 

role of SIRO (utilising the governance 

requirements detailed in Local Public 

Services Data Handling Guidelines 5th 

Edition, April 2018). 

 Corporate Retention Policy in place.  

 Physical controls in place to protect data 

held in paper format.  

 Electronic system access controls in place. 

 Information Asset Registers in place. 

Strong public 

financial 

management 

 Ensuring financial management 

supports both long term achievement 

of outcomes and short-term financial 

and operational performance 

 LCRCA Constitution and Merseytravel 

Constitution. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 Budget monitoring and reporting. 

P
age 258



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

 Ensuring well-developed financial 

management is integrated at all levels 

of planning and control, including 

management of financial risks and 

controls 

 

 Monthly budget monitoring statements 

received by Heads of Service and 

discussions held. 

 Financial information available via Agresso 

access. 

 Financial implications of decisions included 

within Committee reports and Delegated 

Decisions, both of which require Finance 

sign off. 

 Agresso authorisation levels and delegated 

authority in place. 

 Income reconciliation at source within high 

volume transactional areas. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 Budget proposals shared with Transport 

Committee and Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to allow consideration and 

scrutiny prior to formal approval. 

 Finance consideration and sign off required 

for reports to LCRCA and to Merseytravel – 

facilitates robust discussion regarding 

financial implications of decisions. 

 Annual self-assessment undertaken in 

relation to the role of the Chief Financial 

Officer in Local Government (utilising CIPFA 

document „The Role of the Chief Financial 

P
age 259



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

Officer in Local Government‟ 2016).  

G. 

Implementing 

good practices 

in 

transparency, 

reporting and 

audit to deliver 

effective 

accountability 

Implementing 

good practice in 

transparency 

 Writing and communicating reports for 

the public and other stakeholders in a 

fair, balanced and understandable style 

appropriate to the intended audience 

and ensuring that they are easy to 

access and interrogate 

 Striking a balance between providing 

the right amount of information to 

satisfy transparency demands and 

enhance public scrutiny while not being 

too onerous to provide and for users to 

understand 

 Public access to relevant meetings. 

 Standard committee report template. 

 Transparency Code data published. 

 Heads of Service have responsibility for 

ensuring data on website and intranet is up 

to date. 

 

Implementing 

good practices 

in reporting 

 Reporting at least annually on 

performance, value for money and 

stewardship of resources to 

stakeholders in a timely and 

understandable way 

 Ensuring Members and senior 

management own the results reported 

 Ensuring robust arrangements for 

assessing the extent to which the 

principles contained in this Code have 

been applied and publishing the results 

on this assessment, including an action 

plan for improvement and evidence to 

 Review of Committee reports by a range of 

Officers to ensure that issues are expressed 

clearly.  Members then scrutinise the reports 

and ask questions. 

 Consideration of internal audit work at 

LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee, 

and Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 

Governance Board. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Statement of Accounts. 

 Risk Group. 

 

 

P
age 260



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

demonstrate good governance (the 

annual governance statement) 

 Ensuring that this Framework is 

applied to jointly managed or shared 

service organisations as appropriate 

 Ensuring the performance information 

that accompanies the financial 

statements is prepared on a consistent 

and timely basis and the statements 

allow for comparison with other, similar 

organisations 

Assurance and 

effective 

accountability 

 Ensuring that recommendations for 

corrective action made by external 

audit are acted upon 

 Ensuring an effective internal audit 

service with direct access to Members 

is in place, providing assurance with 

regard to governance arrangements 

and that recommendations are acted 

upon 

 Welcoming peer challenge, reviews 

and inspections from regulatory bodies 

and implementing recommendations 

 Gaining assurance on risks associated 

with delivering services through third 

parties and that this is evidenced in the 

 External Audit Reports to LCRCA Audit and 

Governance Committee and Merseytravel 

Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 

 Internal Audit Annual Audit Plan. 

 Head of Internal Audit – Annual Report and 

Opinion. 

 Head of Internal Audit – regular update 

reports to LCRCA Audit and Governance 

Committee and Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 

Governance Board. 

 Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards. 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Corporate Plan. 

 Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance 

P
age 261



Core Principle Sub-Principles  Requirements Supporting Evidence 

annual governance statement 

 Ensuring that when working in 

partnership, arrangements for 

accountability are clear and the need 

or wider public accountability has been 

recognised and met. 

 

Framework. 

 Self-assessment undertaken in relation to 

the role of the Head of Internal Audit in 

Public Sector Organisations (utilising CIPFA 

document „The role of the Head of Internal 

Audit in Public Sector Organisations‟ 2019 

edition).   

 Annual bus survey used to shape service 

going forward. 

 Annual Conversation – positive relationship 

with Government in place and developing. 

 All reports require approvals from head of 

Service/Director, to enable any issues of 

clarity or accuracy to be challenged or 

questioned. 

 
 

P
age 262



5 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy Statement  

   

5.1 Introduction  

  

1.1   Fraud, bribery and corruption are not only damaging to the finances of the 
organisation, but they damage confidence in public services. 

 
1.2   Combined Authority and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the 

Organisations”) are committed to ensuring that the risks of fraud, bribery and 
corruption are managed effectively, and that decisive action is taken where 
these offences are found to have been committed. 

 
1.3   This Policy Statement sets out the organisations‟ approach to managing the risk 

of fraud, bribery and corruption, and how an anti-fraud culture is established 
and promoted.  It complements the suite of policies in place relating to specific 
fraud, bribery and corruption offences, such as the Bribery Policy, Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy and the related Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 
Policy, Surveillance Policy and Investigation Protocol. 

 
1.4   This Policy Statement covers all employees including agency and temporary 

workers, but also covers external individuals such as suppliers, contractors and 
customers in their dealings with the organisations. 

 
2.     Policy Statement 
 
2.1   The organisations are committed to combating fraud, bribery and corruption in 

all its activities.  
 
2.2   The Organisations are determined to identify any fraud, bribery and corruption 

carried out by employees who abuse their positions of trust, contractors who 
abuse their relationship or customers who try to obtain assets or services to 
which they are not entitled. 

 
2.3   The Organisations expect employees to demonstrate the highest standards of 

honesty and integrity at all times. Fraud, bribery and corruption are serious 
offences and employees will face disciplinary action if there is evidence that 
they have been involved in these activities. It is also expected that external 
individuals and organisations, including suppliers, contractors and customers 
will act with honesty and integrity in their dealings with the organisations. 

 
2.4   The Organisations encourage employees to raise any concerns about fraud, 

bribery and corruption. Such concerns should be raised with the employee‟s 
manager. This depends, however, on the seriousness and sensitivity of the 
issues involved and who is suspected of the malpractice and if necessary, there 
are other ways for the employee to raise concerns. These are listed in the 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy, which also contains further 
guidance for potential whistle blowers. 

 
2.5   The organisations will investigate consistently any allegations or suspicions of 

fraud, bribery or corruption relating to the organisation irrespective of whether it 

Page 263



is perpetrated from inside the organisations (employees) or by external parties 
(suppliers, contractors or customers).  

 
2.6   The organisations will refer to the appropriate authorities any person who 

commits fraud, bribery or corruption against them.  In addition, such offences 
will also be considered under the organisations‟ disciplinary policies.  

 
2.7   The organisations fully support the Police and other external agencies in the 

fight against fraud, bribery and corruption within the public sector. 
 
3.     Responsibilities 
 
3.1   Chief Executive and Director General 
 

The Chief Executive and Director General have overall responsibility for fraud 
management arrangements. This involves setting the tone of the organisations 
so that an anti-fraud culture is maintained and ensuring that the system of 
internal controls to manage the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is effective. 

 
3.2  Directors and Heads of Service 

 
Directors and Heads of Service have responsibility for ensuring that there is an 
effective system of internal control in place so as to manage the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption in their services.   

 
3.3     Managers 

 
Managers have a key role in maintaining effective systems of internal control in 
respect of their areas. They also have the responsibility of ensuring that their 
staff understand their role in behaving with honesty and integrity. Managers 
should also be aware that they may be asked to provide advice to staff and to 
receive reports of suspicions of fraud, bribery and corruption. Managers also 
need to be aware of the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption carried out by staff, 
and should understand the actions to take if they have such suspicions or 
receive reports of concerns. 

 
3.4     All Employees  

 
All employees have responsibility for being aware of the risks of fraud, bribery 
and corruption, and acting with integrity and honesty in their work. They have a 
responsibility to report to management any concerns they may have. 

 
3.5   Merseytravel Meeting 
 

This Group has overall oversight of the internal control and governance 
arrangements for Merseytravel, and has responsibility for approving its fraud, 
bribery and corruption policies. 

 
3.6   Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board and the LCRCA Audit and 

Governance Committee  

Page 264



 
Both fora have responsibility for the monitoring and review of the effectiveness 
of internal control and governance arrangements and overseeing the continued 
development of these arrangements.  

 
Both fora will monitor progress in addressing any fraud related issues reported 
to it, including those identified through Internal Audit reports. 

 
The Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility for approving fraud, 
bribery and corruption policies on behalf of the Combined Authority. 

 
3.7   Internal Audit  
 

The Head of Internal Audit has a responsibility, under the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, to review the organisations‟ arrangements for managing the 
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption, and evaluate their effectiveness in 
preventing and detecting fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 
The role of Internal Audit in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption is to: 

 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant Counter-Fraud policies for the 
organisations 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud issues amongst 
Officers and Members, including through the provision of counter-fraud 
training. 

 Facilitate the identification of fraud risks and the subsequent management of 
these through service delivery areas 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, including the 
review of fraud controls in each audit review (where relevant) 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisations 
or emanating from within the organisations, where this is deemed 
appropriate, including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and 
recommendations to senior management. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer (MLRO), which entails acting as the main contact for receiving reports of 
suspected money laundering, and carrying out the associated reporting. 

 
3.8   External Audit 
 

The external auditor has a responsibility, as part of their statutory duties, to 
ensure that the organisations have adequate arrangements in place for the 
prevention and detection of fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 
4.     Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
4.1   CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption in Local Government in 2015. The Code is not mandatory but it 
represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code 

Page 265



enables the organisations to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of 
public funds. 

 
4.2   The principles are:- 
 

         Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

         Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

         Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

         Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

         Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
4.3   The Head of Internal Audit undertakes a periodic self-assessment against the 

requirements of the Code of Practice. The outcomes of these assessments are 
presented to the Audit, Risk and Governance Board and Audit and Governance 
Committee, and any actions arising will be monitored through these fora. This 
process ensures that the implementation of this Policy is subject to regular 
monitoring, that the success of the Policy can be measured and that actions are 
clearly defined, with target dates of implementation and clear intended 
outcomes. 

 
4.4   In demonstrating how the organisations meet the requirements of the Code of 

Practice, the key elements of the internal control framework are set out in the 
paragraphs that follow. 

 
5.          Corporate Policy Framework 
                                                     
5.1   There is a comprehensive corporate policy framework in place, which details 

the requirements, considerations and key internal controls to prevent and 
detect fraud, bribery and corruption. The key policies are: 

 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy and procedure; 

 Anti-Bribery Policy; 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy; 

 Surveillance Policy; 

 Investigations Protocol; 

 Information Management Policy Framework; 

 Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 

 Guidelines on Cash Handling; 

 Guidance on Travel and Expenses; 

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy for Employees; 

 Code of Conduct for Employees; 

 Employee Ethics Policy; and 

 Risk Management Policy. 
 
6.       Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Prevention 

 
6.1   One of the key elements of managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is 

ensuring that there are preventative measures in place that make the offences 
more difficult to undertake.  Prevention seeks to establish physical, logical and 

Page 266



procedural barriers to discourage fraud, bribery and corruption, by 
implementing cost-effective countermeasures to prevent or reduce the 
identified fraud risk: 

 

 Management at all levels within the organisations have a responsibility for the 
prevention of fraud and corruption. This is achieved by ensuring the operation 
of effective internal control systems. In addition, management is responsible 
for ensuring that their staff are aware of relevant policies and procedural 
documents, and that the requirements within these are being followed.  

 

 Officers must follow the requirements set out in the organisations‟ policies and 
any local procedures implemented by management.  This includes the 
requirements contained within the Conditions of Employment issued upon 
appointment to their role.  

 

 Internal Audit plays an important preventative role in reviewing the controls in 
place within systems to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption and making 
recommendations to management where improvements in the design of, or 
compliance with, internal controls are required. Internal Audit develops and 
delivers an annual risk-based Internal Audit Plan that gives consideration to 
fraud and corruption risk, and makes provision for the investigation of 
allegations into irregularity. The Internal Audit Plan is informed by the 
organisations‟ risk registers, which include fraud risks. 

 

 The system of internal control is the set of measures, financial and otherwise 
established in order to provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient 
operations, reliability of internal financial control and reporting, and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The effectiveness of the 
system of internal control in preventing and detecting fraud, bribery and 
corruption is reported upon in the Annual Governance Statement. This 
Statement is supported by the Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Opinion, 
expressed in the Annual Report. 

 

 All the organisations‟ systems and processes should be fully documented, 
kept up to date, and made available to the staff operating those systems.  A 
lack of systems documentation reduces control and creates the opportunity 
for unacceptable practices to occur without check, inevitably weakening the 
system‟s operation. It should be clear to all involved what the processes are to 
achieve the system‟s objectives. Documenting the system ensures that 
everybody involved is aware of the authorised process for undertaking the 
various stages of the system‟s operation. This awareness, together with the 
management authorisation of a documented system, establishes a culture of 
formality that assists the prevention of the introduction of informal changes. 
Documenting a system provides clarity of purpose and intent, both for the 
operator of a system and any interested third party. 

 

 It is a prerequisite to sound control that duties involved in financial 
transactions are as separated as possible. Financial Regulations specifically 
state that the principle of "separation of duties" should be observed in the 
calculating, checking and recording of sums payable and receivable from the 

Page 267



duties of collection and disbursing of such sums; and in other obvious areas 
of susceptibility. The separation of duties principle is an important 
preventative control over fraudulent and corrupt practices. 

 

 Authorisation controls are there to ensure that approval has been granted to 
allow a particular course of action.  

 

 The Executive Director of Corporate Services has a duty to ensure the proper 
administration of the organisations‟ financial affairs. Accordingly, Financial 
Regulations have been developed and outline the systems, procedures and 
responsibilities of employees in relation to financial activity. These are 
available to all employees, contractors or agents via the organisations‟ 
intranet and website. 

 

 The Director of Corporate Services may, from time to time, supplement the 
Financial Regulations by other documents, such as Financial Instructions 
relating to detailed procedures. These are considered as part of the Financial 
Regulations and have the same status and authority.  

 

 Recruitment and selection of employees is a key preventative measure in the 
fight against fraud and corruption and it is important to take effective steps at 
the recruitment stage to establish, as far as possible, the previous record of 
potential employees, in terms of propriety and integrity.  The recruitment of 
employees is therefore required to be in accordance with the organisations‟ 
Recruitment and Selection Policy. In particular, written references are sought 
directly from referees regarding known honesty and integrity of potential 
employees before employment offers are made. 

 

 All employees should be aware of the Gifts and Hospitality Policy and 
associated guidance.  

 

 Employees must ensure that they avoid situations where there is a potential 
for a conflict of interest. Effective role separation ensures that decisions made 
are based upon impartial advice, so as to avoid accusations of the improper 
disclosure of confidential information. There is a duty on employees to declare 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests by completing a Declaration of 
Interests form on an annual basis.  

 

 Fraud Awareness training is provided to all employees of the organisations in 
the form of e-learning, but employees should be made aware of all fraud risks 
pertinent to their role as part of on-the-job training. Staff are also required to 
read and acknowledge understanding of corporate policies, including those 
relating to conduct. 

 
7.          Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Deterrence 
 
7.1    There is a range of measures in place to deter employees from engaging in 

fraud, bribery or corruption: 
 

Page 268



 The organisations have a well-established and fully implemented disciplinary 
process. It is important in maintaining an anti-fraud culture within the 
organisations, that all offences are dealt with in a consistent manner and that 
minor unethical practices are not overlooked (such as petty theft or small 
scale expenses fraud) or dealt with in a unduly lenient manner.  

 

 Where there is evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption, the matter will be 
referred to the Police for investigation, who in turn may refer the matter to the 
Crown Prosecution Service to consider prosecution. It is recognised that it 
may not always be in the public interest to refer cases for criminal 
proceedings. 

 

 Where fraud and corruption is proved and a financial loss has been suffered, 
the organisations will seek to recover the full value of any loss from the 
perpetrators.  This may involve civil proceedings being instigated through the 
courts. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisations will publicise successful actions it has 
taken against fraudsters. 

 
8.          Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Detection 
 
8.1      The organisations actively seek to detect any incidents of fraud, bribery and 

corruption, to allow it to respond openly, promptly and responsibly to any 
suspected cases.  All officers, suppliers, contractors and customers have an 
important role to play in the detection and reporting of fraud: 

 

 The organisations encourage anyone who knows or suspects any 
inappropriate behaviour to report it. The Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy provides advice and guidance on how specific matters 
of concern may be raised and aims to give employees the confidence to raise 
concerns internally. The Policy is regularly reviewed to ensure it is compatible 
with current legislation and to assess its effectiveness. Employees are 
expected to act responsibly when using the whistleblowing process.  If it is 
proven that an allegation is made frivolously, maliciously or for personal gain, 
this will be regarded as serious or gross misconduct. 

 

 Heads of Service must act in accordance with the Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy to support any Members of staff who have „blown the 
whistle‟. They must to instigate appropriate disciplinary procedures should the 
result of any investigation identify evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption. 

 

 Budgetary control is important in identifying fraudulent activity at significant 
levels. Heads of Service, Managers, Budget Holders and Business 
Accountants have a responsibility to be aware of the transactions affecting 
budget lines under their control.  They should ensure that all transaction 
correspond to expectations. 
 

 Whilst it is management's responsibility to prevent and detect fraudulent and 
corrupt activity, Internal Audit conducts a programme of audits designed to 

Page 269



test for signs of inappropriate activity. Internal Audit utilises fraud detection 
techniques and data analytics to extend the audit coverage. 

 

 For the purposes of the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption, the 
organisations will work jointly with other agencies and will share intelligence 
data with these agencies as appropriate. These agencies include, but not 
limited to Merseyside Police, HM Revenue and Customs and other Local 
Authorities. 

 
9.          Investigation of Allegations of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
9.1   The aim of any investigation is to establish the facts surrounding the allegation 

that has been made, so as to establish whether there is evidence of fraud, 
bribery or corruption. 

 
9.2   Cases for investigation must be referred to Internal Audit, in accordance with 

the Investigation Protocol. The Head of Internal Audit will liaise with Heads of 
Service to determine the investigative action required and to establish the best 
route for the investigation to take, for example Head of Service, Internal Audit, 
or the Police. 

 
 
 

 

Page 270



PART 6 – SECTION F 
 

CHIEF OFFICERS DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE 
 

CONTENTS 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

No. Section 

1. Introduction 

2. Definitions 

3. Dismissals and Disciplinary Action 

Page 271

Item 6f



1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The process below will outline how the Chief Officers are dismissed 
and the taking of disciplinary action.  

 

2. Definitions 

 
2.1 For the purpose of the procedure and guidance, the definition of 

“Chief Officer” means those who are in Executive Director or 
Statutory Officer positions. These posts can be found in the Senior 
Leadership Staffing Structure Chart contained in Part 3, Annex C of 
the Constitution.  

 

3. Dismissals and Disciplinary Action 

 

3.1 A Chief Officer may not be dismissed by the Combined Authority unless the 
relevant procedures have been complied with.  

 

3.2 A Chief Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation takes place into 
the alleged misconduct. Such suspension will be on full pay and last no 
longer than two months. 

 

3.3 The meaning of disciplinary action in this context is as defined under the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1993. 

 

3.4 Disciplinary action will be dealt with in accordance with best practice, which 
is the JNC Model Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance and as such the 
following will be complied with: 

 

(a) The Audit and Governance Committee will form as the Investigating and 
Disciplinary Committee and will have the authority to oversee the 
disciplinary process. 

 

(b) The Appointments and Disciplinary Committee will form as the Appeals 
Committee and will have the authority to consider appeals against action 
taken short of dismissal.  

 

(c) Two independent persons will be called upon from the Constituent 
Councils and will comprise of the Independent Panel and will have the 
authority to consider any proposal to dismiss.  

 

3.5 Before a Chief Officer can be dismissed, any disciplinary action will be 
conducted in accordance with the statutory disciplinary and dismissal 
procedure contained in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015. This includes the following: 

Page 272



(a) The final decision to dismiss a Chief Officer will be by resolution of the 
Combined Authority.  

 

(b) The Independent Panel will be appointed at least 20 days before the 
Combined Authority meeting, at which consideration as to whether to 
approve a proposal to dismiss is to be given or not.  

 

(c) Before taking a vote on whether to approve such a dismissal, the 
Combined Authority will take into account any advice, views or 
recommendations of the Independent Panel; the conclusions of any 
investigation into the proposed dismissal; and, any representations from 
the Chief Officer who is the subject of the proposed dismissal.  

 

3.6 Members will not be involved in the dismissal or the disciplinary action of 
any Officer below Deputy Chief Officer level, except where such 
involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry into the alleged 
misconduct. 

 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 7 
 

 METRO MAYOR’S ALLOWANCES SCHEME  
 

1 Metro Mayor’s Allowance Scheme 
 
1.1 Liverpool City Region in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local Authorities 

(Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, (“the Regulations”) makes the 
following scheme:- 

 
1.2 This Scheme shall be cited as the City Region Metro Mayor Allowances Scheme and shall 

have effect from 21 April 2017.  
 
1.3 It was agreed by the Combined Authority that the Independent Remuneration Panel 

established by Liverpool City Council in accordance with Regulation 20 of the Local 
Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 be appointed to produce a 
report and recommendations for the allowance of the City Region Metro Mayor. 

 
2 Liverpool City Region Authority Metro Mayor Allowance 
 
2.1 An Allowance is payable to the City Region Metro Mayor and which is designed to cover 

the activities and duties, together with any incidental cost for which no other provision is 
made – in respect of the discharge of the office of City Region Metro Mayor. 

 
3 Payment of Expenses and Allowances 
 
3.1 Subject to paragraph 4 below, no remuneration shall be payable by the Combined 

Authority to its Members other than the reimbursement for allowable travel and 
subsistence paid in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the Combined 
Authority.  Such claims must be made in accordance with the Combined Authority’s 
guidance. 

 
3.2 Any remuneration or reimbursement for travel and subsistence of Co-opted Members to 

the Combined Authority shall only be payable in accordance with the terms agreed by the 
Combined Authority. 

 
3.3 A Constituent Council may, in accordance with its own scheme of allowances, pay a 

special responsibility allowance to any Member appointed by it to the Combined Authority 
in respect of duties and responsibilities undertaken as a Member of the Combined 
Authority. 

 

3.4      The Combined Authority may only pay an allowance to the Metro Mayor if:- 

 

(i)     the Combined Authority has considered a report published by an Independent 
Remuneration Panel established by one or more of the Constituent Councils under 
regulation 20 of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 
2003 which contains recommendations for such an allowance; and  

 
(ii)    the allowance paid by the Combined Authority does not exceed the amount specified 

in the recommendation made by the Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
 

Page 275

Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Part 1 - Introduction
	01Part 1 - Liverpool Combined Authority + Constituent Authorities
	01Part 1 - Members and Committee Make up

	2 Part 2 - Powers and Functions of the Authority:
	3 Part 3 - Bodies of the Combined Authority and Responsibility for Functions:
	3a The Combined Authority:
	3b Stakeholder Sub-Committee:
	3c The Metro Mayor:
	3d Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
	3e Audit and Governance Committee:
	3f Appointments and Disciplinary Committee:
	3g Transport Committee:
	3h Standing Delegations to Officers:
	3i Strategic Investment Fund (SIF):
	3j Partners and Companies:
	3k Annex A - Summary Voting Guide:
	3l Annex B - Metro Mayor Decision Making Pro Forma:
	3m Annex C - Staffing Structure:
	4 Standing Orders and Procedures:
	4a Meeting Standing Orders:
	Motions Flow Chart

	4b Access to Information Procedure Rules:
	4c Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements:
	5 Financial Standing Orders:
	5a Funding and Budget Procedure Rules:
	5b Financial Procedure Rules:
	5c Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules:
	5d Land Procedure Rules:
	6 Codes and Protocols:
	6a Members' Code of Conduct:
	6b Officers' Code of Conduct:
	6c Members' Code on Planning Matters:
	6d Protocol on Members and Officer Relations:
	6e Code of Corporate Governance:
	6f Chief Officer Disciplinary Procedure and Guidance:
	7 Metro Mayor's Allowance Scheme:

